%Fﬁﬂﬂ[ﬂEH':ﬂz

XINMING CHI

XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED

F 3
27 BAch B AR S PR A 3 2022

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability) ANNUAL REPORT
(REEREIMALNER AT
Stock code B3R 5% 1 2699

I LERC T 'iml:n T
| - =
' || L
I “LM i - -~

(] L]
e T TN




CONTENTS
B &%

Corporate Information

NEIAER

Chairman’s Statement

FRERESE

Management Discussion and Analysis
BEEEmEDT

Profiles of Directors and Senior Management
EEREMERE[RN

Directors’ Report

EEEWEE

Corporate Governance Report

ﬂ—t% B /l:l %&

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
B e REBRE

8 PRy

32

40

57

i -RF
iﬂﬁ,
|

Independent Auditors’ Report

B BRI E

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

ek EMEERER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
FaBRRE

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
meEmEEE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

:ﬂ' (=] iﬁ.é/}lbii“%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FAEMBHRME

Five-Year Financial Summary
TFHBHRE

127

130

131

133

134

136

235




CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEEHR

DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Feng Cizhao
Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Gao Qiaogin

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong (resigned on 24 February 2025)
Mr. Zhou Zhencun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred (resigned on 10 December 2024)
Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred (resigned on 10 December 2024)
Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman)

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong (resigned on 24 February 2025)
Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman)

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Kam Chun Ying Francis
Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong (resigned on 24 February 2025)
Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on 5 March 2025)

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Kam Chun Ying Francis

REGISTERED OFFICE
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

2 XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

BE
HITEE
BREST I (EEFRITHARH)
LR E
Héﬂf‘ﬁf_{(EAf Z-MFENANBEERT)
BEERAEE(R_ZE-_NFENANLBEZT)

FHITESE

BHELL

EEREERE(R-_ZE-_RAFE A= +WMBEET)
ARTF ST

BMFHTES

AT S A

fiUNESias

BIERAEE(M-_FT-_MF+ - +HED)
FERXT(M-T-_MOFN\ANAEZE)
BEEXT(R-FT-_MFNANAEZD)

BEREREE

SFBUBR S A (/)

BB A
BlEREER - -MF+— A+ BEHE)
FEBLT (R -2 NE\ANBEE)
EESLT(R-ZT-MF\ANAEEH)

FMWEES

BB (/)

BB A
SEFELCER-E-RF-A-HOARE)
FERL+(R-T-MF\ANBEE)
HESEXT(R-T-ME\ANAEE)

REEEE

AT

S

HREEE
FERLT(R-T-MF\ANBEET)
EEELT(R-Z-NF\ANBBEE)

RERE

HiRsL A

g¢ﬁﬁ$wuq_£¢ B =+ BEHE)
EREE(R-E-RF=ARBRET)

DEWE
HiRRE L

AR ER

windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands



HEADQUARTERS IN THE PRC

Block I, 5th Floor

Hengli Building

No. 5 Huang Long Road, Hangzhou
Zhejiang Province, the PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

unit D, 7/F, Kee Shing Centre

74-76 Kimberley Road

Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon

Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE ADDRESS
http://www.xinm.com.cn

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited

Windward 3, Regatta Office Park

PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR
Tricor Investor Services Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, Tengzhou Branch
Agricultural Bank of China, Branch of Datong Road, Tengzhou
China Construction Bank, Branch of Datong Road, Tengzhou
Agricultural Bank of China, Taizhou Jiazhi Branch

Taizhou Bank, Hongjia Branch

AUDITOR

Global Link CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

LEGAL ADVISER TO THE COMPANY
JINGTIAN & GONGCHENG LLP

LISTING INFORMATION

The Company’s ordinary shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

(Stock Code: 02699)

CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEER

AR B 48
BT TA
AN T E BE B 55R
BEIKXE

S|

BRIEERMH

55

NEEL L H
ERE74-76%5
HEPLIEDE

NGBl

http://www.xinm.com.cn
RABFEREE

Ocorian Trust (Cayman) Limited
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park
PO Box 1350

Grand Cayman KY1-1108
Cayman Islands

ERARGOBEERE
BEEHELERAT
aBE

ERE165
ERESRAL7E

FEERET

o B TR SRR 3215

AR RITRM AR 1T
o B R SR TR T A P16 2 T2
B R ART A M BRI AT
BMBITHRZAT

B EREm
BHEHAARAF
HEDHAT

ENNSV eSS
BAABEMELHH

LHEH
AARERRREERARSFABRAT

ERE™
(Bt 5% 02699)

FATEZERARAE Z—E-FFR

3

-



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT
ETREESF

To all shareholders,

| hereby announce the annual results of Xinming China Holdings
Company Limited (the “Company” or “Xinming China"), for the year
ended 31 December 2022 (the “Year under Review"), on behalf of
the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director”) of the Company.

Looking back at the year 2022, the real estate industry experienced
the most difficult year, with the real estate market in the doldrums,
real estate enterprises under pressure, and a number of real estate
enterprises defaulting on their debts or negotiating extensions. The
downward pressure on China’s macro-economy, the recurrence
of epidemics in various places, the suspension of many real
estate projects and other unanticipated factors, coupled with the
weakening of medium- and long-term demand for housing, posed
unprecedented challenges to the real estate industry. Although
the central government has adjusted its demand-side and credit
policies, the weak income expectations of residents and the wait-
and-see sentiment have not yet changed, and the impact of the
epidemic will continue for a period of time, so there is pressure on
the real estate market.

During the Year under Review, the Group determined to improve
the going concern issue of the Company with practical actions by
attempting various methods and actively and closely following the
strategic main line of assets revitalization and liabilities reduction.
The Company focused on the residential property development
of Shandong Project, and completed the second and third phases
of presale, with the amount of presale for the year reaching
approximately RMB178.6 million. Meanwhile, the Company will
continue to actively negotiate with various financial institutions to
extend the repayment date or refinance its outstanding borrowings,
and will proactively seek various feasible options in assets
revitalization in the future, including but not limited to change of
property use and sale of property in its overall strategy.
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During the Year under Review, the total revenue of the Company
(together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) amounted to
approximately RMB35.2 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 65.4% from approximately RMB101.8 million for
the corresponding period of last year. The loss attributable to
the shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately
RMB2,250.4 million, representing a significant increase in loss of
approximately RMB1,386.5 million from a loss of approximately
RMB863.9 million for the corresponding period of last year. Due to
the COVID-19 pandemic and prolonged weak investment sentiments
in the commercial property market and suspension on sales of
residential property, which led to a decrease in overall property
sales, together with a loss of the significant changes in fair valuation
of investment properties of approximately RMB1,082.9 million, the
net loss of approximately RMB686.6 million recorded upon the
court-ordered disposal of an investment property in Taizhou and
the net loss of approximately RMB280.8 million recorded upon the
court-ordered sale of completed properties held for sale.

During the Year under Review, loss per share was approximately
RMB1.198 (2021: loss per share amounted to approximately
RMBO0.460). As at 31 December 2022, total assets of the Group
amounted to approximately RMB2,626.8 million (31 December
2021: approximately RMB5,223.7 million); total liabilities
were approximately RMB4,993.7 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB5,201.0 million); total equity deficit was
approximately RMB2,366.9 million (31 December 2021: equity of
approximately RMB22.7 million); and net negative assets per share
were approximately RMB1.26 (31 December 2021: net assets per
share of approximately RMB0.01).

During the Year under Review, the Group recorded property
sales of approximately RMB6.1 million, representing a significant
decrease of approximately RMB35.5 million or approximately 85.3%
as compared to approximately RMB41.6 million in 2021. Total GFA
delivered during the Year under Review was approximately 1,848.4
sg.m, representing a slight increase of approximately 25.4 sg.m. as
compared with 2021. As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s property
portfolio consisted of 7 property development projects located in a
number of cities throughout China. These projects were at various
stages of development, with total GFA amounting to approximately
488,000 sg.m., of which approximately 281,000 sg.m. was
completed, approximately 128,000 sq.m. was under development,
and approximately 79,000 sg.m. was held for future development.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
IFEHES

PROSPECTS AND DEVELOPMENT STRATEGIES

Looking ahead to 2025, with the impact of the epidemic dissipated,
it is expected that China's macro-economy will see an overall
turnaround. Economic activities will then return to normal order,
with various cities relaxing restrictions on purchases and loans,
followed by the introduction of “three-arrow” measures such as
guaranteeing the delivery of properties, credit, debt issuance and
equity financing, which are all favourable to real estate developers.
The property market is expected to gradually stabilise and recover,
and investment sentiment is expected to rebound.

In the National Economic Programme of the 20th National Congress
of the PRC government, the PRC government stated that it is
required to maintain stable and healthy development of the real
estate market, and adhere to the principle of "housing is for living
in and not for speculation”. As China’s demographic structure
gradually increases the rate of urbanisation and the economies of
third and fourth tier cities are expected to grow, the development
of real estate investment is expected to become the focus of the
market.

The Group will actively accelerate its de-stocking of completed
properties while exploring the feasibility of assets revitalisation,
including but not limited to change of property use and sale of
properties in its entirety. Furthermore, the Group will negotiate
with different financial institutions in respect of its outstanding
borrowings, with a view to improving its liability and financial
gearing conditions.

SUMMARY

Xinming China is still facing the most difficult time in the history
of the domestic real estate industry. We will continue to adhere to
our original intention, fulfil our duties with a firm belief, overcome
difficulties, and focus on de-stocking and de-leveraging with
dedicated efforts, thereby creating best value to our shareholders.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to
express the heartfelt and sincere gratitude to our management and
all staff members for their persistent efforts in the previous year
and to all the shareholders for their support and trust.

Xinming China Holdings Limited
Chen Chengshou
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hangzhou, China
11 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INDUSTRY REVIEW AND OPERATION
MANAGEMENT

Looking back at the year 2022, the real estate industry experienced
the most difficult year, with the real estate market in the doldrums,
real estate enterprises under pressure, and a number of real estate
enterprises defaulting on their debts or negotiating extensions. The
downward pressure on China’s macro-economy, the recurrence
of epidemics in various places, the suspension of many real
estate projects and other unanticipated factors, coupled with the
weakening of medium- and long-term demand for housing, posed
unprecedented challenges to the real estate industry. Although
the central government has adjusted its demand-side and credit
policies, the weak income expectations of residents and the
wait-and-see sentiment have not yet changed, and the impact of
the epidemic will continue for a period of time, so there is pressure
on the real estate market.

During the Year under Review, the Group strived to improve the
going concern issue of the Company with practical actions by
attempting various methods and actively and closely following the
strategic main line of assets revitalization and liabilities reduction.
The Company focused on the residential property development
of Shandong Project, and completed the second and third phases
of presale, with the amount of presale for the year reaching
approximately RMB178.6 million. Meanwhile, the Company will
continue to actively negotiate with various financial institutions to
extend the repayment date or refinance its outstanding borrowings,
and will proactively seek various feasible options in assets
revitalization in the future, including but not limited to change of
property use and sale of property in its overall strategy.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year under Review, the Group recorded property
sales of approximately RMB6.1 million, representing a significant
decrease of approximately RMB35.5 million or approximately 85.3%
as compared to approximately RMB41.6 million in 2021. Total GFA
delivered during the Year under Review was approximately 1,848.4
sg.m, representing a slight increase of approximately 25.4 sg.m. as
compared with 2021, which was mainly due to the continued impact
of the epidemic, leading to suspension of investment promotion
strategies. Property sales remained the major business segment of
the Group, but the amount of sales declined during the Year under
Review as affected by weak investment sentiments and suspension
on merchandising due to the COVID-19 pandemic, representing
approximately 17.2% of the Group's total revenue. At the same time,
various real estate enterprises were eager to cash in through price
reduction and sales promotion which intensified the competition.
In this regard, the Group has actively made business adjustments
and explored the use of each project, including but not limited to
changing property use and selling properties in its entirety to speed
up the cash-out. Such measures, however, have not yet contributed
to the Group's revenue for the Year under Review.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Loss attributable to the shareholders of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB2,250.4 million, representing a significant
increase in loss of approximately RMB1,386.5 million from the loss
attributable to the shareholders of approximately RMB863.9 million
in 2021, mainly due to the significant changes in fair valuation of
investment properties of approximately RMB1,082.9 million, the net
loss of approximately RMB686.6 million recorded upon the court-
ordered disposal of an investment property in Taizhou and the net
loss of approximately RMB280.8 million recorded upon the court-
ordered sale of completed properties held for sale. Loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company was approximately RMB1.198
(2021: loss per share amounted to approximately RMB0.460).

During the Year under Review, the Board did not recommend
payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, total assets of the Group amounted
to approximately RMB2,626.8 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB5,223.7 million); total liabilities were
approximately RMB4,993.7 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB5,201.0 million); total equity deficit was
approximately RMB2,366.9 million (31 December 2021: equity of
approximately RMB22.7 million); and net negative assets per share
were approximately RMB1.26 (31 December 2021: net assets per
share of approximately RMB0.01).

Property development

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s property portfolio consisted
of 7 property development projects with an aggregate GFA of
approximately 488,000 sg.m. developed and under various stages of
development in various cities in the PRC.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWED N

The summary of the portfolio of our property development projects TRA-ZT-_—F+-A=+—BH MY

as at 31 December 2022 is set out in the table below: FMBEEBASHE
COMPLETED UNDER DEVELOPMENT FUTURE DEVELOPMENT
BT
Non  Saleable GFA Saleable Estimated ~ Estimated Equity
GFA Saleable  saleable inremaining  GFAunder  Saleable GFA Planned dateof  stageof atiributable
Project Location Existing use Sitearea  completed GFA GFA Nggg development GFA presold GFA completion ~ completion ~to the Group

BEAT  THE  FUEE  ERN METEE UHERE CREEE  fEEE Bit Bt A5E
it ik iR L] it ik B

B it BER% HEER THERR ® BIRE RIER  FbER
5. sym. sgm. s, 5. sym. sgm. s, s, %
Thk ik ik Thn Thn Thk ik ik Thn %
Completed
28I
Talzhou Yinming
Perinsular
AMERTE
Phase 1 Xinming Peninsula, West Road, Baiyunshan, Residential, 86,667 189,387 157,005 2% 15 - - - - - - 100%
Jigojang District, Taizhou City commercial
-5 almHIERE LRSS £ &R
Phase 2- Stage 1 Xinming Peninsula, West Road, Baiyunshan, Residental, 06,600 2748 Mis 9775 - - - - - - - 100%
Jiojang District, Taiznou City commercial
B-Eg almHIEREL RS £ &R
Phase2-Stage2  Xinming Peningla, West Road, Baiyunhan, Residential, 52540 152624 12584 2800 9 - - - - - - 100%
Jijang District, Taiznou City commercial
“H-RR almHIERELRRSH S £ &R
Xinming International - No. 8, North Section, Taizhou Boulevard, Commercial 131768 07,908 100,151 107757 6302 - - - - - - 100%

Household Products  Jiaojiang District, No. 27 Building,
Malland Exhibtion o 8, North Section, Taiznou Bolevard,
Center Jiaojiang District, Taizhou City
FRERFELE  AADERIESHAERSE WIBAN &
BERERAL RENBBTE

A

Xinming Lijang Garden - Xinming Lijang Garden, No.8, North Section, Residentia, 63431 210,988 177,466 352 Q - - - - - - 100%
Taizhou Boulevard, Jiaojiang District, commercial
Taizhou City
HEETR AMmHIIE ANAERSR BRI £ &R
Wenshang Times e No. 1990, East Ring Boulevard, Commercial 11,000 67,239 - 67239 - - - - - - - 100%
Red Star Macalline ~ Jiaojiang District, Taizhou City
Houseold Products
Market
;\E@ﬂ%ﬁ@ﬁ%ﬁ% ANTIIEREAE1905 B
A& M
Wenshang Times e No. 1990-1, East Ring Boulevard, Residential 10263 90 35,605 13% - - - - - - - 100%
Xinming Apartment  Jiaojiang District, Taizhou City
BERRHHLE  AAREIIEREABINS iz
Shandong Xingmeng  Xingmeng International Commercial Ciy, Commercia 89,100 88,505 8,39 2106 nn - - - - - - 75%
International Wulitunzhuanpan, Tengzhou Ciy,

Commercial City Shandong Province
LFEEERESS  LR4BNmRSiEEaRanE i

Shanghai Xinming -~ No. 699, Liuxiang Road, Nanxiang Town, Commercial 3720 186,904 18179 875 453137 - - - - - - %%
Chidren's World Jising Distict, Shanghai Municipalty

DETRREER  CETRRREARIIMRON i

Hangzhou Xinming ~ No. 698, Xiaohe Roac|, Gongshu Distrct, Commercial 30499 U775 07754 - 73022 - - - - - - 100%
Chidren'sWorld ~ Hangzhou

THFRREER  mAAER)TRORR i

Shandong Xingmeng ~ The western Sie of Luban Avenue and the Residential 54,826 95,402 92130 3m 78097 - - - - - - 75%
Yayuan northern side of Jinghe West Road, Tengzfou

Ciy, Shandong Province B

IREERE WREBN TR KRR A BRI B {2

Under Development

Shandong Xingmeng  Xingmeng International Commercial City, Residential 29,206 - - - - 771000 200 9863 - - - 75%
Yayuan Wlitunzhuanpan, Tengzhou Ciy,

Shandong Province
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Property sales YISHE
During the Year under Review, the Group recorded property sales of REIFEFER » NEBFESMEHEESHOA
approximately RMB6.1 million, representing a significant decrease of R¥61EHETL  R_ZE-_—FHAREL1.6
approximately RMB35.5 million or approximately 85.3% as compared HBE&E T AERMDHAREISSEHE T

to approximately RMB41.6 million in 2021. Total GFA of property 85.3% > REIEEFEANRI N YEHEBEEM

sales delivered during the Year under Review was approximately f&#J1,8484F FXK &L - F _*EE’\J,\\’N,SZS
1,848.4 sq.m., representing a slight increase of approximately T KRS A N425 AT K - FRARSE
25.4 sq.m. as compared with approximately 1,823 sq.m. in 2021. B hFEBFSEBERYENEEEZE

The amount of sales declined throughout the year as affected by HEZBEE2FTHE - REEFER - BEY
weak investment sentiment and suspension on sales of properties X #HERL FERHNFERSEIBENH
due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Overall property sales decreased E¥EMIHREEARRIFE A L5 BT
during the Year under Review mainly due to the prolonged weak #HEMEEMWEFAE  URZSEMEDER
investment sentiments in the commercial property market COVID-19  EXF& (B {2 $4 & i B BUE & 35 F INBIPT X 3t
pandemic and continuously strengthened housing regulation by the &tﬁﬁ S ASECREBRETESHABRITRER
local governments, as well as the intensified business competition &{EEEAE @ BEETENEETREERG
as a result of various real estate enterprises’ adopting price-cut &%Eﬂj’i R ZEREGREHAE

promotions. In this regard, the Group has actively made business BB E WA S FTEEf -
adjustments and explored the use of each project, including but

not limited to change of use and sale of property. Such measures,

however, have not yet contributed to the Group’s revenue for the

Year under Review.

The following table summarises the property projects of the Group TREHIIALBEEE AEE Y EEEER
sold during the Year under Review: CIg

Average

Project Location GFA sold Income selling price
HERSE

HH B [T WA FIEE

sg.m. RMB in million RMB in million
7K ARBEETT ARBEET

By market sale

BRHGHEE

Taizhou Xinming Peninsular Taizhou 589.8 1.7 2,862
aINFAFS am

Xinming Lijiang Garden Taizhou 435.8 1.9 4,408
FTEAREII 0 a M

Wenshang Times Times Furniture Expo Taizhou 822.8 2.5 2,984

Centre (Formerly known as “Xinming
Apartment”)

BEREREEFERO(REIFHARE]) &M

Xingmeng International Commercial City Tengzhou - - -

5 FA BB P 9 =N

Total &&f 1,848.4 6.1 3,281

By court-ordered sale

ERaSHE

Wenshang Times Xinming Household Taizhou 44,414.71 99.5 2,240
Decorations and Fittings City

IR o FTEAMT@IN A &M

Wenshang Times Red Star Macaline Taizhou 67,239.46 282.4 4,200
Household Products Market

BEERAZEIERE a M
Emmi%

Hangzhou Xinming Children’s World Hangzhou 3,098.41 35.9 11,403

FUINFRER o R E R N

Total A&t 114,752.50 417.8 3,641
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Property leasing

The Group carries out property leasing business through leasing
its commercial properties held for investment and leasing the
sold commercial properties leased back from third parties by the
Group. As at 31 December 2022, the actual area leased out was
approximately 113,767.3 sg.m., representing approximately 75.3% of
the Group's total investment properties held-for-lease and the sold
commercial properties leased back from third parties purchasers.

During the Year under Review, the rental income was approximately
RMB29.1 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB31.1
million or 51.6% as compared to approximately RMB60.2 million in
2021.

The following table summarises the commercial properties held by
the Group for investment during the Year under Review:

As at 31 December 2022

EEENWED N

E N
AEBEBBLARMPFERENEEDER
HEAEBRE=ZSTEXRQEANDEF/EY
X O NEMEHEXK N_T__F+=
A=+—H BEREHEE®ELNR113,767.3F
TAKEREERAFELHEAENEREY
ENEBE=STEFEENCDEREDELD
75.3% °

REBEFEAR  HEBRAHOARE291H5E
T BT —FHAREC02EETTRIL
ARBEZT1BHBEITLHS1.6% °

TERENNEBEFEARERFERENEE
MEBE

Rental income
for the year

R=B==F+-A=1-A Average ended
Total Leasable Leased occupancy 31 December
GFA area area rate 2022
BE-B-C-F
oY E THE E2HE ¥y tZA=+-HL
L [k & HAE  FENESKWA
sg.m. Sq.m. sq.m. % RMB million
FRHAK FRA FRA % ARERET
Commercial investment properties for rental purpose
EHERRNBERENSE
No. 8, North Section, Taizhou Boulevard, Jiaojiang 101,163.31 62,163.36 58,000.32 98.33% 23.1
District, Taizhou City
AMTHIIE & MAELESH
No. 1990, East Ring Boulevard, Jiaojiang District, 44,414.71 24,536.47 5,083.00 20.7% 2.1
Taizhou City (The property was sold by court
order on December 2022)
AMTHIERBAE1990% (ZMED R
ZEo Rt ARERASHE)
No. 1990, East Ring Boulevard, Jiaojiang District, 67,239.46 64,450.00 50,684.00 78.6% 3.9

Taizhou City (The property was sold by court
order on 31 May 2022)

BN ERIRAE1990% (ZWEER T -
FRAZ+-AZARHSHE)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Land reserves

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s property portfolio consisted
of 7 property development projects located in a number of cities
throughout China. These projects were at various stages of
development, with total GFA amounting to approximately 488,000
sg.m., of which approximately 281,000 sg.m. was completed,
approximately 128,000 sg.m. was under development, and
approximately 79,000 sg.m. was held for future development.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead to 2025, with the impact of the epidemic dissipated,
it is expected that China’s macro-economy will see an overall
turnaround. Economic activities will then return to normal order,
with various cities relaxing restrictions on purchases and loans,
followed by the introduction of “three-arrow” measures such as
guaranteeing the delivery of properties, credit, debt issuance and
equity financing, which are all favourable to real estate developers.
The property market is expected to gradually stabilise and recover,
and investment sentiment is expected to rebound.

In the National Economic Programme of the 20th National Congress
of the PRC government, the PRC government stated that it is
required to maintain stable and healthy development of the real
estate market, and adhere to the principle of "housing is for living
in and not for speculation”. As China’s demographic structure
gradually increases the rate of urbanisation and the economies of
third and fourth tier cities are expected to grow, the development
of real estate investment is expected to become the focus of the
market.

The Group will actively accelerate its de-stocking of completed
properties while exploring the feasibility of assets revitalisation,
including but not limited to change of property use and sale of
properties in its entirety. Furthermore, the Group will negotiate
with different financial institutions in respect of its outstanding
borrowings, with a view to improving its liability and financial
gearing conditions.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue is primarily generated from property sales and
property leasing services, which contributed approximately 17.2%
and 82.8%, respectively, to the revenue during the Year under
Review of approximately RMB35.2 million. Property sales, the major
revenue source of the Group, decreased by approximately RMB35.5
million from approximately RMB41.6 million in the same period of
last year, mainly due to the COVID-19 pandemic and prolonged
weak investment sentiments in the commercial property market
and suspension on sales of residential property. Property leasing
recorded a decrease of approximately RMB31.1 million as compared
to approximately RMB60.2 million in the same period of last year
mainly due to the rent-free preferential policy that the Group
proposed to some of the new and existing tenants during the year.

Cost of sales

During the Year under Review, the Group's cost of sales was
approximately RMB15.2 million, representing a decrease
of approximately RMB9.0 million or 37.3% as compared to
approximately RMB24.2 million in the same period of last year. Such
decrease was primarily attributable to the decrease of the delivered
properties sales during the Year under Review.

Gross profit

During the Year under Review, the gross profit amounted to
approximately RMB20.0 million, representing a significant decrease
of approximately RMB57.6 million or 74.2% as compared to
approximately RMB77.6 million in the same period of last year.

Other income and gains and losses

Other income and gains losses during the Year under Review
amounted to approximately RMB(22.7) million, representing
a significant decrease of approximately RMB302.6 million as
compared to a gain of approximately RMB279.9 million in the same
period of last year, mainly due to the reversal of the outstanding
principal, interests and penalties as a result of the Group entering
into settlement agreements with borrowers in relation to overdue
interest-bearing loans last year.

Selling and administrative expenses

During the Year under Review, the selling and administrative
expenses amounted to approximately RMB68.8 million, representing
an increase of approximately RMB7.8 million or approximately 12.7%
as compared to approximately RMB61.1 million in the same period
of last year, mainly due to the short term addition of the Group's
manpower and administrative costs.

EEENWED N

5t %5 [0 R

W =
AEBEBEETERMEHE MM EHERS
EL  REBEFEANBANAREI2EE
TT B D RIKI R17.2% 1 82.8% © M tHE
EARBEETERAKRER  BEFRHPHAR
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B o

HEMA
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BET BEFRHHARK242BETAD
MARBIOBETHI73% - 2RI TER
A B B AN I S B R A TR -

EF
REBFEANNEMNHARE2005ET @ &
EFRPAHARE 77 6AETABRBLHOAR
¥e57 6B B ITET74.2% °
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Other expenses

Other expenses during the Year under Review were approximately
RMB623.7 million, representing a substantial increase of
approximately RMB202.3 million or approximately 48.0% as
compared to approximately RMB421.4 million in the same period
of last year, mainly due to that (i) the market of properties under
development and completed properties held for sale were adversely
affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and domestic commercial
properties market during the Year under Review and an impairment
provisions of approximately RMB289.1 million were made under the
impact of the expected decrease of realizable value; (ii) a liquidated
damages on borrowings of approximately RMB312.1 million during
the period. Breakdown of other expenses are set out below:

Hx
REBEFEANEMBAIHARE6237EE
T REFRPNPOARE21ABETAE
EMHARE20238 & THA48.0% £ &
EHNOAZETOERFIEHENDRTY
EMERIEBEFEATERSRELER
BEPETLRETE  EUERERHAT
BREFE T EHRERBOARE289.18E
T (NVEAMEERENSHOARE31218
BT - X HARIn T

2022 2021
—E__ —F_—
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARET T ARBT T
Bank charges RITFEE - 17
Penalty expenses S - 3,983
Provision for impairment of properties [ E M IFEHENDET
under development and completed L ENCRIER Y
properties held for sale 289,098 20,621
Liquidated damages on borrowings BRENE 312,124 392,841
Impairment losses on trade EoRKFIERCMEERE
receivables and financial assets, net B85 22,505 2,508
Others EHitb - 1,397
Total a&t 623,727 421,367

Change in fair value of investment properties

During the Year under Review, the loss on change in fair value of
investment properties amounted to approximately RMB1,082.9
million, representing a significant increase of approximately
RMB1,080.9 million as compared to that of approximately RMB2.0
million in the same period of last year. The fair value of investment
properties decreased significantly as compared to that of last year as
it was mainly affected by COVID-19 pandemic and adverse market
factors.

Finance costs

During the Year under Review, the finance costs amounted to
approximately RMB84.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB1.0 million as compared to that of approximately
RMB83.1 million in the same period of last year, mainly due to the
increase in capitalised interest.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Operating loss

During the Year under Review, the operating loss amounted to
approximately RMB2,829.6 million, representing an significant
increase of loss of approximately RMB1,987.7 million or
approximately 2.36 times as compared to the operating loss of
approximately RMB841.9 million in the same period of last year
which was mainly due to changes in fair value of investment
properties and a loss on court-ordered sale of completed properties
held for sale and an investment property.

Income tax credit/expense

During the Year under Review, the income tax credit amounted
to approximately RMB440.0 million, representing an significant
increase of approximately RMB429.2 million as compared to income
tax credit of approximately RMB10.8 million in the same period of
last year, mainly due to change on deferred tax movement.

Loss attributable to the shareholders

During the Year under Review, the loss attributable to the
shareholders amounted to approximately RMB2,250.4 million,
representing an increase of loss of approximately RMB1,386.5
million as compared to the loss of approximately RMB863.9 million
in the same period of last year. The basic loss per share was
approximately RMB1.198 (2021: loss per share of approximately
RMBO0.460).

Cash flows

As at 31 December 2022, cash and bank deposits of the Group,
including restricted cash, were approximately RMB8.0 million in
aggregate (31 December 2021: approximately RMB20.5 million).
Pursuant to the exclusive management and operation agreement
entered into between the Company’s certain commercial properties
with third party purchasers, the Company is required to pay
certain percentages of the selling prices of the properties to the
purchasers regardless whether such properties were rented out by
the Company or they were generating rental income. The Company
is not obliged to pay any agreed fees from 1 January 2022 on were
of out all existing exclusive management and operation agreements
are expired.

During the period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022, the
Group’s maximum net cash outflow was approximately RMBO million
in 2022 (maximum net cash outflow in 2021: approximately RMBO
million). In addition, the Group did not enter into any new exclusive
management and operation agreements with any purchasers during
the Year under Review.

EEENWED N
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Borrowings

As at 31 December 2022, the total borrowings of the Group were
approximately RMB1,279.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB281.5 million as compared to approximately
RMB1,561.3 million as at 31 December 2021, as an investment
property in Taizhou was ordered by the court to be sold at a low
auctioned price and the net proceeds were used to repay part of
the loan.

The borrowings on demand and repayable within one year of
the Group were approximately RMB1,279.8 million, representing
a decrease of approximately RMB281.5 million as compared to
approximately RMB1,561.3 million as at 31 December 2021. There
were no borrowings repayable after one year in the Year under
Review, which was in line with that of last year.

Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables and
other assets

As at 31 December 2022, the sum of trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets of the Group was approximately
RMB57.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately RMB89.0
million as compared to approximately RMB146.6 million as at
31 December 2021, mainly due to the decrease in deposits with
suppliers and a decrease of trade receivables.

Trade payables, contract liabilities and other payables
and accruals

As at 31 December 2022, the sum of trade payables, contract
liabilities, other payables and accruals of the Group was
approximately RMB2,409.7 million, representing an increase of
approximately RMB374.9 million as compared to approximately
RMB2,034.8 million as at 31 December 2021. The increase was
mainly due to the improvement in the Group’s own operating
condition to increase in contract liabilities of pre-sales values in
Tengzhou residential project of approximately RMB178.6 million
and the increase in other payables and accruals was caused by the
accrual of interest and penalties on interest owed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Assets and liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the total assets of the Group were
approximately RMB2,626.8 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB2,596.9 million as compared to approximately
RMB5,223.7 million as at 31 December 2021. The total current assets
were approximately RMB1,487.8 million, representing approximately
56.6% (31 December 2021: approximately 41.3%) of the total assets,
with a decrease of approximately RMB671.1 million as compared
to approximately RMB2,158.8 million as at 31 December 2021.
The total non-current assets were approximately RMB1,139.1
million, representing approximately 43.4% (31 December 2021:
approximately 58.7%) of the total assets, with a decrease of
approximately RMB1,925.8 million as compared to approximately
RMB3,064.8 million as at 31 December 2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the total liabilities of the Group were
approximately RMB4,993.7 million, representing a decrease of
approximately RMB207.2 million as compared to approximately
RMB5,201.0 million as at 31 December 2021, which was due
to among other things the decrease of deferred tax liabilities.
The total current liabilities were approximately RMB4,830.4
million, representing approximately 96.7% (31 December 2021:
approximately 90.8%) of the total liabilities, with an increase of
approximately RMB107.9 million as compared to approximately
RMB4,722.5 million as at 31 December 2021. The total non-current
liabilities were approximately RMB163.3 million, representing
approximately 3.3% (31 December 2021: approximately 9.2%) of the
total liabilities, with a decrease of approximately RMB315.1 million
as compared to approximately RMB478.5 million as at 31 December
2021.

As at 31 December 2022, the net current liabilities of the Group
were approximately RMB3,342.6 million, representing an increase
of approximately RMB779.0 million as compared to the net current
liabilities of approximately RMB2,563.6 million as at 31 December
2021.

Current ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the current ratio of the Group, being the
ratio of the current assets divided by the current liabilities, was
0.31:1 (31 December 2021: 0.46:1).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2022, the gearing ratio of the Group was
calculated based on net debt divided by the sum of total equity and
net debt. The Group’s net debt consists of interest-bearing bank
and other borrowings and convertible bonds, less cash and cash
equivalents. Total equity includes equity attributable to owners of
the parent and non-controlling interests. The gearing ratio of the
Group was (186.5)% (31 December 2021: 98.7%).

Convertible bonds

Pursuant to the general mandate, on 1 June 2018, the Group issued
convertible bonds in amount of HK$300 million for a term of two
years. The bonds bear interest at a rate of 6.5% plus 1% handling
fee per annum, and the interest is payable in arrears every half
year. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 15 May 2018. The conversion bonds matured on 31 May 2020.

The Company was informed by Chance Talent that on 15 January
2025 that, the CB Sellers transferred the Convertible Bonds, free
from all encumbrances, together with all rights and entitlements
attaching to them, to the CB Purchaser, Motivational Mathematics,
at the total consideration of HK$31.5 million. For details, please
refer to Company’s announcement dated 16 January 2025.

The principal amount of HK$300 million and interests have not been
settled as of the date of this report.

Significant investments

During the Year under Review, the Group has no significant
investment.

Material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries

During the Year under Review, the Group has no material
acquisitions or disposals of any subsidiaries.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Guarantees on mortgage facilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Group provided guarantees over the
mortgage loans of certain purchasers of approximately RMB237.0
million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB103.3 million).

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE YEAR

(@) On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by Mr. Lai
Kar Yan (Derek) and Mr. Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu whom were appointed by Chance Talent
Management Limited as joint and several receivers over the
Placing Shares and the Sale Shares (“the Receivers”) that on
8 January 2025 (after trading hours), the Xinxing Company
Limited (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without
personal liability pursuant to the powers granted under the
Share Charge), the Receivers and Innovax Securities Limited
("Placing Agent”) entered into the Placing Agreement,
pursuant to which the Placing Agent place an aggregate of
752,137,800 Placing Shares held by the Vendor (representing
approximately 40.04% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as of 8 January 2025) to the Placees at the Placing
Price.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the
Receivers that on 13 January 2025, the Placing Agent
successfully placed all the 752,137,800 Placing Shares at the
Placing Price of HK$0.011 per Placing Share to the respective
Placees. The 752,137,800 Placing Shares placed under the
Placing represents approximately 40.04% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as at 16 January 2025.

Details of the placing of existing shares by controlling
shareholder were set out in the Company’s announcements
dated 16 January 2025, 21 January 2025.

(b) On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the
Receivers that on 8 January 2025 (after trading hours), the
Vendor (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without
personal liability pursuant to the powers granted under
the Share Charge), the Receivers and the Share Purchaser
entered into the Share Sale Agreement pursuant to which,
the Vendor (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without
personal liability pursuant to the powers granted under
the Share Charge) agreed to sell and the Share Purchaser
agreed to purchase an aggregate of 187,862,200 Sale Shares
(representing 10.00% of the entire issued share capital of the
Company as of 8 January 2025) at the total consideration of
HK$1,983,700.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

The Company was further informed by the Receivers that
completion of the Share Sale took place on 16 January 2025.

() On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by Chance
Talent that on 15 January 2025, Advance Day and Chance
Talent (“"CB Sellers”) transferred the convertible bonds,
free from all encumbrances, together with all rights and
entitlements attaching to them, to the CB Purchaser,
Motivational Mathematics Limited, at the total consideration of
HK$31.5 million.

Assets guarantees

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has pledged or restricted
deposits in the bank deposits of RMBO0.5 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMBO0.3 million). In addition, partial other borrowings
of the Group were secured by the Group’s certain properties under
development, completed properties held for sale, investment
properties and the equity interests in certain subsidiaries of the
Group, and jointly guaranteed by the Controlling Shareholder of the
Group, Mr. Chen Chengshou (“Mr. Chen”), Mr. Chen’s children and
the non-executive Director, Ms. Gao Qiaogin, the Group’s related
company, Xinming Group Limited, and other minority shareholders
of certain subsidiaries of the Group free of charge.

Capital expenditure

During the Year under Review, the Group’s total capital expenditure
was approximately RMBO million (31 December 2021: approximately
RMBO million).

Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022, the capital commitments related to
activities of properties under development were approximately
RMB5.4 million (31 December 2021: approximately RMB286.2
million).

Exposure to exchange rate fluctuations

The Group operates mainly in Renminbi, and certain bank deposits
of the Group are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. Save for
disclosed above, the Group was not exposed to any material
exchange rate fluctuation risk and did not enter into foreign
currency hedging policies. However, the Group will monitor closely
the foreign exchange risk and may, as the case may be and
depending on the trend of foreign currencies, consider to apply
significant foreign currency hedging policies in the future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 December 2022, the Group has a total of 50 employees (31
December 2021: a total of 58 employees). The Group promoted the
upgrading of talents, cultivated and recruited excellent talents with
sales and management experience, improved the allocation system
of remuneration linked to performance and maintained harmonious
labor relations. The remuneration of employees of the Group will be
based on their performance, experience and the prevailing market
remuneration. Moreover, the Group has also adopted a share option
scheme and a share award scheme.

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had guarantees in respect
of mortgage facilities granted to purchasers of the Group's
properties of approximately RMB237.0 million (31 December 2021:
approximately RMB103.3 million).

AUDITOR’S MODIFIED OPINION

The Auditor does not express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. Because of the potential
interaction of the multiple uncertainties and their possible
cumulative effect on the consolidated financial statements as
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of their
report, it is not possible for them to form an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements. In all other respects, in their
opinion the consolidated financial statements have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion

Multiple material uncertainties relating to going concern

As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB2,389,604,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately RMB3,342,604,000. In addition, as at 31 December
2022, the Group’s outstanding borrowings of approximately
RMB1,279,755,000 and the convertible bonds issued by the Group
amounting approximately RMB268,848,000 were overdue pursuant
to the borrowing agreements which constituted events of defaults.
These conditions, together with other matters disclosed in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

The Management has been undertaking measures to improve the
Group’s liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going
concern assumption on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple material uncertainties, including (i)
successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders such
that no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings with interest payments in
default; (i) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and interests;
(iii) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
and potential lenders/investors to identify various options for
additionally financing the Group's working capital and commitments
in the foreseeable future; (iv) successfully accelerating the pre-sale
and sale of properties under development and completed properties
and speeding up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds,
and controlling costs and capital expenditure so as to generate
adequate net cash inflows; and (v) successfully procuring and
negotiating the preliminary terms with large property development
enterprises for the sale of individual property development project
at a price deemed appropriate.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
Statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Details of the Audit Modification and the
Management’s Position, View and Assessment on the
Relevant Audit Modification

In view of the detailed conditions set out in the note 2 to the
consolidated financial statement for the year ended 31 December
2022 in this report, the auditor is of the view that, there’s significant
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt regarding the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern is subject to the Group's ability to
generate sufficient financial and operating cash flows. As at 31
December 2022, the Group’s certain borrowings amounted to
approximately RMB1,279,755,000 and convertible bonds amounted
to approximately RMB268,848,000 were overdue in accordance with
repayment schedules pursuant to the borrowing agreements. In
view of these circumstances, in assessing whether the Group will
have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern,
the management of the Group (the “Management”) has taken into
full consideration of the future liquidity and performance of the
Group and its available sources of finance. To mitigate the liquidity
pressure and improve the cash flow position of the Group, the
Management has adopted and will continue to implement various
measures mentioned in this report. Therefore, the Directors are
of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2022 on a going concern basis.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities from which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Mitigation measures disclosed in the 2021 annual
report of the Group
AEE S —FERREBENERER

Reasons such measures failed to resolve the Audit
Modification in 2021
HWEERRERR - - —FEXEBITHNER

Continuously negotiating with the Group's existing
lenders such that no action will be taken by the
relevant lenders to demand immediate repayment
of the borrowings with interest payments in default,
including those with cross-default terms;
BEMAESEREERARERE  BRABERATE
EERITE A Z KB EEE R NERRAE (BIEED
BRATRENBEREFE)

Continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions on the renewal of or extension for
repayment of outstanding borrowings, including
those with overdue principals and interests;

AR ER(BEEEaHETE RFE) FESRS mK
BEEEREKNEEIERERLH

Continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to identify
various options for additionally financing the Group’s
working capital and commitments in the foreseeable
future,

HERSMEBBEARBEERA REERBERR
MEZREZRR/ASEIRERNEEES MAEAER
SNERE
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After three consecutive years of the COVID-19
pandemic, the commercial and residential real estate
business environment in the PRC has yet to fully
recover.

REB=FNHBRSEREE  RENEERETED
EEBERRERTRIRIE o

Banks and financial institutions in the PRC tended
to adopt a more conservative and risk avoidance
approach in granting new loans or extending existing
loans even through providing additional real estate
property held by the Group as security.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mitigation measures disclosed in the 2021 annual
report of the Group
AEEM_E_-FFERRBENEBEEE

EEENWED N

Reasons such measures failed to resolve the Audit
Modification in 2021
HWEERRERR - - —FERETHNER

Accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties
under development and completed properties,
such as Shandong Project and controlling costs and
controlling capital expenditure so as to generate
adequate net cash inflows;
IERAERYMERERTIYFE CEEMBEERZNLE
HE  UAREZESKAFNZEHERNASL EMEATR
BEMAFRE

The Group has partially completed the pre-sale and
sale of Block 9 and no. 16 of the 4th phase of the
residential zone of Shandong Project in 2024 and
continues to sell the rest of the Block 9 and no. 16 of
the residential properties.
AEBERZZTZNFTHILRIBEBELHATFERF9
R EICREMFDTEERIEE  WHEBIHEBRTHE9
PR E16EEEYEE -

The management of the Company thinks the said
presale and sale of proceed are sufficient for the
completion of the remaining construction work of the
Block 9 and no. 16 of Shandong Project and the costs
and capital expenditure are effectively controlled
to meet the balancing of receipt and payment of
cashflow. Due to the weakened market segment,
the management of the Company strive to launch an
attractive sale promotion plan and strategy to sell
the residential properties in order to maintain the
adequate cash inflow position.
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In addition, the Management of the Company has
launched the proposal of capital re-organization
and rights issue for fund raising of approximately
not more than HK$84.2 million to repay the bank
borrowings, also for convertible bond and other
borrowings and to maintain adequate working capital
for company’s normal operation. For details, please
refer to an announcement dated 6 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

Mitigation measures disclosed in the 2021 annual
report of the Group
AEE S —FERREBENERER

Reasons such measures failed to resolve the Audit
Modification in 2021
HWEERRERR - - —FEXEBITHNER

Actively looking for large property development
enterprises and cooperating with investors to
develop properties under development of the Group
through joint efforts; and
BRYERLMERFLEWEEEE RS IERE
REBRERYE R

Actively procuring and negotiating the preliminary
terms with large property development enterprises
for the sale of individual property development
project or whole commercial property at a price
deemed appropriate.
BREEIEREYERECEERFELEEMNY
FHAEBEAXEREAENVLGRR(RABRERS
) e
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The Group is negotiating with other property
development enterprise and investors in relation to
Shanghai property development project and have
done preliminary due diligence work but since the
real estate market has yet to fully recover, such
negotiations were smoothly proceeded and the
management of the Company compete for new
investors to participate in investing Shanghai and
Taizhou's renovation works in order to accelerate
the sale of commercial real estate properties more
rapidly and attractively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Action Plan in Response to the Audit Modification

of the Group and the Impact of the Audit Modification

on the Financial Position of the Company

In response to the uncertainties that may cast doubt regarding the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and for the purpose
of the removal of the Audit Modification, the Company has adopted
and intends to continue the implementation of the following
measures, including but not limited to:

(i) continuously negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and
interests. The Management has been continuously negotiating
with the Group’s existing lenders on the renewal of or
extension for repayment of outstanding borrowings such that
no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings with interest
payments in default, including those with cross-default terms
and hope to extend the due date and the repayment schedules
of the outstanding borrowings. As of 31 December 2022, the
outstanding amount of the total principal is RMB1,279,755,000,
and convertible bonds of approximately RMB268,848,000 were
overdue pursuant to the relevant borrowing agreements.

(i) continuously negotiating with various financial institutions and
potential lenders/investors to identify various opportunities
for additionally financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future. As of the date of this
report, the Company intends to obtain additional financing
from other financial institutions using completed residential
properties of the Group on terms deemed appropriate by the
Group.

(il) accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as Shandong
Project and controlling costs and containing capital
expenditure so as to generate adequate net cash inflows for
the Group. The Group has partially completed the pre-sale and
sale of Block 9 and no. 16 of the 4th phase of the residential
zone of Shandong Project in 2024 and continues to sell the
rest of the Block 9 and no. 16 of the residential properties.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

(iv)

The management of the Company thinks the said presale
and sale of proceed are sufficient for the completion of the
remaining construction work of the Block 9 and no. 16 of
Shandong Project and the costs and capital expenditure are
effectively controlled to meet the balancing of receipt and
payment of cashflow. Due to the weakened market segment,
the management of the Company strive to launch an attractive
sale promotion plan and strategy to sell the residential
properties in order to maintain the adequate cash inflow
position.

Majority of the net proceeds from the Shandong Project has
been and will be used for the repayment of the outstanding
borrowings.

actively procuring and formulating the preliminary terms
with large property developers to sell individual property
development projects or whole commercial properties at an
appropriate price.

The Group is negotiating with other property development
enterprise and investors in relation to Shanghai property
development project and have done preliminary due diligence
work but since the real estate market has yet to fully
recover, such negotiations were smoothly proceeded and the
management of the Company compete for new investors to
participate in investing Shanghai and Taizhou’s renovation
works in order to accelerate the sale of commercial real estate
properties more rapidly and attractively.

The management estimated that most of the net proceeds
from the Shanghai Project will be used for the repayment of
the outstanding borrowings. The sale of the Shanghai Project
might constitute a transaction of the Company subject to
announcement pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and
subject to the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.

actively accelerate the de-stocking of its properties by selling
the residential property in Shandong and the whole or portion
of commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai as a
package, with a view to accelerating the recovery of working
capital to improve its liability and financial gearing conditions.

Due to the weakened market segment, the management of
the Company strive to launch an attractive sale promotion
plan and strategy to sell the residential properties in order
to maintain the adequate cash inflow position. In addition,
the management of the Company has launched the proposal
of capital re-organization and right issue with view to fund-
raising of approximately not more than HK$84.2 million to
repay the borrowings of the Group and to maintain adequate
working capital for company’s normal operation. For details,
please refer to an announcement dated 6 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Under the influence of the negative property market debt crisis
since 2022 onward, the nationwide sale of the residential and
commercial properties has been severely and adversely affected.
Therefore, the Group failed to implement its previous plans
effectively, including accelerating the sale of its properties under
development or completed properties as expected or the sale of
the Shandong residential project to repay the borrowings during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

However, in view of the global economic downturn, intensifying
geopolitical deterioration but the drag on China’s overall real estate
market recovery after launching the series of central government
policies measurement to stabilize the sound development of
the real estate market on 17 May 2024 and 24 September 2024
respectively, it is expected that China’s macro-economy will see an
overall turnaround. Economic activities will then return to normal
order, with various cities relaxing restrictions on purchases and
loans, followed by the introduction of “three-arrow” measures such
as guaranteeing the delivery of properties, credit, debt issuance and
equity financing, which are all favourable to real estate developers.

The property market is expected to gradually stabilise and recover,
and investment sentiment is expected to rebound. In the best case
scenario, assuming (i) the Company could successfully sell the
whole or portion of commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai
as a package; (i) the Company is able to successfully extend the
repayment schedules of existing borrowings; and (iii) financial
institutions are willing to waive penalty after repayment of overdue
principal and/or interest, it will be able to fully repay all overdue
interests and principal.

Even if the Company could not sell the whole or portion of
commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai as a package,
assuming (i) the Company is able to sell its residential properties
in Shandong and commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai
to individual customers; (ii) the Company is able to sell whole of
commercial properties in Shanghai as a package; (iii) the Company
is able to successfully extend the repayment schedules of existing
borrowings; and (iv) financial institutions are willing to waive penalty
after repayment of overdue principal and/or interest, the Company
will be able to fully repay the overdue interest and principal of the
borrowings.

Based on the discussions with financial institutions, the
Management is confident that after repayment or waive of overdue
interests, the financial institutions will be willing to extend the
current repayment schedule of outstanding borrowings and waive
the penalty interest. Therefore, the Directors are of the view
that the action plan of the Group is reasonable and adequate to
resolve the Audit Modification. Having taken into consideration
of the progress update of the aforesaid action plan and relevant
measures of the Company, the Directors believe that the Group will
have sufficient working capital to prepare the Group’s consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEENWEDN

AUDIT COMMITTEFE’S VIEW ON THE AUDIT
MODIFICATION

The Audit Committee has been closely communicating with the
Management and the Auditor on the Audit Modification. The
Management has reported regularly to the Audit Committee on
the measures taken to improve the conditions of the Group’s
cash flow and their progress during the year. The Board and the
Audit Committee have taken into account of the following actions
taken by the Management prior to publication of the unaudited
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022, including (i) renewal or extension of
outstanding borrowings; (ii) additional financing; (iii) accelerating
the pre-sale and sale of properties under development and
completed properties; (iv) selling properties as a whole; and (v)
developing properties through joint efforts of the Company and its
potential investors. The Management also provides explanation to
the audit committee, part of the reasons that the Company failed
to remove the Audit Modification for the year ended 31 December
2022 are as follows: the total GFA of commercial and residential
properties for sale in the PRC in 2022 have been sluggish since
the gradual relaxation of the domestic epidemic control policy in
2022 onward. In addition, pre-sale of GFA and sales of commercial
properties in 2022 were largely lower than expected due to the
impact of the continued tightening of housing credit facilities by the
PRC government and the deferral of bank loans as a result of the
bank lending policy; and therefore, the Group failed to accelerate
the presale and sale of the properties under development and
completed properties.

According to the aforesaid factors and having taken into
consideration of the overdue interest of the outstanding loans and
the amount of the principal, the Board and the Audit Committee
understood that the action plan was still ongoing as at the date of
approval of the financial statements and the Company will need
time for completing the action plan, in particular the disposal
of investment properties which will lead to the Group receiving
substantial amount of proceeds and will mitigate the Group’s
liguidity pressure and address the Audit Modification.

Based on the above, the Audit Committee believes the Management
has used its best endeavors to act in accordance with its previous
plan in order to address the Audit Modifications and the Audit
Committee continues to support the Management’s point of
view and have been meeting regularly with the Management for
monitoring the progress of its actions taken to address the Audit
Modifications.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Given (i) the value of the investment properties owned by the Group
amounted to approximately RMB936.1 million as at 31 December
2022; and (ii) residential property market is expected to rebound
in 2025 and the pre-sale and sale of residential properties of the
Shandong Project is ongoing, the Audit Committee agreed with the
Management that despite the previous plan failed to adequately
address the Audit Modification, the Company’s revised action plan is
reasonable and adequate to resolve the Audit Modification.

The Audit Committee is also of the view that the Management
should continue to act in the best interests of the Shareholders in
implementing the actions and measures set out in the action plan
with the intention of mitigating the Group’s liquidity pressure and
removing the Audit Modification.

The Company will publish further announcement(s) disclosing any
developments and updates on (a) the Company’s negotiations with
banks and financial institutions; (b) the progress of the pre-sale and
sale of properties under development and completed properties;
and (c) the disposal of the residential properties in Shandong and
whole or portion of commercial properties in Taizhou and Shanghai
as a package.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EEREREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chengshou, aged 58, was appointed as an executive
Director, the chairman, chief executive officer, chairman of the
Nomination Committee and an authorized representative of the
Company on 16 January 2014. Mr. Chen ceased to be an authorized
representative of the Company as a result of his intention to
concentrate on his other role on the Board on 5 February 2020. He
is the founder of the Group and primarily responsible for corporate
strategic planning and overall business development of the Group.
Mr. Chen had over 30 years of experience in the real estate
industry. He has been the chairman of the board of Taizhou City
Xinming Real Estate Development Company Limited* (& M #83E
b = B # B BR A /) since February 2007 and a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Group. Mr. Chen has been first participated in
the management of the property development business in the PRC
since June 2001 when he was appointed as the chairman of
Hangzhou Taoyuan Shanzhuang Property Development Limited* (7
MIBRR L 31 55 # & F 35 B IR A 7)) (“Taoyuan Property”).

Mr. Chen is the chairman of Hangzhou City Chamber of Commerce
for Enterprises Invested in Hangzhou* (fA M 2k ML E ¥ (&
@) B 4& &), a member of the standing committee of Federation of
Industry & Commerce of Zhejiang Province* (3L & L & B ), the
vice-chairman of Hangzhou Public Diplomacy Association* () 2 $£
SN3Z 175 &), a member of the Eleventh Hangzhou City Committee of
the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference* (F B A R
BoatrmeEE +—EMINTmEE ), the honorary chairman of the
Hangzhou City Wenzhou Chamber of Commerce* (fuN i &M E &),
the chairman of the Nationwide Taishun Entrepreneurs Fellowship
Association* (2 B % JE 1 % R 5 55 &) and the vice chairman of
Hangzhou City Chamber of Commerce* (#1 M ™ 4 7 € ). He was
appointed as the deputy director of the market committee of
Chinese General Chamber of Commerce* (FF B %84 €) in March
2013. He has also been a director of Wenzhou Bank since November
2012 and a part-time tutor of master degree in international
business of Zhejiang University (41T AX22) since February 2014.

* English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chen was awarded “Excellent Entrepreneur of Hangzhou* (£
TR in October 2016, “Outstanding Contribution of Entrepreneurs
of Wenzhou for years 2013 to 2015* (2013-2015 FE;BEEREHE
Bt A ¥ )" in September 2016, “Top ten in Zhejiang Real Estate
Industry in the “12th Five-Year Plan"* ((+ =—R NI EibE+ KR EZ
A 1 )" in June 2016, “2016 Worldwide Outstanding 30 People of
Entrepreneur of Wenzhou (External)* (ZZE—ANFHF A ERRAE
AN —FESMEE B =+ A)" in February 2016; “Wenzhou People of
the Year* (tt 58 /Il A F E A #)" and “One Hundred Excellent
Entrepreneur of Wenzhou* (tt FURE B & EE A ¥)" in December
2014; “Entrepreneur with Good Character of Hangzhou* (@& w)"
jointly by Hangzhou Municipal Committee of the Communist Party
of China* ( # % #1 /N ™ Z ) and The People’s Government of
Hangzhou* ( 1 M @ A B B FF ) in October 2013, “Outstanding
Representative of Credible Entrepreneurs of Wenzhou* (815 /& &4
i K & )" jointly by Promotion Department of Wenzhou Municipal
Committee of the Communist Party of China* (&/NHZ ={&3f) and
Wenzhou Credibility Office* (& M 71 {5 B #f 2 =) in August 2011,
“Outstanding Builder of Socialist Undertaking* (EAFuH & THE%E
& )" jointly by Hangzhou Municipal Committee of the Communist
Party of China* (7 £ #n /I T8 &) and The People’s Government of
Hangzhou* (10 A R BXFT) in September 2010 and “Staff Caring
Excellent Entrepreneur* (B B TEFHBER)" jointly by Federation
of Trade Union of Hangzhou* ( #1 /il ™ # T & ) and Hangzhou
Federation of Industry and Commerce (#1 M ™ T & Bt & € ) in
December 2009.

Mr. Chen obtained a graduation certificate in administrative
management (through online courses) from Huazhong University
of Science and Technology (/R £HE K Z) in the PRC in July 2013.
Mr. Chen obtained an executive master’'s degree in business
administration from Cheung Kong Graduate School of Business (&)L
P 22P7) in the PRC in September 2015. Mr. Chen obtained a master’s
degree in business administration from Tsinghua University in April
2018.

Mr. Chen is the spouse of Ms. Gao, who is a non-executive Director.

Mr. Chen was deemed to be interested in 24,330,000 shares of
the Company (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong)), representing 1.3% of the issued share capital of the
Company. Such interests are held by Xinxing Company Limited (a
company controlled by Mr. Chen) (“Xinxing"). 752,137,800 shares
out of 772,137,800 shares held by Xinxing have been charged to
Chance Talent Management Limited, representing approximately
40.04% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Save as
disclosed, Mr. Chen does not have any interests or short positions
in the shares of the Company or its associated corporations within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BEEREREEEGEN

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by Mr. Lai Kar Yan
and Mr. Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu whom
were appointed by Chance Talent Management Limited as joint
and several receivers over the Placing Shares and the Sale Shares
that on 8 January 2025 after trading hours, the Xinxing Company
Limited (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without personal
liability pursuant to the powers granted under the Share Charge),
the Receivers and Innovax Securities Limited (“Placing Agent”)
entered into the Placing Agreement, pursuant to which the Placing
Agent place an aggregate of 752,137,800 Placing Shares held by
the Vendor (representing approximately 40.04% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as of 8 January 2025) to the Placees at
the Placing Price.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the Receivers
that on 13 January 2025, the Placing Agent successfully placed all
the 752,137,800 Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.011 per
Placing Share to the respective Placees. The 752,137,800 Placing
Shares placed under the Placing represents approximately 40.04%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at 16 January
2025.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the Receivers
that on 8 January 2025 after trading hours, Xinxing Company
Limited (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without personal
liability pursuant to the powers granted under the Share Charge),
the Receivers and the Share Purchaser entered into the Share Sale
Agreement pursuant to which, Xinxing Company Limited agreed to
sell and the Share Purchaser agreed to purchase an aggregate of
187,862,200 Sale Shares (representing 10.00% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as of 8 January 2025) at the total
consideration of HK$1,983,700.

Mr. Feng Cizhao, aged 49, was appointed as an executive Director
with effect from 31 October 2015.

Mr. Feng graduated from Zhejiang University of Finance &
Economics (47 )T BF & £ Bt ) and obtained his college degree in
accounting in 2005, and then obtained an MBA degree from
Zhejiang Gongshang University (3, T A £2) in 2013.

34  XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

o

MRZZ-_RAFE—F+/ 8 AREIEEHH
BRI EAMIT IR R R EERMBEREE
&40 0 5 2 #Chance Talent Management
LimitedZ £ BB &R H REE RKOH LR R
BREEA  RZZEZRAF—ANB (RS
EZ1%) - Xinxing Company Limited (& A
BERNDFCERT2ENEREIEATSE
mEAREBAARR)  BEEAHABRESE
RARI(TEEERED I EERZE - Bt -
RERBRESERNARAESEHEA
$#£752,137,800 A Fic & iz 17 (1HE R A R A1
EZE-_RAF-ANBZE2BPEBITRALY
40.04%) °

RZZE_RF—A+RE  ARFEEEA
T R_E_RAF-A+=R EEAE
EREEESRESRN0.011BITAIRE
# P AR 2 #B752,137,800 A% Bl & A 7 AL
B I8 T PTAC & 2 752,137,800 A% B & A% 7 4915
ARAR_ZE_RAF A+ NAZ2HE#
1TIRZAN#940.04% °

RZBEZRAF—A+-EB ARG EEE
ANEH R-ZBE-_RAF-ANB(XS5HR
%) » Xinxing Company Limited (A& AR
BROBLETOENMEREZRATEM
BmEAAEEARMT) BEEARRGOEFI
SRR s E W EE - B L - Xinxing Company
LimitedAEHEEBRNE TRELNBRE
1,983,700/ L B A 187,862,200 8 4 & A%
DEERARTBRE_E_AE—AN\BZ
2 EEEITARZA4I10.00%) °

BEREE O R-_FT-—AF+A
=T HEERMITES -

ERAR_ZTRFEXNNMIMERR L
FASHEMBULN T —=—FESHT
THARBEXEEBRLTSM -



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Feng has extensive experiences in financing and management.
He served as a deputy chief financial officer of Taidi Holdings Group
Co. Ltd.* (i IZAR £ E B R A 7)) from August 2011 to September
2015. He worked with the finance department of Shaoxing Wantong
Real Estate* (#A £ & 18 /5 E) and Margaret Business Management
Company* (BB B2 2 A)) (both subsidiaries of Taidi Group
(Z=Hb £ @) as the chief financial officer from September 2006 to July
2011. Mr. Feng acted as the head of office for Hangzhou Qingcheng
Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (MM EHEHEREHR Q)
from October 2002 to September 2006. He held several positions in
Zhejiang Quzhou Transportation Group Co., Ltd.* (TN /58 Ef
& B B A 7\ ) from July 1996 to September 2002, including
accountant with the planning and finance department of Zhejiang
Quzhou Transportation Group Co., Ltd.* (ML RH EnEE AR
2~ |]), finance manager with the cargo container company and the
automobile repair company under Zhejiang Quzhou Transportation
Group Co., Ltd.* G I @M AEEREBBRAA).

Mr. Zhou Fenli, aged 55, was appointed as an executive Director
on 9 August 2024. He served as the senior management of various
companies in China since 2006 and has accumulated over 18 years
of experience in finance and corporate management. Mr. Zhou is
currently the general manager and executive director of Shenzhen
Qianhai Zhongmao Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.* (/& 3Il T B /&
R ERIE AR 2 ), Asia Pacific Kunpeng Financial Leasing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (E AR E B & OXJI)E R 2 a) and
Zhunxing International Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* (ff B ER 12 A%
CFEIINAFR A ) which provide financial services in China. Mr. Zhou
also currently serves as the independent non-executive director
of Millennium Pacific Group Holdings Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange") (stock code: 8147).

Mr. Cao Zhigiang, aged 40, was appointed as an executive Director
on 9 August 2024. He has 15 years of experience in financial audit,
bank compliance risk control and government credit financing. Mr.
Cao has served as senior management positions in various Chinese
enterprises, including RSM China Accounting Firm (Special General
Partnership) and China Everbright Bank Co., Ltd. Hefei Branch.
Mr. Cao obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from Anhui
University of Finance and Economics (Z &8 £&K£) in China in July
2008.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

BEEREREEEGEN

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Gao Qiaogqin, aged 56, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 10 June 2014. She is responsible for advising on overall
strategic planning of our Group, but she doesn't participate in the
day-to-day management of our Group's business operation. She has
over 10 years of experience in the real estate industry.

Ms. Gao obtained a graduation certificate in computer information
management (through online courses) from Huazhong University of
Science and Technology (ZE /£t KX £8) in the PRC in June 2005.

Ms. Gao is the spouse of Mr. Chen, who is the chairman, executive
Director and chief executive officer of the Company.

Ms. Gao was deemed to have interests in the 24,330,000 shares of
the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO, representing
1.3% of the issued share capital of the Company. Such interests are
held by Xinxing (a company controlled by Mr. Chen). 752,137,800
shares out of 772,137,800 shares held by Xinxing have been charged
to Chance Talent Management Limited, representing approximately
40.04% of the total issued share capital of the Company. Save as
disclosed, Ms. Gao does not have any interests or short positions in
the shares of the Company or its associated corporations within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by Mr. Lai Kar Yan
and Mr. Ho Kwok Leung Glen of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu whom
were appointed by Chance Talent Management Limited as joint
and several receivers over the Placing Shares and the Sale Shares
that on 8 January 2025 after trading hours, the Xinxing Company
Limited (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without personal
liability pursuant to the powers granted under the Share Charge),
the Receivers and Innovax Securities Limited (“Placing Agent”)
entered into the Placing Agreement, pursuant to which the Placing
Agent place an aggregate of 752,137,800 Placing Shares held by
the Vendor (representing approximately 40.04% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as of 8 January 2025) to the Placees at
the Placing Price.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the Receivers
that on 13 January 2025, the Placing Agent successfully placed all
the 752,137,800 Placing Shares at the Placing Price of HK$0.011 per
Placing Share to the respective Placees. The 752,137,800 Placing
Shares placed under the Placing represents approximately 40.04%
of the entire issued share capital of the Company as at 16 January
2025.
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On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the Receivers
that on 8 January 2025 after trading hours, Xinxing Company
Limited (acting by the Receivers as its attorney without personal
liability pursuant to the powers granted under the Share Charge),
the Receivers and the Share Purchaser entered into the Share Sale
Agreement pursuant to which, Xinxing Company Limited agreed to
sell and the Share Purchaser agreed to purchase an aggregate of
187,862,200 Sale Shares (representing 10.00% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as of 8 January 2025) at the total
consideration of HK$1,983,700.

Mr. Zhou Zhencun, aged 63, was appointed as a non-executive
Director on 17 November 2021. Mr. Zhou has accumulated more
than 41 years of experience in trading and energy fields. He has
been a deputy general manager of Central Century Energy
Investment Co., Ltd.* (R # t 42 8 JR & & B R 2 &) in Henan
Province since August 2016. He served as the deputy general
manager of China National Offshore Gas & Power (Guangdong) New
Energy Co., Ltd.* (F/B8RE (ER)FaeRAR A7) (formerly known
as CNOOC Meizhou New Energy Co., Ltd* (T & hgN e RAR A
A])) from July 2015 to August 2016. From August 1980 to June 2015,
Mr. Zhou worked in the foreign trade department of Shantou Special
Economic Zone Light Industry Material Development Company* (il
SEAOESRE T W& E A R]) and his last position was an operation
manager. Mr. Zhou finished his high school education in Chaonan
District, Shantou, Guangdong Province in July 1980.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (formerly known as Mr. Khor Kee
Lin), aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director, chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee, and a member of the Nomination Committee of the
Company on 16 August 2021. He has accumulated more than 30
years of experience in the field of finance, capital market, financial
reporting and financial compliance services. Mr. Khor has held CFO-
equivalent positions in several SGX-listed companies, including
Regional Finance Director of Showpla Asia Limited (1997-2000),
Group Finance Director of TEE International Limited (2000-2002) and
Group Finance Director of CFM Holdings Limited (2002-2004).

Since July 2004, Mr. Khor has founded KBS Capital Partners
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. a strategy consulting company. Mr. Khor is
currently the Managing Director of KBS Capital Partners (Singapore)
Pte. Ltd. ("KBS Capital”). Mr. Khor has been involved in a wide range
of capital projects including IPOs, mergers and acquisitions and
project financing, as well as accounting, tax, company secretarial
compliance and corporate advisory services. Under Mr. Khor's
leadership, KBS Capital has successfully completed numerous initial
public offerings, mergers and acquisitions and project financing
projects for its clients in Singapore, Malaysia and China.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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Mr. Khor has been an independent non-executive director and the
chairman of the audit committee of Sanai Health Industry Group
Company Limited (SEHK: 01889) since February 2021. Since March
2023, he has been the chairman of the nomination committee of
Pa Shun International Holdings Limited (SEHK: 00574). Mr. Khor has
been an Independent Non-Executive Director and Chairman of the
Audit Committee of Davis Communities Ltd (NASDAQ: DTCK) since
November 2023 and has been a member of the Audit Committee of
JLOGO Holdings Limited (SEHK: 8527) since April 2024.

Mr. Khor graduated from the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants (ACCA) in the United Kingdom and was granted
membership and fellow membership of ACCA in 1999 and 2002
respectively. Mr. Khor also graduated from the University of
Leicester in the United Kingdom in 2004 with a master degree
of Business Administration. Mr Khor is a Chartered Accountant
with the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Singapore and the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants.

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak, aged 43, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director, a member of Audit Committee,
Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee of the
Company on 1 November 2021. He has accumulated 13 years
of experience in finance and real estate market in the People’s
Republic of China (the "PRC"). Mr. Chiu co-founded Vision Capital
Group Limited in 2014 and currently serves as its director and
principal. From April 2012 to June 2014, Mr. Chiu worked as a
business manager for the construction of Henderson Centre,
Guangzhou. From July 2008 to February 2012, he served as a
regional manager of Jiangsu zZhongli Group Co., Ltd., a company
listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 002309.
S7), and was responsible for overseeing business in the PRC. Mr.
Chiu obtained a bachelor of arts (honours) in social policy and
administration from the University of Nottingham in 2007. Mr. Chiu
obtained a master degree of science in international business from
the Business School of the University of Nottingham in 2008.

Ms. Lee Yin Man, aged 41, was appointed as an independent
executive Director on 9 August 2024. She has 15 years of
experience in human resources management, administration,
company secretarial services and corporate communications of
various companies listed on the Stock Exchange. From August
2016 to January 2018, Ms. Lee served as the human resources
director of China Innovation Investment Limited (stock code:
1217). From February 2018 to December 2019, Ms. Lee served as
the administration and human resources manager of Hope Life
International Holdings Limited, a company whose shares are listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1683). From
January 2020 to March 2023, Ms. Lee served as the administration
and human resources director of Greater Bay Convergence Services
Limited. Ms. Lee holds a Bachelor of Arts Degree from the City
University of Hong Kong and a Master Degree in Human Resources
Management from Hong Kong Baptist University.

38  XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

o

HhREAEEB T —F_ARBRET=ERRE
X5EERAF(HBEIF - 01889) K
VIIRTEEREZZESER - FFLEB
TECCHFZABRETEHEREBERERA
Al (BB 00574)IRREESXE - B
—E = =F+— AfE¥EEDavis Communities
Ltd (A ETiET : DTCK) B IERTTE S FEX
ZEgXF WE-_ZT-WFMARETE
BREERBERAR (HBERFT - 8527) %
BEEEKE

FhAEBERREBFFARSFAMMAE
(ACCA) " WHRIR— NN EFERZZTEZT_F
EACCAZENERGBEEK - QHEEJTEA
TLMFEERNRBEFRMEAE  BEELIHY
EIRE B4 - ﬁf‘aixﬁmw}z%ﬁa &AM
NEFB RS ST A SIS AT

BABEE B NZZTE-_—F+—HA—
AEZERARRIBIIENTES  FEE
BgNE  FTHEZEgKNERREEZEEN
BoTPREARAMBE(FE]) S E
MHEFEABER TI3EFMIIFELER - BELE
B = Z — 04 5% 37 /9 Vision Capital Group
Limited® £ RAIIBA - REETHEERS
BEA BAEAR - ZE——HEMAE TN
ﬁﬁﬂ?fﬁ“’)l\lﬁ%qzlu?_ EEEBKIE o
F_Y?)\ﬁtﬂz ——FZ AR
ERIIEF %Pﬁim/‘ L ER A & B AR
BAERAF(RHBRE - 002309.57) & 5 48
B BEEEPRES - t’f‘ﬁiﬁ_ggt
FRHETIERBRGH B RITHE (&%
BINEL  c BEERZZTENFERHT EZKX
B 2P VS BIR R 5 IR B2 RE 22 o

ZEZEZLT M RZTE-_NENAAA
BEZARBIUNITES - FREHEB ML
MAFINMANERER TR » RAMER
BREGEBMFIFAEBISFLER -B-F
/\g)\ﬂi_éfj\ﬁz )EJ éﬁiﬂ%ﬁﬁ
FEBIFIEEBRAT (RN : 1217) A
NERBEE -AE—)\F_AEZ=_ZL—N
FH+-f FTLETEITERBERERERR
A (EBRMDREZFERET(RD R :
1683) ) ITBRANEREE - BT =F
F-AE-_ZT == FTLTEITKRE
5@Aﬁ’éﬁ?)§ﬁl§ﬂ‘%ﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁ?fﬂ&&)\ﬁﬁ}ﬁ%@
B oI UTHBERENMABNBE AN
&%/E/XEX%/\j}’éﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁEif—ﬂ °



PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Huang Chun Lian, aged 29, was appointed as an independent
executive Director on 9 August 2024. She has over 7 years of
experience in finance and corporate management. Ms. Huang has
served as the financial director of Shenzhen Guangyi Xiangtong
Trading Company Limited* ORI EPHBE ZHHR 2 F) since
2020. Ms. Huang obtained a Bachelor’'s Degree in Accounting from
South China Normal University (ZEFEM& AZ) in China in 2020.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Kam Chun Ying Francis, aged 58, was appointed as one of
the secretaries to the Board since July 2017 and the Company
Secretary, mainly responsible for the organisation of rules of
procedures of Board meeting and general meeting, as well as listing
compliance supervision. Before joining the Company, Mr. Kam has
been served as the qualified accountant of Chongging Machinery
& Electric Co., Ltd. (EE#E K B R 2 7)) (stock code: 02722), a
company listed on the main board of Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
since 2008. He also served as the chief financial controller of
Precision Technologies Group (PTG) Limited of UK between July
2013 and June 2019, and was responsible for finance operations
and corporate compliance in both the private and listed companies
within that group. Between August 1986 and April 1989, Mr. Kam
worked for Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu, previously known as Deloitte
Haskins Sells, as a senior account assistant. He has over 30 years of
experience in corporate and finance management. He has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
in the United Kingdom since June 1996 and a fellow of the Chartered
Association of Certified Accountants since June 2001. Mr. Kam
graduated from Heriot-Watt University in the United Kingdom in
November 2004 with a master’s degree in business administration.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in this section, there are no other changes to
the Directors’ information as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEREE

The Directors present to the shareholders the Directors’ report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and the current
and continuing principal activities of the Group are property
development, property investment and property leasing during the
Year under Review. The principal activities and other particulars of
its subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are set out in Note 37 to
the consolidated financial statements.

As required by the Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, business review regarding business of the Group can
be found in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 4 to 6 and pages 7 to 31 respectively.
An indication of possible future development in the Group’s
business can be found in the Management Discussion and Analysis
set out on page 12 of this annual report. This discussion forms part
of this Directors’ report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Compliance with laws and regulations

To the best of the knowledge of the Board and the management,
the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations which
constitutes material impact on the business and operation of the
Company and its subsidiaries in all material respects during the
year ended 31 December 2022.

Due to the nature of the business of the Group, the Directors are
of the opinion that there are no specific laws or regulations related
to environmental protection which have a significant impact on
the operations of the Group. Environmental protection policies and
performance regarding the Group are set out in “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” on pages 91 to 126.

Relationship with employees, customers and suppliers
Remuneration packages of employees are determined generally with
reference to prevailing market terms and individual qualifications.
Salaries and wages are normally reviewed on an annual basis based
on performance appraisals and other relevant factors. Apart from
salary payments, there are other staff benefits including pension
and performance related bonus.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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Relationship with customers is the fundamental of business. The
Group fully understands this principle and thus maintains close
relationship with customers to fulfil their immediate and long-term
need. Given the nature of its business, the Group has no major
suppliers which have a material impact on its operations, but the
Group is striving to maintain fair and cooperative relationship
with suppliers. Details are set out in “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report”.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(1

(2)

Intensified competition may materially and
adversely affect our business, results of operations
and financial condition

Competition within the PRC real estate industry is intense.
Both domestic and overseas property developers have also
entered the property development markets in cities where
we have operations. Some of them may have more financial,
marketing, technical or other resources than us. Competition
among property developers may cause an increase in
land premium and raw material costs, shortages in quality
construction contractors, surplus in property supply leading
to decreasing property prices, further delays in issuance
of governmental approvals, and higher costs to attract or
retain skilled employees. If we fail to compete effectively, our
business, results of operations and financial condition may be
materially and adversely affected.

PRC economic, political and social conditions as
well as government policies could adversely affect
our business and prospects

All of our revenue during the Year under Review was derived
from our operations in the PRC. Our Group anticipates that
China will remain our primary market in the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, our business, prospects, results of operation and
financial position are, to a significant extent, subject to the
economic, political and legal developments of the PRC.

The PRC economy differs from the economies of most of
the developed countries in many aspects, including political
structure, PRC government involvement and control of housing
policies.
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(3)

4)

The PRC economy has been transitioning from a centrally
planned economy to a more market-oriented economy. For
nearly three decades, the PRC government has implemented
economic reform measures to utilize market forces in
the development of the PRC economy. However, the PRC
government continues to exercise significant control over
the PRC economy through allocating resources, restricting
capital flow and foreign exchange, setting monetary and fiscal
policies, imposing industrial policies and various directives,
providing government grants and other preferential treatment
to particular industries and companies. The Group cannot
predict whether changes in the PRC's economic, political and
social conditions and in its laws, regulations and policies will
have any adverse effect on our current or future business,
results of operations and financial position. Moreover, even if
new policies may benefit or damage the real estate developers
in the long term, the Group cannot assure you the accuracy of
the forecasts on the business and financial condition.

Interest rate risk may aggravate the debt costs of
the Group

The main source of loan of the Group is derived from bank
loans. Therefore, the benchmark interest rate announced by
the People’s Bank of China will directly affect the Group’s
debt costs. Changes in future interest rates will have a certain
impact on the Group’s debt costs.

Uncertainties from the environmental policies

As the Group is subject to the intensive monitoring and
control from the PRC and its environmental policies relate to
production and operation, we shall comply with a number of
environmental protection laws and regulations concerning
air, water quality, waste disposal, energy consumption, public
health and safety, and receive inspections from the relevant
national environmental protection departments. Currently,
the Company has met the national environmental protection
standards. However, if the national environmental policies are
adjusted with higher environmental protection standards, our
investment in environmental protection will increase and that
may adversely affect our results of operations. We will spare
no effort in minimizing the potential adverse effects on our
environmental performance despite the uncertainties from the
policies and environments that are impossible to predict and
our inexperience of overall risk management in environmental
protection. The Company’s current directions, measures and
analyses regarding environmental policies are set out in the
ESG report.

XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

(3)

4)

FEEE-BEHTRAEEEREHR
AT REBRANEHE - OI=1t%F
- hEBAEREEREREE - FA
MIZHERPPEEERR - AW - F
BB DEERREERDE EARE
ROMNERS] - BIEEH MM BEEK - B
MBITRBRRMERES  RFETER
NERHBTME R EMERFERN
22 il o B AR o AN SR A TR R B
B BoaM g MR IAREER - VAR
RBREBEEEHANEEE I HREK
MR - REXEMMBAOREETMA
THZE - tboh - BRI BEREFE HE
MEmREAEENNEE - AEED
EORHERB M BN A EREE TR R

=5 o
g

NEREm A REEEAEENERK
RMELE

AEBEET2EFFRNRITER - Bt
FEARRITRAMHEREEN KRG E
BEEAKEMEBRA - RENELH
BEBERBHAREBEBRAELE T

W -

RRBRTRESE
AEENEELERARBREKES

EENTRZ - AETZEBERZ
®oKE - EREE - BEREA AR

BEZEHRBAEMNER - UERIE
REMRRBFANRE - XAAF B AR
FREFEDBEFIZEE - B2 - IRE
RORRBRIFHAR - BRRIFEE—
Fhes  HRARAREESHRRENR
BRI IR R R RRERIRA - (Al BE
HABMELREERTNEE - A%
BnEEBRRAREEEN S BERE
B HBEMREEEN T EEERE
ATEAR - SKEBEREHARERRR
BEMEBEETNEE - AREARRHIRE
B B AT B e R 78 - e MR DT
FRRELERERMENA -



RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on
page 130.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board did not propose to declare a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members will be closed from 9 April 2025
(Wednesday) to 14 April 2025 (Monday), both days inclusive, during
which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting ("AGM"), all
transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
and the transfer forms must be lodged for registration with the
Company's branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on 8 April 2025
(Tuesday).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's revenue and profit or loss for the
Year contributed by its principal activities is set out in Note 4 to
the consolidated financial statements. Details of the segment
information can be found in the Management Discussion and
Analysis set out on pages 7 to 31 of this annual report.

FIVE YEARS’ FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the
last five financial years is set out on pages 235 and 236, which does
not constitute part of the consolidated financial statements.

ISSUED CAPITAL

Details of the issued capital of the Company during the Year
under Review are set out in Note 28 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the details of change of the
Company’s and the Group's investment properties were set out in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statement.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Year are set out on page 133 and Note 38(a) to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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As at 31 December 2022, no Company's reserves is available for
distribution (2021: RMB7,120,000).

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable donations were made by the Group during the Year
(2021 Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the laws of Cayman Islands where
the Company is incorporated.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available
to shareholders by reason of their holdings in the shares of the
company.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

None of the customers individually contributed 10% or more of the
Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022. None of
the suppliers individually contributed 10% or more of the Group's
purchases for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The Group's top five customers accounted for 38% of the Group's
total revenue and the top five suppliers accounted for 93% of the
Group’s total purchases for the year ended 31 December 2021. In
addition, the Group's largest supplier accounted for 75% of the total
purchases for the year ended 31 December 2021. All transactions
between the Group and relevant suppliers and customers were
carried out on normal commercial terms.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
(which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the
major suppliers noted above.

SIGNIFICANT LITIGATION AND EVENTS

The Company does not have any significant litigation and events
during the year under review.

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Company will hold an extraordinary general meeting on 13
March 2025 and considers and approves the following matters:

(1)  Proposed capital reorganisation;,
(2) Proposed rights issue on the basis of four (4) rights share for
every one (1) adjusted share held the close of business on the

record date on a non-underwritten basis.

(Please refer to the circular published on the website of the Stock
Exchange on 25 February 2025 for details.)
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DIRECTORS

The Directors in the year and up to the date of this Directors’ Report
are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman and CEQ)
(appointed on 16 January 2014)

Mr. Feng Cizhao (appointed on 31 October 2015)

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Mr. Pu Wei (appointed on 5 February 2020 and retired on
21 July 2022)

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Gao Qiaogin (appointed on 10 June 2014)

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong (appointed on 16 April 2021 and
resigned on 24 February 2025)

Mr. Zhou Zhencun (appointed on 18 November 2021)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (appointed on 16 August 2021)

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak (appointed on 1 November 2021)

Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred (appointed on 18 November 2021)
(resigned on 10 December 2024)

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)

According to Article 108(a) of the Articles of Association of the
Company: “Notwithstanding any other provisions in these articles,
at each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. The Company at the general meeting at
which a Director retires may fill the vacated office.”

Mr. Zhou Zhencun and Mr. Gao Qiaogin, non-executive Directors,
and Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex and Mr. Chiu Kung Chak, independent
non-executive Directors, will retire from their positions at the 2022
AGM and being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
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Pursuant to Article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Zhou Fenli and Mr. Cao Zhigiang, executive Directors,
and Ms. Lee Yin Man and Ms. Huang Chunlian, independent non-
executive Directors, being all Directors appointed by resolutions of
the Board immediately prior to the date of this annual report, will
retire at the AGM and, being eligible, offered themselves for re-
election at the AGM.

SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Chen Chengshou, an executive Director, entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years from 6 July
2015 (“Listing Date”), which will renew and prolong for one year
automatically after the expiry of the appointment, during which
such service agreements can be terminated by not less than three
months prior written notice to the other party and subject to the
early termination provisions contained therein.

Mr. Feng Cizhao, an executive Director, entered into a service
agreement with the Company for a term of three years from
31 October 2015, which will renew and prolong for one year
automatically after the expiry of the appointment, during which
such service agreements can be terminated by not less than three
months prior written notice to the other party and subject to the
early termination provisions contained therein.

Ms. Gao Qiaogin, a non-executive Director, entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years from the
Listing Date.

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company as a non-executive Director, for a term of one
year commencing from 16 April 2021 which may be terminated by
Mr. Choi by giving at least three months’ written notice or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the letters of appointment. Mr. Choi
tendered his resignation on 24 February 2025.

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for
a term of one year commencing from 16 August 2021 which may
be terminated by Mr. Khor by giving at least three months’ written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letters of
appointment.

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a
term of one year commencing from 1 November 2021 which may
be terminated by Mr. Chiu by giving at least three months’ written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letters of
appointment.
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Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a
term of one year commencing from 17 November 2021 which may
be terminated by Mr. Lau by giving at least three months’ written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letters of
appointment. Mr. Lau tendered his resignation on 10 December
2024.

Mr. Zhou Fenli has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company as an executive Director, for a term of one year
commencing from 9 August 2024 which may be terminated by Mr.
Zhoi giving at least three months written notice or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Mr. Cao Zhigiang has entered into a letter of appointment with
the Company as an executive Director, for a term of one year
commencing from 9 August 2024 which may be terminated by Mr.
Cao giving at least three months written notice or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Ms. Lee Yin Man has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company as an independent non-executive Director, for a term of
one year commencing from 9 August 2024 which may be terminated
by Ms. Lee giving at least three months written notice or otherwise
in accordance with the terms of the letter of appointment.

Ms. Huang Chun Lian has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company as an independent non-executive Director, for
a term of one year commencing from 9 August 2024 which may
be terminated by Ms. Huang giving at least three months written
notice or otherwise in accordance with the terms of the letter of
appointment.

In accordance with the Articles of Association and Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules, not less than one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation annually. No Directors being proposed for
re- election at the AGM has any service contract with the Company
or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group
within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are determined by the Remuneration Committee
with reference to Directors’ duties, responsibilities and operating
results of the Company, which are subject to the review of the
Board and shareholders’ approval at annual general meetings.
Please refer to Note 8 to the consolidated financial statements on
pages 179 to 181 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN THE SECURITIES

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. As at the date of this annual report, the
interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives
in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQ"), which (a)
were required to be notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) were
required to be recorded in the register referred to therein pursuant

EERFETHRAERESZZE
@

RARBMRERBBLIAER L™ - RAF
HAM EERTRITBRAEBRARARE
MEEERE (R E 75 R E GO (&5 MR &
1) EXVER 2% ) 2 Bt ~ B R &%
THEEQREZES KRB GROIEXVEEHT K E
8D EAMEARNTE N BB 2 IR
B ( &%ﬁﬁ%’ih%&ﬁﬁfﬂﬂﬁﬂﬁF%MKT&#W
CRNEFRE 2R MIXR) + HO)RIEE
7 K BB AR B S 3521635 T B I A% Ik DI P 8
ZEBEMARZESSIIRR ¢ Bk(C )*E%F%Zﬁﬂ:
MRBMEI0Z LT RAREFETESRR

to section 352 of the SFO; or (c) were required to be notified to the Z’fT EsFRIZBBIAR T&i&%ﬂﬁi“ﬁﬁZﬁi
Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model  mgoXB AT
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as
set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules were as follows:
Long positions in the shares and underlying shares RO REBRD 2HF R
The Company VNN |
Approximate
Number of percentage of
shares/ the issued share
underlying capital of the
Name of Directors Capacity/Nature of interest shares Company
HARAT
B 15 156 2EITRAH
EEnE B EmtE i gvig =] KBS
%
%
Mr. Chen Chengshou Interest of controlled corporation 24,330,000 (L) 1.3%
(Note 1)
BRASPSEAE EHERE 2 B ()
Ms. Gao Qiaogin Interest of spouse (Note 2) 24,330,000 (L) 1.3%
ShEZT Bo B s (fIEE2)

(L): represents long positions

Notes:

1. 24,330,000 shares are registered in the name of Xinxing Company

Limited which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen.

2. Ms. Gao is the spouse of Mr. Chen. Under the SFO, Ms. Gao is deemed
to be interested in the same number of shares in which Mr. Chen is

interested in.
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Associated corporation - Xinxing Company Limited
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185 % @ — Xinxing Company Limited

Approximate
percentage of
interest in the

Number and class
of securities in

the associated associated
Name of Directors Nature of interest corporation corporation
RAEEEZE N RAEEEE N
EEHR EEME &5 A RER RSN BEs T
Mr. Chen Chengshou Beneficial owner 1 share (Note 1) 100%
BRAFF S EmAA — R AD (M93E1)
Ms. Gao Qiaogin Interest of spouse 1 share (Note 2) 100%
[SEGEE S [N sy — xR (F5E2)
Notes: BT -

1. The disclosed interest represents the interests in the associated
corporation, Xinxing Company Limited, which is held as to 100% by
Mr. Chen as at the date of this annual report.

2. Ms. Gao is the spouse of Mr. Chen. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. Gao is
deemed to be interested in the 1 share of Xinxing Company Limited
held by Mr. Chen.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this report, none of the
Directors or chief executives of the Company had or was deemed
to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to
be recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of
the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

1. BT EE #E & f8 AR B X Bl Xinxing Company
Limited By #E & - MR ZARF 3 B H - Xinxing

Company Limited B3 FR 5c £ 155 100% 1 % °

2. BREIAMELEMERRE - REZFFLBEK
Pl mAELIE R LR A B Xinxing

Company Limited—R DR #EB S -

B EXPEEES  RAREEE - SIEX
NRAEFHTBTHABRAR R HEIAR
ZE(EERBFHFEREHRMEXVE) 2 X
- HEEOAEFTHREAREREEE
REAREE S MR RPIF 352167 E 2 Bh
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN
THE SECURITIES

The register of substantial shareholders maintained by the
Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO shows that, as at
the date of this annual report, the following shareholders, other
than those disclosed in the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executives’ Interest in the Securities”, had notified the Company of
their interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

Long positions in the shares and underlying shares

Interest in the Company

FTERRNES 2 HE

ARBRIERE 77 MG RGIFE 336 R EME
FzXTERRELMEKRB  RAFHRALS
THBRR(RIEERETETHRABRESZ
x| —HREZRERRINENGEARFH
AR B D BB B0 A IR AR 3 5 S A
EIRPIFEXVEDRE 2 M B30 B8P 2 16 XA T LA

=]
B BNR A -

REROREBRD ZFR

RAEQTNER

Approximate

Number of percentage of

shares/  the issued share

Name of substantial underlying capital of the
shareholders Capacity/Nature of interest shares Company
B4 HE  EARFEE BT

FTEEEHA 5% EmtE ROBE BRABOEIL
Proyan Consultancy Limited Beneficial owner 187,862,200 (L) 10.0%

(Note 1)

ECERARAR (M) BEmfEAA

(L):  represents long positions

Note:

1. Proyan Consultancy Limited is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability. Mr. Yau Yan Yuen held the entire issued
share capital of Proyan Consultancy Limited and was deemed to be
interested in the 187,862,200 Shares in which Proyan Consultancy
Limited was interested pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at the date of this annual report,
the Company had not been notified by any persons, other than
Directors and chief executives of the Company, who had interests
or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 336 of the SFO.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION BY
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

Each of the controlling shareholders has made an annual declaration
with regard to their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-
competition. The details of the deed of non-competition are set out
in the section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders”
of the Prospectus. The deed of non-competition by controlling
shareholders has taken effect from the Listing Date.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION BY EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has made an annual declaration with
regarding to their compliance with the terms of the deed of non-
competition. The deed of non-competition by executive Directors
has taken effect from the Listing Date. The INEDs had reviewed
and confirmed that the executive directors of the Company have
complied with the deed of non-competition and the deed of non-
competition has been enforced by the Company in accordance with
its terms.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”) on 8 June 2015, which will be in force
for a period of 10 years. Under the Share Option Scheme, the
eligible participants of the scheme, including Directors, full-time
employees, advisers, suppliers and customers to our Company or
our subsidiaries, (the “Eligible Participants”) may be granted options
which entitle them to subscribe for shares, provided that the
number of shares to be subscribed under such option together with
the options granted under any other schemes initially shall not be
more than 10% of the shares in issue on the Listing Date.

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognize and acknowledge the contributions
the Eligible Participants have made or may make to the Group.
The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
an opportunity to have a personal stake in the Company with
the view to achieving the following objectives: (i) motivating the
Eligible Participants to improve their performance efficiency for the
benefit of the Group; and (ii) attracting and retaining or otherwise
maintaining on-going business relationships with the Eligible
Participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
long- term growth of the Group.
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The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted (including shares in respect of which options, whether
exercised or still outstanding, have already been granted) under the
Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of
the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number
of shares in issue on the Listing Date, excluding for this purpose
shares which would have been issuable pursuant to options which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Scheme (or any other share option schemes of the Company).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the
shares in issue from time to time (the “Maximum Limit”). No options
shall be granted under any schemes of the Company, including the
Share Option Scheme, if that will result in the Maximum Limit being
exceeded.

The Board may, at its discretion, offer to grant an option to the
Eligible Participants. An option shall be deemed to have been
granted and accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect
when the duplicate offer document constituting acceptance of the
options duly signed by the grantee, together with a remittance in
favor of the Company of HK$1.00 by way of consideration for the
grant thereof, is received by the Company on or before the relevant
acceptance date.

After receipt of the notice and the remittance and, where
appropriate, receipt of the certificate by the auditor or the approved
independent financial adviser (as the case may be) to the Company,
the Company shall allot and issue the relevant number of shares
to the grantee credited as fully paid and issue to the grantee
certificates in respect of the shares so allotted.

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued
upon exercise of the options granted under the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
(including both exercised, outstanding options and shares which
were the subject of options which have been granted and accepted
under the Share Option Scheme or any other schemes of the
Company but subsequently cancelled) to each Eligible Participant in
any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of
the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

o
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The subscription price of a share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be such price as the
Board in its absolute discretion shall determine, save that such price
will not be less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the shares
as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets
on the date of grant, which must be a day on which the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange is open for the business of dealing in securities; (ii)
the average of the closing prices of the shares as stated in the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal
value of a share.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares to
be issued under the Share Option Scheme is 188,000,000 shares,
representing 10% of the issued shares at Listing Date. No share
option was granted, exercised or cancelled by the Company since
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme.

SHARE AWARD SCHEME

On 26 January 2016, the Company adopted the share award scheme
(the “Scheme”), pursuant to which Bank of Communications Trustee
Limited served as trustee (the "Trustee”). The Company adopted the
Scheme to recognize the contribution by certain eligible participants
and to attract suitable personnel for further development of the
Group. Each of the Company and Mr. Chen, an executive Director
and controlling shareholder of the Company, may make contribution
to the trust for the purpose of vesting awarded shares to the
selected participants. Pursuant to the Scheme, the Company may
from time to time at its sole discretion subject to requirements
under this Scheme, cause to be paid any sums of money to the
Trustee and instruct the Trustee to purchase shares in the market
at prevailing market price. Mr. Chen may from time to time transfer
shares to the Trustee, for the purpose of vesting awarded shares
to the selected participants, subject to the compliance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules and all applicable laws from time
to time. The Trustee will hold the awarded shares on trust for all or
one or more of the eligible participants until such awarded shares
are vested with the relevant selected participants in accordance
with the rules of the Scheme.

The Scheme is a discretionary scheme of the Company and shall
be subject to the administration of the Board and the Trustee in
accordance with the rules of the Scheme and the trust deed. The
Board shall not make any further award of awarded shares which
will result in the nominal value of the shares awarded by the Board
under the Scheme exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The maximum number
of shares which may be awarded to a selected participant under
the Scheme shall not exceed one per cent (1%) of the issued share
capital of the Company from time to time. The Scheme does not
constitute a share option scheme within the meaning of Chapter 17
of the Listing Rules.
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The share award scheme will remain in force for a period of 10
years since the date of adoption of the Scheme. Early termination
should be done by the Board in accordance with the rules of the
Scheme. On 7 April 2016, the Board resolved to award 13,716,666
awarded shares ("Awarded Shares”) to 150 selected participants
through the deployment of the shares of the Company. All Awarded
Shares have been vested to the eligible participants. For details,
please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 18
February 2016 and 7 April 2016. Apart from that, the Company has
not granted, exercised or cancelled any Awarded Shares.

During the Year under Review, (i) no share options were granted,
and (ii) exercised or cancelled by the Company, the Board has
neither paid any funding to the trustee of the Scheme nor allowed
the trustee to purchase the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange. During the Year under Review, the trustee of the Scheme
also did not purchase any shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company, nor any of its
holding companies, its subsidiaries or its fellow subsidiaries was
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors and chief
executives of the Company, including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age, to hold any interest or short positions in the
shares, or underlying shares, or debentures, of the Company or its
associated corporations, within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance in relation to the Company’s business, to which
the Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party,
subsisting at the end of the Year under Review or at any time
during the Year under Review, and in which a Director or an entity
connected with the Director have or had, whether directly or
indirectly, a material interest, nor were there any other transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance in relation to the
Group’s business between the Company or any of the Company’s
Subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with the disclosure requirements of the continuing
connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules of the
Hong Kong, during the Year under Review, the Company has not
conducted any continuing connected transactions with connected
persons that are not exempted from annual reporting requirement
under the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements are not required to be disclosed pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. The Company confirms that it
has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed for the year ended 31 December 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, none of the Directors
was interested in any business, which competed or was likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s businesses.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed amount of public float during the Year as
required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITOR

Forvis Mazars CPA Limited (“Forvis Mazars”), formerly known as
“Mazars CPA Limited” has resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 25 November 2022 and Crowe (HK) CPA Limited
("Crowe") was appointed as the new auditor of the Company to
fill the causal vacancy following the resignation of Mazars. Crowe
has resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 13
December 2023 as auditor of the Company and Forvis Mazars was
re-appointed as the new auditor of the Company with effect from
13 December 2023 to fill the causal vacancy follow the resignation
of Crowe. On 13 August 2024, Mazars was resigned as the auditor
of the Company and Global Links CPA Limited was appointed as the
new auditor of the Company with effect from 13 August 2024 to
fill in the causal vacancy following the resignation of Forvis Mazar.
(please refer to the announcement published on the website of the
Stock Exchange on 25 November 2022, 13 December 2023 and 13
August 2024 respectively for details.)

By order of the Board

Xinming China Holdings Limited
Chen Chengshou
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hangzhou, PRC
11 March 2025
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MISSION

The Board is committed to maintaining a high level of corporate
governance and ensuring transparency in business operations, so
as to enhance the operation efficiency of the Company and protect
the interests of the Company and the shareholders in all respects.
The Board seeks to perform strict integrity and ethics in all aspects
of our business, to maintain sound risk management and internal
control system and attract high-caliber members to the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board had adopted,
applied and complied with the code provisions as set out in the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix
14 to the Listing Rules applicable at the relevant time, except the
disclosure in “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

To the Directors’ knowledge, there is no information reasonably
indicates that the Company has not complied with the code
provisions of the CG Code set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules at any time for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ending 31 December 2022, the Company will continue
to comply with the code provisions set out under the update CG
Code that had come into effect on 1 January 2022, and where
appropriate, explain on the deviations from any code provisions of
the CG Code.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct
of dealings in securities of the Company by the Directors. Upon
specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has confirmed
that they complied with the required standards set out in the Model
Code during the Year under Review.

As required by the Company, relevant officers and employees of the
Company are also bound by the Model Code, which prohibits them
to deal in securities of the Company at any time when they possess
inside information in relation to those securities. The Company
is not aware of any non-compliance with the Model Code by the
relevant officers and employees.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Structure

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised four
executive Directors, two non-executive Directors and four
independent non-executive Directors. The composition of the Board
is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Feng Cizhao

Mr. Zhou Fenli (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Mr. Cao Zhigiang (appointed on 9 August 2024)

Non-executive Directors
Ms. Gao Qiaogin
Mr. Zhou Zhencun

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Ms. Lee Yin Man (appointed on 9 August 2024)
Ms. Huang Chunlian (appointed on 9 August 2024)

The independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDS”) represent
over one-third members of the Board. The profiles of all Directors
are set out on pages 32 to 39 of this annual report. Save as
disclosed in this annual report, there is no other relationship among
members of the Board, including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship. The INEDs are highly experienced
professionals and businessmen with a broad range of expertise and
experience in accounting, finance, legal and business management
and one of them has appropriate professional accounting
qualification as required by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Board is responsible for directing and supervising affairs of
the Company. Each Director acts in good faith for the best interest
of the Company. The Directors are collectively and individually
responsible to the Company for the manner in which the affairs
of the Company are managed, controlled and operated. They had
devoted sufficient time and attention to affairs of the Company
during the Year under Review.
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At each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the
time being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three,
then the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall
be eligible for re-election. The Company may fill the vacancy at the
general meeting when a Director retires. As such, the term of office
of each Director has been governed by the Articles of Association
of the Company.

The Company has arranged appropriate liability insurance to
indemnify the Directors of the Group for their liabilities arising from
the corporate activities. The insurance coverage will be reviewed on
an annual basis.

Assistance to Directors in Decision Making

During their term of office, the Directors have been informed of the
business of the Group, the competitive and regulatory environments
in which it operates and other changes affecting the Group and the
industry where it operates as a whole. They have also been advised
on appointment of their legal and other duties and obligations as
directors of a company and updated on changes to the legal and
governance requirements of the Group and upon themselves as the
Directors.

Conduct of Meetings

The Directors are consulted and properly briefed for matters to be
included in the meeting agenda, and are supplied with relevant
information as well as reports relating to operational and financial
performance of the Group before each regular Board meeting.
At least 14 days’ notice of a regular Board meeting is given to
all Directors providing them with the opportunity to attend the
meeting. For regular Board meetings, and so far as practicable for
all other meetings, an agenda and accompanying board papers
are dispatched to all Directors at least 3 days before the meeting
to ensure that they have sufficient time to review the papers and
prepare adequately for the meeting. Senior management members
are invited to attend the meeting to address to the Board members’
queries. This enables the Board to have pertinent data and insight
for a comprehensive and informed assessment, which helps the
Board to make decision.
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The Chairman has delegated the responsibility to the company
secretary (the "Company Secretary”) of the Company for drawing
up and approving the agenda of the meeting for each Board
meeting, taking into account of any matter proposed by each
Director for inclusion in the agenda. The proceedings of the Board
at its meetings are generally monitored by the Chairman who
would ensure that sufficient time is allocated for discussion and
consideration of each item on the agenda. Equal opportunities are
given to each Director to express his/her views and concerns.

All Directors have full access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure the procedures, rules and regulations
of the Board are followed. Draft and final versions of minutes of
each Board meeting in sufficient details are sent to the Directors for
comments and records within a reasonable time after the meeting.
The minutes of the Board’s and the Board committees’ meetings
are kept by the Company, which are available for inspection by the
Directors upon reasonable notice.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company held 6 board
meetings in total and one annual general meeting. Individual
attendance of each Director and committee member at the meeting
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held in detail is as follows: E\&Eﬁf SHEMEFEEFBOT
Audit  Remuneration Nomination
The Board Committee Committee Committee AGM
Exg BERZEE yMzZeg REZEE® RREFAE
Number of Meetings held BERE 6 6 1 1 1
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairmanand ~ BREST &4 (ZERTH 6/6 N/ATER N/ATER 11 11
Chief Executive Officer) #%)

Mr. Feng Cizhao LERrE 0/6 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATEFR 11
Mr. Pu Wei EREE 0/6 N/ARGE N/ARE N/AREF 1N
Non-executive Directors FHTES
Ms. Gao Qiaogin BhELT 0/6 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATER 11
Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong BEREE 6/6 N/ATER 11 N/ATEFR 11
Mr. Zhou Zhencun AfRELE 2/6 N/ATER N/ATER N/ATEFR 11
Independent non-executive Directors B FHTES
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex TEmEE 6/6 6/6 11 11 11
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak HOBRE 6/6 6/6 11 11 11
Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred it 6/6 6/6 N/ATER N/ATER 11
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Works Performed

During the Year under Review, besides attending the Board
meetings to consider and make decision on corporate governance,
risk management, statutory compliance, accounting, finance and
business matters, the Directors had brought independent opinion
and judgment on the strategy, performance and standards of
conduct of the Company; had taken a leading role when potential
conflict of interest arose; had served on Board committees; had
approved various corporate governance related matters and
policies; had ensured that the Board maintained high standards
of financial and other mandatory reporting; carried out reviews
on matters reported by the Board committees; and had provided
adequate checks and balance to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the Company as a whole. In addition, the Board
delegates to the management of the Company certain functions,
including the implementation of general daily operation, strategies
approved by the Board, the implementation of internal control
procedures and ensuring compliance with relevant requirements
and other rules and regulations.

Other non-executive Directors have entered into letters of
appointment with the Company with a term of three years
respectively except non-executive Director Mr. Zhou Zhencun and
independent non-executive Directors Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex and
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak who has a term of one year respectively.

During the Year under Review, the non-executive Directors and
INEDs had actively participated in the Board meetings, made
independent judgments on matter of meeting and expressed their
opinions on the information or reports proposed at the meetings.

Besides attending the meetings of the Board or the committees, in
order to make timely decision and effectively implement the policies
and practice of the Company, the Board had also adopted written
resolutions signed by all Directors to make decision on corporate
affairs from time to time.

As part of the continuing process on supervising the business of
the Company, the Directors, acted by the Audit Committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”), had reviewed the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of the accounting staff of
the Company and financial reporting functions.

Independent Non-executive Directors’ Confirmation
The Company has received, from each INED, an annual confirmation
of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considered that all the INEDs are independent. The
Company is in compliance with Rule 3.10 and Rule 3.10A of the
Listing Rules relating to the INEDs.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer shall be separate and shall not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Chen is the chairman and
the chief executive officer of the Company (“CEQ"). The Group
therefore does not separate the roles of the chairman and the CEO.
The Board considered that Mr. Chen had in-depth knowledge and
experience in the property investment and development industry
and was the most appropriate person to manage the Group. Vesting
the roles of both chairman and CEO in Mr. Chen has the benefit of
ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The
Board considers that the balance of power and authority for the
present arrangement will not be impaired and this structure will
enable the Company to make and implement decisions promptly
and effectively. Besides, three independent non-executive Directors
of the Board had actively participated in the Board meetings, made
independent judgments on matter of meeting and expressed their
opinions on the information or reports proposed at the meetings.
Although Mr. Chen is the chairman and chief executive officer, the
Company believes the Board will not make any biased decisions
under Mr. Chen’s influence. The Board will continue to review and
consider splitting the roles of chairman and CEO of the Company at
a time when it is appropriate and suitable by taking into account the
circumstances of the Group as a whole.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee (the "Remuneration Committee”) and Nomination
Committee (the “Nomination Committee”) with defined roles and
terms of reference.

Audit Committee

Structure

The Company established the Audit Committee on 8 June 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules and code provision C.3.4 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The updated terms of reference
of the Audit Committee are adopted on 29 December 2015, and are
available on the websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange and the
Company. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to provide
the Board with an independent review of the effectiveness of the
financial reporting process, internal control and risk management
system of the Group, to oversee the audit process and to perform
other duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.
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All members under the Audit Committee possess diversified
business experience. The chairman of the Audit Committee has
appropriate professional qualification, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required by the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit Committee is made
up of four INEDs, namely:

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Ms. Lee Yin Man

Ms. Huang Chunlian

Functions

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee can be found on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
major duties of the Audit Committee are summarized as below:

(i)  to be primarily responsible for making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor, to approve the remuneration and terms
of engagement of the external auditor, and to deal with any
issues relating to the resignation or dismissal of such auditor,

(i) to monitor the integrity of the Company’s financial statements
and annual reports and accounts, half year reports and, if
prepared for publication, quarterly reports, and to review
material comments on financial reporting contained in the
statements and reports;

(i) to review the financial controls, risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, unless the risk committee
otherwise under the Board or the Board itself has expressly
stated that they will deal with it;

(iv) to develop and review the policies and practices of
the Company on corporate governance and make
recommendations to the Board; and

(v)  to consider and identify risks of the Group and review the
effectiveness of the decision-making processes of the Group
in crisis and emergency situations and approve the major
decisions affecting the risk profile or exposure of the Group.
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Conduct of Meetings

The Audit Committee shall meet at least twice each year. The
Company prepares and dispatches an information memorandum
that includes all relevant information about the meetings to the
Audit Committee members at least 3 days prior to such meetings.
During the Year under Review, the Audit Committee members
reviewed the information memorandum with due care and
discussed with the senior management of the Company during
the meetings. Minutes drafted by the Company Secretary were
circulated to the Audit Committee members for comments within a
reasonable time after each meeting. Executed minutes were kept by
the Company and copies of the minutes were delivered to the Audit
committee members for records.

Works Performed

The works performed by the members of Audit Committee during
the Year under Review are summarized as below:

(i) to review the annual accounts and consolidated financial
statements and interim accounts of the Group;

(i) to review, discuss and agree with the Independent Auditor in
respect of the audit fee for the Year under Review; the nature,
scope of audit and reporting obligations for the Year under
Review;

(i) to review the effectiveness of the action plan to mitigate the

Group's liquidity pressure and remove the Audit Modification;

(iv) to review and assess the adequacy and effectiveness of the

financial reporting and controls, internal control procedures

and risk management system of the Group;

(v)  to review the corporate governance practices and monitor the
progress of compliance of the CG Code and its disclosure in
the Corporate Governance Report;

to review the performance of the properties of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2022;

to review the continuing connected transactions to ensure
that they are entered into on normal commercial terms, are
fair and reasonable, and are carried out pursuant to the terms
of such agreements in respect of these continuing connected
transactions,

(viii) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the staff in accounting and financial reporting
function, and the training programmers and budget; and

(ix) to discuss with the Independent Auditor with respect to
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the
Group, compliance with the Listing Rules and other financing
reporting requirements.
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Overall, the Audit Committee is satisfied with the condition of
the Company, including the corporate governance practices,
internal control system, qualifications and experience of the staff
in accounting and financial reporting function, and the training
programmers.

One of the specific works vested upon the Audit Committee is
to develop and review the corporate governance policies and
practices of the Company. Upon reviewed by the Audit Committee
and approved by the Board, the main policies for the corporate
governance of the Company are to develop the Company itself as
a sustainable and competitive company in the business sector in
the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a whole,
with an aim for a prudent and profitable development and long-
term achievement of growth through the well-established corporate
governance principles, risk monitoring management and practices.
As a listed company in Hong Kong, the Company is obliged to follow
the principles, code provisions and recommended best practices
(if applicable) set forth in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules as the
substantial requirement on achieving high standards of corporate
governance as well as a cornerstone of the corporate governance
policy of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

Structure

The Remuneration Committee has been established on 8 June 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and code provision B.1.3 of the CG Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules with the roles to assist the Board
in reviewing and determining the framework or specific policy for
remuneration packages of the Directors and senior management,
overseeing any major changes in employee benefit structures and
considering other matters as defined by the Board.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee is
made up of four INEDS, namely:

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex (Chairman)
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Ms. Lee Yin Man

Ms. Huang Chunlian
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Functions

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are as
follows:

(i)

to make recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure of the Company for all Directors’ and senior
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a
formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration

policy;

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management including benefits in kind, pension rights,
compensation payments (including any compensation payable
for loss or termination of their office or appointment),

to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of executive and non-executive Directors; and

to review and approve compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management for any loss or termination
of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive for
the Company.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee can be
found on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or
Chief Executive Officer about their recommendations relating to
the remuneration of other executive Directors and may also obtain
independent professional advice.
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Works Performed

The works performed by the members of the Remuneration
Committee during the Year under Review are summarized as below:

(i)

(iif)

to consider and make recommendations to the Board for
endorsement of the remuneration policy of the Company
and letters of appointment of the Directors and senior
management with major terms and conditions, to comply with
the CG Code; and

to assess performance of executive Directors and consider
and make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
of the Directors and senior management during the Year under
Review.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the five
highest paid employees during the year are five Directors
(2021: four employees), details of whose remuneration are
set out in Note 8 to the financial statements. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining 0 employees
(2021: four) highest paid employees who are neither a Director
nor chief executive of the Company are set out in Note 8 to
the financial statements. During the Year under Review, the
remuneration paid to the senior management fell within the
following band:
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Directors’ fees, salaries, allowances BEE5EHS  He o EUK 2,174 2,489
and benefits in kind EWA=

Equity-settled share award expense VA B e 45 B A% 1 2R D B S - -

Pension scheme contributions RIS B FR - 105

2,174 2,594

The number of the highest paid employees who were Directors
and whose remuneration fell within the following band is as
follows:

EZAFMNFATHEZ RS BE
B2Z ABWT :

2022 2021
—EC-CfF —E-—F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %1,000,0007 7T 5 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T £ 1,500,000/ 7T - 2
5 4

R EERARAD



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERARES

Nomination Committee

Structure

The Nomination Committee was established on 8 June 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with code provisions
A.5.2 and A.5.3 of the CG Code as set out in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules with the role to lead the process and to make
recommendations for appointments to the Board, whether
as additional appointment or to fill up the casual vacancy of
directorship as and when they arise, in the light of challenges and
opportunities facing the Company, as well as business development
and requirements of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee is
made up of one executive Director and four INEDs, namely:

Mr. Chen Chengshou (Chairman)
Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak

Ms. Lee Yin Man

Ms. Huang Chunlian

Functions
The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are as
follows:

(i) to review the structure, size, composition and diversity
(including but not limited to gender, age, culture and
education background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and service term, etc.) of the Board at
least annually and make recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the strategy of the
Company;

(i) to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors; and

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for
Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive
officer, taking into account the corporate strategy of the
Company and the mix of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity needed in the future.
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Board Diversity Policy

The Nomination Committee has adopted a “Board Diversity Policy”
for the nominations of Directors to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Board deeply believes that the diversity will benefit a lot to the
Company in terms of enhancing the quality of its performance. To
achieve the goal of sustainable and balanced development, the
Company regards the increasing diversity to the strategic goals as
the key element to maintain sustainable development. The Board
adheres to the principle that “talent is priority”, and appoints the
Directors who can contribute to the diversity of the Board. The
Company devotes to find the most suitable people as the member
of committee. The Company will base on the scope of diversity,
not only including the education background, experience, skills,
knowledge and term of appointment but also including but not
limited to gender, age, culture background and race, with reference
to business model and specific needs of the Company. The final
determination is based on merit and contribution that the selected
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candidates will bring to the Board. “Board Diversity Policy” is FIRHBHARBEE - RAFHBAH EFE
publicly available on the website of the Company. As at the date of &R (BFEER - F# - REEH) WO :
this annual report, the information (including gender, age and term

of appointment) of the members of Board is as follows:

Member Gender Age Term (Note)
EEERE 14 5l Fie PR 7 4E 87 (P 5%)

Mr. Chen Chengshou Male 58 10 years and 8 months
PR 7 ST 4 A= Es 58%% 10FZ81E A

Mr. Feng Cizhao Male 49 9 years

ERBEE ES 4973, 9%

Ms. Gao Qiaogin Female 56 10 years and 4 months
BELL z 563% 106 Z4EA

Mr. Zhou Zhencun Male 63 3 years

BRFLEE ES 635% 3F

Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex Male 56 3 years and 2 months
ST S A ES 565% IFZ2MEA

Mr. Chiu Kung Chak Male 43 3years

HAREE ES 4373%, 3F

Mr. Zhou Fenli Male 55 2 months

AEH%E ES 555% 216 A

Mr Cao Zhigiang Male 40 2 months

BEEEE Es 407% 216 A

Ms. Lee Yin Man Female 41 2 months

TEFLL Z A173% 21E A

Ms. Huang Chunlian Female 29 2 months

mHEEX L Z 2973% 2@ A

Note: Up to 28 February 2025 i : EE2-ZT-RAF_-_A=-+N\H

FATEERERDR —TFFHR 69



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
ERERARES

For the purpose of implementation of the Board Diversity Policy, the
following measurable objectives were adopted:

(A) at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be
independent non-executive Directors;

(B) at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
accounting or other professional qualifications; and

(C) members of the Board shall consist of professional talents
both from PRC and Hong Kong.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has achieved the
measurable objectives in the board diversity policy. The Nomination
Committee will monitor the implementation of this policy and
review this policy, as appropriate, to ensure the effectiveness of
this policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions
that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to the
Board for consideration and approval.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee can be
found on the websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

Works Performed
The works performed by the members of Nomination Committee
during the Year under Review are summarized as below:

(i)  to formulate, consider and review the policy, procedures and
process and criteria for the nomination of the Directors and
make recommendations to the Board for its endorsement; and

(i) review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
assess on the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

Director Nomination Policy
The director nomination policy formulated by the Nomination
committee is as follows:

This policy sets out the key selection criteria and principles of the
Nomination Committee in making any such recommendations.
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Selection Criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors,
which are not exhaustive and shall be used by the Board at its
discretion, in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate
regarding the appointment of directors or re-appointment of any
existing Board member(s):

(@)

(b)

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business
and industry;

commitment in respect of time availability, interest and
attention to the businesses of the Company and its
subsidiaries;

the diversity of the candidates in all aspects with reference
to the Board Diversity Policy of the Company (as adopted and
amended by the Board from time to time), including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural/educational and professional
background, ethnicity, professional experience, independence,
skills, knowledge and length of service,

in case of a candidate for an independent non-executive
director of the Company, to assess: (i) the independence of
such candidate with reference to, among other things, the
independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules; and (ii) the guidance and requirements in relation
to independent non-executive directors as set out in Code
Provision A.5.5 of Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules and in the
“Guidance for Boards and Directors” published by the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange; and

any other relevant factors that may be considered by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time at their
discretion.

Nomination Procedures

The nomination procedures to select and recommend candidates
for the directorship of the Company can be summarised as follows:

@)

The chairman of the Nomination Committee will, upon his/her
own motion or receipt of a nomination from a Board member
(as the case may be), convene a meeting of the Nomination
Committee or circulate a resolution in writing to the members
of the Nomination Committee to consider the same in
accordance with the terms of reference.
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(b)  For filling a casual vacancy to the Board or as an addition to
the Board, the Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant
selection process (coupled with the relevant selection criteria)
to the nominated candidate and make recommendations to
the Board for consideration, and the Board will then decide
as to whether the nominated candidate shall be eligible to be
appointed as a Director of the Company.

(c) For the re-election of Directors of the Company:

the Nomination Committee will conduct the relevant selection
process and selection criteria to the director proposed to be
re-appointed and make recommendations to the Board for
consideration, and the Board will then decide as to whether the
director shall be eligible to be re-appointed as a Director of the
Company; and

If the director proposed to be re-appointed or re-elected due to
retirement by rotation under the Articles of Association of the
Company is an independent non-executive Director who has served
the Board for more than 9 years, the Nomination Committee shall
also assess whether the director has remained independent in the
context of the Listing Rules, as amended from time to time (the
“Listing Rules”) and shall be re-elected at the next general meeting
of the Company and make recommendations to the Board for
consideration. The Board will then decide as to whether the director
has remained independent in the context of the Listing Rules, and
if so, recommend the proposed re-appointment/re-election of the
director to the shareholders of the Company for consideration at
the next general meeting of the Company. According to the Code
Provision A.4.3 of the Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, the circular
of the Company relating to the proposed reappointment of such
director shall include the reasons why the Board believes that the
director is still independent and shall be re-elected.

Information of the Candidates

The proposed candidates will be required to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form by the Nomination
Committee. Candidates may be required to provide additional
information and documents, if deemed necessary by the Nomination
committee.
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MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

Basically, the Board and its committees were responsible for the
following matters during the year:

(i)  oversee the general operations of the Company;

(i) ensure effective implementation of the Board decisions and
corporate governance, with the assistance of the Company
Secretary;

(il) ensure the short-term and long-term sustainability of the
business;

(iv) lead the performance of the management of the Company in
meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor the reporting
of performance;

(v)  provide consistent leadership to the Company;

(vi) satisfy itself on the integrity of financial information and on
robustness and defensibility of the financial controls and
systems of risk management and carry out review thereon;

(vii) scrutinize the performance of the management of the
Company in meeting agreed goals and objectives and monitor
the reporting of performance;

(viiiy provide constructive proposals and help on developing
business strategic plan;

(ix) uphold high standards of corporate governance and
compliance; and

(X) participate in the process of dealing with any conflict of
interest between the Company and the Directors, his/her
associates or substantial shareholders who have material
interests in the transaction with the Company.
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During the Year under Review, the management was mainly
responsible for the following matters:

1. daily investment, management, operation and administration
of the Company;

2. comply with the rules and regulations, including the Listing
Rules, and implement corporate governance policy determined
by the Board,

3. draw the Directors’ attention on the new corporate
governance requirements;

4. organize the Board and various meetings for the Directors’
discussion;

5. prepare various reports to the Board for review and decision
making; and

6. organize training for the Directors.

During the Year under Review, the management provided all
members of the Board updates every half year in accordance with
the code provision C.1.2 of the CG Code.

MULTIPLE MATERIAL UNCERTAINTIES RELATING
TO GOING CONCERN

As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB2,389,604,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022. At 31 December 2022,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately RMB3,342,604,000. In addition, at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s borrowings of approximately RMB1,279,755,000 and the
convertible bonds issued by the Group amounting approximately
RMB268,848,000 were overdue pursuant to the borrowing
agreements which constituted events of defaults. These conditions,
together with other matters disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements, indicate the existence of material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern.
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The Management of the Company have been undertaking measures
to improve the Group’s liquidity and financial position, which
are set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.
The validity of the going concern assumption on which the
consolidated financial statements have been prepared depends
on the outcome of these measures, which are subject to multiple
material uncertainties, including (i) successfully negotiating with
various financial institutions on the renewal of or extension for
repayment of outstanding borrowings, including those with overdue
principals and interests; (ii) successfully negotiating with various
financial institutions and potential lenders/investors to identify
various options for additionally financing the Group’s working
capital and commitments in the foreseeable future; (iii) successfully
accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under development
and completed properties and speeding up the collection of
outstanding sales proceeds, and controlling costs and capital
expenditure so as to generate adequate net cash inflows; and (iv)
successfully procuring and negotiating the preliminary terms with
large property development enterprises for the sale of individual
property development project at a price deemed appropriate.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities from which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
statements.
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THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

During the course of audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2022, the Auditor had
raised concern on the Group’s ability to operate as a going concern.
In order to address this concern, the Company has, among other
things, taken the following measures, including but not limited to:

(i)  Continuously negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and
interests.

The Management has been continuously negotiating with the
Group's existing lenders on the renewal of or extension for
repayment of outstanding borrowings such that no action
will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand immediate
repayment of the borrowings with interest payments in
default, including those with cross-default terms and hope
to extend the due date and the repayment schedules of
the outstanding borrowings. As of 31 December 2022, the
outstanding amount of the total principal is RMB1,279,755,000,
and convertible bonds of approximately RMB268,848,000 were
overdue pursuant to the relevant borrowing agreements.

(i) Continuously negotiating with various financial institutions and
potential lenders/investors to identify various opportunities
for additionally financing the Group’s working capital and
commitments in the foreseeable future.

As of the date of this report, the Company intends to obtain
additional financing from other financial institutions using
completed residential properties of the Group by the end of
2024 on terms deemed appropriate by the Group.
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Accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as Shandong
Project and controlling costs and containing capital
expenditure so as to generate adequate net cash inflows for
the Group.

The Group has partially completed the pre-sale and sale of
Block 9 and no. 16 of the 4th phase of the residential zone of
Shandong Project in 2024 and continues to sell the rest of the
Block 9 and no. 16 of the residential properties.

The management of the Company thinks the said presale
and sale of proceed are sufficient for the completion of the
remaining construction work of the Block 9 and no. 16 of
Shandong Project and the costs and capital expenditure are
effectively controlled to meet the balancing of receipt and
payment of cashflow. Due to the weakened market segment,
the management of the Company strive to launch an attractive
sale promotion plan and strategy to sell the residential
properties in order to maintain the adequate cash inflow
position.

Majority of the net proceeds from the Shandong Project has
been and will be used for the repayment of the outstanding
borrowings.

Actively procuring and formulating the preliminary terms
with large property developer to sell individual property
development project or whole commercial property at an
appropriate price. The Company has been negotiating with
certain potential purchasers and have done preliminary due
diligence work regarding the sale of the whole Shanghai
property development project currently at price deemed
appropriate by the Group.

The Group is negotiating with other property development
enterprise and investors in relation to Shanghai property
development project and have done preliminary due diligence
work but since the real estate market has yet to fully
recover, such negotiations were smoothly proceeded and the
management of the Company compete for new investors to
participate in investing Shanghai and Taizhou's renovation
works in order to accelerate the sale of commercial real estate
properties more rapidly and attractively.

The management estimated that most of the net proceeds
from the Shanghai Project will be used for the repayment of
the outstanding borrowings. The sale of the Shanghai Project
might constitute a transaction of the Company subject to
announcement pursuant to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules and
subject to the relevant requirements under the Listing Rules.
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(v)  Actively accelerate the sale of its properties. The Company
intends to sell the whole or portion of commercial properties
in Taizhou and Shanghai at a reasonable price, with a view
to accelerating the recovery of working capital to improve its
liability and financial gearing conditions.

Due to the weakened market segment, the management of
the Company strive to launch an attractive sale promotion
plan and strategy to sell the residential properties in order
to maintain the adequate cash inflow position. In addition,
the management of the Company has launched the proposal
of capital re-organization and rights issue with view to fund
raising of approximately not more than HK$84.2 million to
repay the bank borrowings of the Group, also for convertible
bond and other borrowings and to maintain adequate working
capital for company’s normal operation. For details, please
refer to an announcement dated 6 December 2024.

Accordingly, the Directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to
prepare the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2022 on a going concern basis.

Notwithstanding the above, material uncertainties exist as to
whether the Group is able to obtain the necessary funding and
achieve the plans and measures above. The Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern will depend upon whether the Group
is able to obtain financing when required, while the attainability
will depend on the performance of the Group and whether the
Group is able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations and
plans to control costs, and the attainability depends on the market
performance. Despite the efforts made by the Company to address
the concern, the Auditor proposed the disclaimer of opinion. The
management of the Company has considered the Auditor’s rationale
and understood their consideration in arriving the disclaimer of
opinion.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors had participated in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills
through suitable training. These training included but not limited
to general disclosure duty related to Directors, guide on inside
information disclosure, market misconduct framework, case
analysis and other compliance trainings. The participation in such
trainings is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and appropriate.

TEERBESE

EECHESERERE

PREFC2EFETELR  BRAES
IBERREMEEF 2N REE - ZFE
BRETNEREHBEST RUEFRERET R
BHEWERSIRTSRETRANERKSR
BInrEa BB - ZFHI 22 8T RER
REMNESSELAERINE 2T -

Types of training

Directors 2= b il

Executive Directors HITEE
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board of the Company has approved and adopted a dividend
policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on 26 February 2019. The Company
considers stable and sustainable returns to the shareholders of the
Company as its goal. Pursuant to the Dividend Policy, in deciding
whether to propose a dividend and in determining the dividend
amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

(@) financial performance, cash flow position, business condition
and strategic position of the Group

(b) actual and future demand for working capital and liquidity of
the Group

(c) expected future expansion plans of the Group
(d) debt to equity ratios and the debt level of the Group
(e) retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group

(f)  the expectation of the shareholders and investors and the
norm of the industry

(g) the general market conditions
(h) any restrictions on payment of dividends
(i) any other relevant factors that the Board deems appropriate

In recommending or declaring dividends, the Company shall
maintain adequate cash reserves for meeting its working capital
requirements and future growth as well as its shareholder value.
Pursuant to the Memorandum and Articles of the Association of the
Company and all applicable laws and regulations and the factors
set out below, the Board may from time to time declare payment of
interim dividends or special dividends to the shareholders as appear
to the Board to be justified by the financial conditions and profit of
the Company. The Company in general meeting may declare final
dividends in any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

The Board of the Company will review the Dividend Policy as
appropriate from time to time.
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REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The Audit Committee of the Company (the "Audit Committee”)
consists of five independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr.
Khor Khie Liem Alex (being the chairman of the Audit Committee),
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak, Ms. Lee Yin Man and Ms. Huang Chunlian. The
consolidated interim and annual results and financial reports for
the Year under Review of the Company have been reviewed by the
Audit Committee.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration paid or
payable to the Independent Auditor of the Company, Global Link
CPA Limited (“Global”), was approximately HKD1.9 million for audit
services (2021: approximately RMB1.58 million).

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Company aims to present a clear, balanced and understandable
assessment of its financial position and prospects. Financial results
are announced as early as possible, with interim report and annual
report as well as other price-sensitive announcements and financial
disclosures published as required under the Listing Rules.

The management provides explanation, information and progress
update to the Board for it to make an informed assessment of the
financial and other issues put before the Board for approval and
consideration.

Throughout the Year under Review, the Directors had selected
appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently.
The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial accounts of the Group which give a true and fair view
and are in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.
A statement made by the Independent Auditor on their reporting
responsibilities for the Year under Review is set out in this annual
report.

The Group's auditor has issued a disclaimer of opinion on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2022 with the basis of multiple material uncertainties
relating to going concern. For details, please refer to “Management
Discussion and Analysis” and Note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements on pages 136 to 167.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
Goals and objectives

The Board acknowledges that it is the responsibility of the Board
to maintain adequate risk management and internal control
systems and to review the effectiveness of such systems on
an ongoing basis. Such risk management and internal control
systems are designed for managing risks rather than eliminating
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

Risk management policy has been established to formalize the risk
management of the Group, build up a standard and effective risk
management system and improve the ability of risk prevention,
SO as to ensure that the Group could operate in a safe and steady
environment, the operation management level could be increased
and the Group's operational strategy and target could be achieved.
The current practices will be reviewed and updated regularly to
follow the latest practices in corporate governance.

The Board has delegated the work (with relevant authorities) of risk
management and internal controls to the Audit Committee. For the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Audit Committee, on behalf of
the Board, oversaw the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.

Main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

The risk governance structure and the main responsibilities of each
level of the structure of the Group are summarised as below:

Board

o Determines the business strategies and objectives of the
Group, and evaluates and determines the nature and extent of
risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives of
the Group;

o Ensures that the Group establishes and maintains appropriate
and effective risk management and internal control systems,
and

o Oversees the management in the design, implementation
and monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems.
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Audit Committee

Assists the Board to perform its responsibilities of risk
management and internal control;

Oversees the risk management and internal control systems of
the Group on an ongoing basis;

Reviews the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group at least once annually,
which includes the reliability of financial reporting, operational
effectiveness and efficiency, compliance with applicable
laws and regulations, staff qualifications and experience, and
adequacy of relevant budget, and such review shall cover
all material controls including financial, operational and
compliance control;

Ensures the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and relevant budget of the
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions of
the Group; and

Considers major findings on risk management and internal
control matters, and reports and makes recommendations to
the Board.

Management

Designs, implements and maintains appropriate and effective
risk management and internal control systems;

Identifies, evaluates and manages the risks that may
potentially impact the major processes of the operations;

Monitors risks and takes measures to mitigate risks in day-to-
day operations;

Gives prompt responses to, and follows up the findings on
risk management and internal control matters raised by the
internal audit team or the external risk management and
internal control review adviser; and

Provides confirmation to the Board and Audit Committee (there
is no risk management committee) on the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems.
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Internal Control Management Team
o Reviews the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group;

o Reports to the Audit Committee the findings of the review
and makes recommendations to the Board and management
to improve the material systems deficiencies or control
weaknesses identified,

o Reviews the risks of major investment development projects,
and continuously improves the policies and standards for
environmental control in accordance with the COSO internal
control framework and the comprehensive risk management
framework to ensure effective risk prevention and control; and

o Based on five elements, namely environment control,
risk assessment, activities control, information and
communication, monitoring to assess the internal control
system of the Group. The methods, findings and results of the
annual review have been reported to the Audit Committee and
the Board.

Process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

As a routine procedure and part of the risk management and internal
control systems, executive Directors and the senior management
would meet at least once every three months to review the financial
and operating performance of each department. The senior
management of the key operating subsidiaries is also required to
keep executive Directors informed of material developments of the
business of the department and implementation of the strategies
and policies set by the Board on a regular basis.

The processes for identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
o Identifies risks that may potentially affect the business and
operations of the Group.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact of risk on the business and the likelihood
of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

J Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control procedures to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.
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Risk Monitoring and Reporting

o Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control procedures are in
place;

o Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
procedures in case of any significant changes; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management and
the Board regularly.

The Board has in place an internal audit function as required
under code provision C.2.5 of the CG Code. The scope of review
for the Year included expenditure management and financial
reporting process of a principal operating subsidiary. The Internal
Control Team has reported the results of internal control review
and recommendations for improvement to the Audit Committee.
The Group will closely follow up on each recommendation for
improvement to ensure that it is implemented within a reasonable
period of time. The Board, therefore, considers that the risk
management and internal control procedures of the Group are
adequate to meet the needs of the Company in its current business
environment and that nothing has come to its attention to cause the
Board to believe the risk management and internal control systems
of the Group are inadequate.

Information disclosure policy

An information disclosure policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information being captured and confidentiality of such
information being maintained until consistent and timely disclosures
are made in accordance with the Listing Rules. The policy regulates
the handling and dissemination of inside information, which
includes:

o Designated reporting channels from different operations
informing any potential inside information to designated
departments;

o Designated persons and departments to determine further
escalation and disclosure as required; and

o Designated persons authorised to act as spokespersons and
respond to external enquiries.
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REVIEW OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND THE
BOARD

The Audit Committee and the Board had reviewed the risk
management and internal control of the Group for the Year under
Review. They considered the risk management and internal
control system were effective and adequate as they allowed the
Board to monitor the overall financial position of the Group and to
provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against
unauthorised use or material financial misstatement; transactions
were executed with authorization of the management; and the
accounting records were reliable for preparing financial information
used within the business or for publication and reflecting
accountability for assets and liabilities.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the impact over the Group
against COVID-19 pandemic, which does not have a material impact
on operation.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Kam Chun Ying Francis
("Mr. Kam"), directly reports to the chief executive officer and is
responsible to the Board for ensuring that the Board procedures,
applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed and the Board
activities are efficiently and effectively conducted. He is also
responsible for ensuring that the Board is fully appraised of the
relevant corporate governance developments relating to the Group
and arranging the induction training and professional development
for the Directors.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Kam has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted an amended and restated memorandum
and articles of association on 8 June 2015, which became effective
on the Listing Date. There had been no significant changes in the
constitutional documents of the Company during the year ended 31
December 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company treats all shareholders equally with a view to
ensuring that their rights can be fully exercised and their legitimate
interests can be safeguarded and that the shareholders’ general
meetings can be convened and held in strict compliance with the
relevant laws and regulations. The governing structures of the
Company ensure equality among all shareholders, especially the
minority shareholders and that they will undertake their obligations
accordingly.
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Procedures for convening general meetings by
shareholders

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles of Association, the Board
may, whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general
meeting. Extraordinary general meetings shall also be convened
on the requisition of one or more shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of the paid-
up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general
meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or
the Company Secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

Shareholders are requested to follow Article 64 of the Articles of
Association for proposing a resolution at an extraordinary general
meeting. The requirements and procedures are set out in the
paragraph headed the “Procedures for convening general meetings
by shareholders” above.

Procedures for nominating a candidate for election as
a Director by shareholders of the Company

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles of Association, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention
to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in
writing by that person of his willingness to be elected shall have
been lodged at the Head Office or at the Registration Office of
the Company. The period for lodgment of the notices required
under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which
such notices to the Company may be given will be at least seven
days.

For details of “the procedures for nominating a candidate for
election as a Director by shareholders”, please visit the website of
the Company.
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TEERBESE
SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY IR R BER
1. Purpose 1. BH

1.1 This policy aims to set out the objective of providing
shareholders with information about the Company, so
that they can engage actively with the Company and
exercise their rights as shareholders in an informed
manner.

General Policy

2.1 Information shall be circulated to shareholders through
the financial reports of the Company (interim and
annual reports), annual general meetings and other
general meetings that may be convened, as well as by
making available all the (i) corporate communication
documents including, but not limited to, copy of annual
reports, interim reports, notices of meetings, circulars,
proxy forms (“Corporate Communication”); (ii) other
documents issued by the Company which are published
on the website of the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange for the information or action of holders of
any of its securities, including announcements, monthly
returns on movements in the securities of the Company
for each month and next day disclosure returns; (iii)
constitutional documents of the Company and Board
committees; (iv) corporate information including a list
of directors (“Directors”) of the Company; and (v) other
corporate publications including the procedures for
nominating a candidate for election as a Director by
shareholders on the website of the Company.

2.2 Effectively and timely dissemination of information to
shareholders shall be ensured at all times. Any question
regarding this policy shall be directed to the Company
Secretary or the Board of Directors of the Company.

Communication Strategies

Shareholders’ Enquiries

3.1 Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to
the Board by addressing them to the Company Secretary
by mail at Unit D, 7/F., Kee Shing Centre, 74-76 Kimberley
Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The Company
Secretary is responsible for forwarding communications
relating to matters within the direct responsibilities of
the Board to it and communications relating to ordinary
business matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to
the CEO of the Company.

3.2 Shareholders will be provided with the information of
designated contact person, e-mail address and hotlines
to enable them to raise any questions regarding the
Company.
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Corporate Communication

3.3

Corporate Communication will be provided to
shareholders in plain language and in both English and
Chinese versions to facilitate their understanding.

Corporate Website

3.4

3.5

A dedicated “Investor Relations” section is available on
the website of the Company (http://www.xinm.com.cn).
Information on the website of the Company will be
updated on a regular basis.

Information released by the Company to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange is also uploaded on the website of the
Company immediately thereafter. Such information
includes financial statements, results announcements,
circulars and notices of general meetings and associated
explanatory documents.

Shareholders’ Meetings

3.6

3.7

3.8

3.9

Shareholders are encouraged to attend general meetings
or if they fail to do so, to appoint proxies to attend and
vote at such meetings on their behalf.

Appropriate arrangements for annual general
meetings shall be in place to encourage shareholders’
participation.

The process of a general meeting of the Company will be
monitored and reviewed on a regular basis, and changes
will be made if necessary to ensure compliance with
shareholders’ needs.

The members of the Boards (especially the Chairman or
the representative of the Board committee), appropriate
management executives and external auditors will attend
annual general meetings and answer shareholders’
guestions.

Shareholder Privacy

4.1

The Company recognises the importance of shareholders’
privacy and will not disclose shareholders’ information
without their consent, unless required by law.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

Accountability and transparency are indispensable for
ensuring good corporate governance and, in this regard, timely
communication with the shareholders, including institutional
investors, is crucial. The Company considers good investor relations
as a key part of its operations and continues to promote investor
relations and enhances communications with the investors.

The Company maintains a website (http://www.xinm.com.cn)
to make the corporate information available on the internet to
facilitate its communication with shareholders and to provide the
public investors with important information, including corporate
governance structure and terms of reference of Board committees.

The Company welcomes comments from investors and
shareholders, and invites them to share their views and suggestions
at:

investorcontact@yahoo.com
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ABOUT THE ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT

In accordance with Appendix 27 — Environmental, Social and
Governance ("ESG") Reporting Guide (“ESG Reporting Guide”)
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing
Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), Xinming China Holdings Company (the “Company"”) and
its subsidiaries (collectively as the “Group” or “we”) is pleased to
present its Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the "Report”) for the year ended 31 December 2022. In
this report, the Group has strictly followed the mandatory disclosure
requirements and “comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG
Reporting Guide to disclose ESG matters during the reporting period.
The Report shall be published both in Chinese and English on the
website of the Stock Exchange. Should there be any discrepancy
between the Chinese and the English versions, the Chinese version
shall prevail.

Scope and duration of the report

The information presented in this ESG Report covers the period
from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (the "Reporting Period”,
“Year” or "2022"). The information contained in this report was
collected and compiled through various channels, including but not
limited to the Group’s internal control policies, factual evidence of
ESG-related measures implementation, key performance indicators
("KPIs") as set out in the ESG Guide, and quantitative data on the
Group’s annual performance in its business operations and ESG
management. The scope of the Report during the Year is the same as
the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (“Last Year”,
or “2021"), including:

o The Group's headquarter office in Hangzhou,

o Shandong Xingmeng Property Limited (“Shandong Xingmeng”)
Office; and

o Shandong Xingmeng project company and its property
development projects.

RE UEBRER/RMES

BERRE - HERER|E

RIBEABAEX AR AR ([HRFT])F
FEMMAA(I ETREN]) WER27 — 125
e kEE([ESG]) MEIESI ([ESGHE IR
511) - SRR BEERERAR(TARRL) R
EWB AR (GBI AEE Ik FHMI)RAR
EHE T HFTA=T—HLFED

RE - g REIBHME ([ESGHE | k[ AN
E1) o EAHRED  NEBECBERKBEESG

WETE S| PTE A R B TR E K[ 18 T LR
MG > HMEHANESCEIREITIREE -
AR DA R 3 R B3I B B A P A U o e
ERMRARE EIRDR - BUAR RS -

BEE 3 &5 B & 3R &5 HA
AESGHATZMMER RE T _—_F—A
—BEF-_—_F+ZA=T—HHBE( K
S IARFE IS T -—F]) - KRS
PR BRI ERBBRICZE  BIFEAT
PRIANEEE R SRS ISR ~ $ATTESGARRR
MR EEZIE - ESGIES|FrEl M R EUE
Z(ITKPL) » AR ASEBEFEE % B RESG
EEFTENTFERRES(CEE - AFEHR
LHEE T - —F—HAF—HBE_T_-—F
+ZA=+t—HBHE(EFEIRI 2T =—
F IR B

H

o  AEBEBURMMNHAEHAE

e WURHEBEBEXREERAB(NLUERHE
BDMAE &

AINEYEFATIER -
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Reporting standards

The Group has prepared, evaluated and presented relevant
information in this report with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide.
Details regarding corporate governance are separately contained in
the section headed “"Corporate Governance Report”. The following
four principles outlined in the ESG Reporting Guide have been
incorporated into this Report.

1. Materiality: The ESG Report should cover the Company’s
prominent impact on the economy, environment and society,
or such scopes that substantively influence stakeholder
assessment and decisions. We identified material sustainability
issues and disclosed relevant information through stakeholder
engagement.

2. Quantitative: The ESG Report should disclose KPIs in
guantitative terms. We disclosed KPIs in the Report with
guantitative measures whenever feasible and provide
explanatory notes stating the standards, methodologies,
assumptions and source of conversion factors used in
calculating the relevant data.

3. Balance: The ESG Report should present a balanced picture
of each of these issues in an objective manner, be they
positive or negative, to ensure a comprehensive picture of
performance is reasonably reflected. The Report identified and
elaborated both the achievements and the challenges faced
by the Group in the Year.

4.  Consistency: The ESG Report should disclose information in a
consistent manner so that stakeholders can analyse and assess
the Company’s performance in different periods of time. The
company should explain the change(s) to any of its methods.
Unless otherwise specified, the Report adopted consistent
methodologies to compare the KPIs of different areas for
the Year and 2021, so that stakeholders can compare our
performance.
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BUILDING A SUSTAINABLE FUTURE

Sustainability governance structure

To integrate sustainable development management into the
Group's corporate governance framework, the Group established
an ESG Committee in 2018, which is primarily responsible for
annual ESG data collection and reporting matters, identifying and
assessing potential ESG-related risks of the Group, and developing
and monitoring business-related ESG objectives. The Board is the
ultimate decision-making body for the sustainable development
framework and bears overall responsibility for sustainability matters.
It oversees the Group’s sustainable development direction and
strategy, ensures the effectiveness of risk management (including
climate and ESG-related risks) and internal control systems, and
establishes and reviews sustainability goals. The ESG group also
reports to the Board on a regular basis of the progress of ESG work
and targets for review and assessment. Set out below are members
and individual responsibilities of our ESG group:

Supervisors and members of project company
HERBEERKRE

Responsible for collecting the ESG
data of various project companies,
managing and ensuring compliance
with the laws and regulations in
implementing the project
BEWESIEE ARMNESCEE - &
%jﬂﬁ{%lﬁi B e 8 <7 & AR R
ER

EERIEEBEEBKE

Responsible for collecting the ESG
data of the Group and the project
company's office
BEWEAEEAREERAPAE
FIESGE

EZEEBHE

data

Responsible for following up the
ESG data on a regular basis, and
promptly provide feedback about
the ESG indicators to the risk
control director through collating,
summarizing and analyzing the

8 EFHREESCEIE - IBEL S
- REHESGIEIRR M RIT 45

R HERERBRES

BUAFEBEARAR
IRERRERER
BRTBAKERREEMALSEENDEE
R AEEB T~ \FH-KZ TESG/N
M TEAEFEESGHBEUENRERE
Bl R FHE AN SR EESGHBMNBEERRE - AR
HEREREXGHBNESGRER - E28 R
AREERABNRKARENL XBARA
SERREFENEREC -EFTREET
AEBOAFEERD AMER - FEERER
B2 (BERIEMESGHRRER ) M A RREE R
BB - ARSIE SRR AREERE
1% - ESG/VAT EHIAEEGERESCTIER
BIREER - UERE RF[HZA - KA
HPIMESGNER B RARIBE

Members of the comprehensive management department of the Group and the project department

Members of the risk control department

Responsible for coordinating overall
ESG risk control and maintaining
communication with the Board to
integrate ESG with the Company's
overall goals, so that the Board
members can understand new
opportunities and allocate
resources reasonably
BERERWESGRARILIE - BEF
SREEE - LESGEAREEEIT
HES  FEFEKE TR
B ABRSIRER

HEAPEZERARAR
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ESG risk management

The Board and the risk management committee have jointly
developed the Group’s risk management policies. Each department
and person in charge of risk are required to report the Risk
Management and Internal Control Evaluation Checklist to the
internal control and audit department every six months, which will
then analyze and provide opinion on the list to identify significant
risks that may potentially affect the business and operations of the
Group, and report the same to the risk management committee
to determine the risk exposure as a whole. Any material ESG risks
identified in the process will also be notified to the ESG group to
further assess the potential impact of the risks. Subsequently,
we determined the risk response policies and internal control
procedures to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks. For details of
risk management and internal control, please refer to the section
headed "Corporate Governance Report”, and for details of the
principal risks and uncertainties we have identified, please refer to
the section headed “Directors’ Report”.

Stakeholder engagement

The Group values stakeholder engagement and actively maintains
close communication with various stakeholders through diverse and
open communication channels. By understanding and responding
to stakeholders’ needs and expectations regarding both internal
and external interests, the Group formulates its sustainable
development strategy and identifies ESG risks and opportunities.
Through these efforts, the Group is committed to creating lasting
value for its stakeholders.

Stakeholder engagement Main concerns

RiR - #HEgRELRARER

ExelipRERZEeC AR EAKHE
MEREERER - SHPIHEARAE AT,
FREANZESFS L B(RREERANRE
Z2HEBE) ARBHONEBER - &5
AREAKEXESREEBNEAEFECE
REE  YRARBREEZESER  ETE
BERKTF o W5 ST EREFMERNESCR
BRI RESG/MABTR » # — AT A E R K
MEBEZE LR ERETRERESETER
RAEPEIEIR F PARD LE - @R KR ERE R -
ERRREERAERFRR2MAIEE
AmEE] & MARMEFRNEZREBR K
TEEEEABF2HIEFEREE] & -

KhE2H

AEBEGERNENZE  BBEZT(E
ARMBBRES BERESKOHERBTY
BB o BB T BRI D E R E B R R HNED
MNEHEETNFENRE  EMREANEE
H) R RRAE SRR B - PEE A SR B MIESGE i 2
HiB - B RN EBRE S AIEEANEE -

Main communication channels

BENS R FTERBEEE TEEBEE
Internal Shareholders o Return on investment o Periodic reporting
stakeholders and investors & B R RS
ASIEHE BRRIEES . Financial stability and e Annual General Meeting
sustainability BREBFAE
BERRTE RIFE e Company's website and email
e Information disclosure and N AL & B
transparency
AR MBRAE
. Corporate governance
NAElER
] Risk control
[ B 42 il
Employees o Employment rights and interests e Regular meetings and training
8T B R B RIEI

o Compensation and benefits

oM ke Al

o Occupational safety and health

BEZ2REE

o Training and career development e

BEIRERER
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Main concerns

R HERERBRES

Main communication channels

B ENSH FEREEE FTEEBEEE
External Customers Property quality o Customer service hotline and
stakeholders =E EELE email
HBEGDE Protection of customer privacy B RIGELR K BT
and rights o Direct communication
BFEBAL N ERSARE BEEER

Suppliers
HtrEm

Professional
organizations
HEMR

Government and
regulators
BT R BE & e

communities
o)

Business ethics
EmEBEE

Supplier management
HpERER

Honesty and integrity
WIS FOR

Environmental protection
BARE

Environmental protection and
social responsibility
RERERMEEE
Standard ethics and business
practices

REBEVIRT REFFE

Compliance with laws,
regulations and policies
BIPAE - ROIRBUER
Occupational health and safety
BERREEZD

People’s welfare

AEfEE

Employment

MEBR

Tax payment in accordance with
laws

BOE TR

community engagement
timse
Care for the environment
EERE

o Customer satisfaction survey
BEFmEERE

o Public bidding
NHRABE

o Standard procurement
procedures
BENRIBIZT

° Direct communication
HEEER

° On-site inspection
EinE 5

. E-mail and telephone
B K E A

. Meetings

[
= A

. Questionnaires and online
participation
DESYE M

. Telephone discussion
Rk

. Monitor compliance with
relevant laws and regulations
ESSESTAE R A ARG

. Routine reporting and tax
payments
77 3R 25 AN 75 S0 40

. E-mail and telephone
RS

. Company’s website
NGIF b

. Mass media
AREE
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ESG materiality assessment

To continuously improve the Group’s sustainability performance,
during this Reporting Period, the Group continued to implement
annual reviews and conduct materiality assessments. This helps
us identify and prioritise matters of importance to stakeholders,
gradually building their trust in us. Selected stakeholders were
invited to participate in electronic questionnaire surveys to
determine their views on key ESG issues of the Group. A materiality
assessment was conducted to help more accurately and objectively
understand the concerns and changing demands of various
stakeholders, further advancing the Group’s sustainable business
strategy. The specific process for materiality assessment is as
follows:

Collect stakeholders’

L) feedback E?E%;';

= : BERHEER

We collected the scores on
materiality of various ESG
issues listed from
stakeholders through online

Through peer benchmarking
analysis and with reference to
the ESG Reporting Guide, we
identified 28 ESG issues that are

issues based on

We prioritized the ESG

stakeholders’ feedback and
discussion results of

ESGEE M4

ATEEBCAEENAHERRIERR
AEBERREHANBEEREETRT - 5
REEWTE  BHRMHMDREF2EH
FEROEEETEAER  KMBEFET
BHEHRMNEE - ETHRNEIRLR
HEFREAS  BEHHEHAREEESG
BMREENE S THAEEETEE T
& BREERREE M T RS FIEES
BREE AR F kB E— S REEED
A BRI ER  ABE BT (AR

-

We prepared the materiality
matrix, summarized ESG
issues and disclosed the
information in the Report.

relevant to the Group's business questionnaire surveys. management. wRBZUSEEE - 8
which may have impact on BiRR EMBRE TS BERNERBREEEN 4EESGRERE + WAEATREF

BN E L FFIRBIAESG
HENERRZENY -

decision-making process.
BBETEEESTREE
ESGIRE1E5!  #BBIEAS
E XS ERL ARG E
TR BH28TBESGERE ©

BIEBEF ©
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The chart below summarizes the results of this materiality

assessment:

High &

Issues of
general importance
—REZUEE

Importance to stakeholders
HABRBESTNEEY

B 48 44

Vs vH

Materiality assessment matrix

EEMEER

Issues of
moderate importance
REBZEHE

16120
DD

R HERER/RBRESE

AEREFHERE

Issues of
high importance

19121122023

Low {&

1 Air emissions
2= THE

2 Greenhouse gas emissions
BEREEHEN

3 Hazardous waste
BEEEY

4 Non-hazardous waste

5 Energy Use
BEIR(E A

6 Water resources
KER

7 Materials used
PEHE A

8 Protection of the environment and

natural resources
RERRRRAEIR
9 C||matechange
RIREL

Importance to the Group

HEAFENEEY

10 Employee diversity and equal
opportunities
BTt MEEKs

11 Employee compensation
BIRFSE

12 Occupational health and safety
BEREENT R

13 Employee development/training
BT R E

14 lllegal labor
TEEBT

28 Promotion of local employment
BB EE

Operations
=¢
15 Supply chain selection and
monitoring
e B IR AN BE AT
16 Suppliers’ environmental and
social risks
HER R IR IR R g R
17 Environmental friendliness of
products and services
EE o M AR TS IR IR R A 1

High =

Product liability
EmEM

18

Product health and safety
EnEEREZS
Customer satisfaction
BEPMEE

Marketing and promaotion
EIHAIEE

Intellectual property

AR ERE

Customer information and privacy
BEEERFALRE

Product and service labels
EmMREIEE

Anti-corruption
RES

24
25

26

27

HAFEZERARDLR

Corrupt practices
[BERAT R
Anti-corruption policy
RESBE
Anti-corruption training
RESE

community support
T
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According to the materiality matrix, ESG issues positioned in the
upper right corner of the matrix are considered relatively important
by both the Group and external stakeholders. Currently, employee
diversity and equal opportunities, occupational health and safety,
employee development/training, illegal labor practices, employee
compensation, customer satisfaction, product and service labeling,
intellectual property rights, and customer information and privacy
have been identified as issues of high importance for the Group. The
issues above are classified as key elements in driving the Group's
sustainable business development, and we will elaborate on them
further in the following sections.

Report feedback

We consistently value stakeholder opinions and consider them
fundamental to our continuous improvement. Both Chinese and
English versions of this Report have been uploaded to the website
of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. If you have any comments or
suggestions regarding this Report and our sustainability efforts,
please write to Unit D, 7/F, Kee Shing Centre, 74-76 Kimberly Road,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

CREATING VALUES FOR THE ENVIRONMENT

The Group understands the urgency of climate change and other
environmental crises, and therefore is committed to promoting
green, low-carbon practices by integrating environmental
protection into daily operations and minimizing environmental
impact in regular operations to fulfill its commitments. We strictly
comply with People's Republic of China laws and regulations
regarding air and greenhouse gas emissions, water and land
pollution, and waste generation, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Energy Conservation Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic
of China, and the Regulations on Environmental Protection
Management for Construction Projects. During the Year, we are not
aware of any significant violations of environmental protection laws
and regulations.
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Energy and gas emissions management

The Group’s main business is property development, with all real
estate development work carried out by third-party contractors,
therefore the Group does not directly generate air, water, and
construction waste pollution from construction work. For the Year,
the Group’s main energy consumption and gas emissions sources
were from vehicle fuel consumption and electricity consumed by
office, and tenants in the commercial areas. Due to the inclusion
of electricity consumption at some construction sites for the
2021 data, the Group’s total greenhouse gas emission intensity
decreased compared to 2021.

R HERERBRES

Rk REHEREE

AEBEEEBAMENE  BUAEREL
EREIRUME-FNARBAE  BUE
SERAERELRRETRMIIBME
FoRREEENSR - AFEAREGE
2 88 IRH FE R R B HOR R R E 8 2 P MO A
BABCZRBEREFMNAE - AR -F
T FHEEEHSEITHNAEE &
—To—FALk ASEBEREFREE

BEBHED -

Energy and gas emissions’ 2 2022 2021 Unit
RERRRBEHRERR 2= —E-—F Bf
Gas emissions

REHER

Nitrogen oxides (NO,) 1.09 1.61 kg
TELHINO) DF
Sulphur oxides (SO) 0.04 0.04 kg
e tso,) Na
Particular matter (PM) 0.07 0.11 kg
RZFERL(PM) Na

Greenhouse gas emissions

BEREHEN

Scope 1 (Direct emissions) 8.19
#HE(EER)

Scope 2 (Indirect emissions) 354.97
#E2(HEHER)

Total emissions (Scopes 1 and 2) 363.16
B E (R &2)

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions 2.08

BEREBHRETE

! Regarding the disclosure of air and greenhouse gas emissions, the
referenced materials include, but are not limited to, the "Greenhouse
Gas Protocol: Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard”
published by the World Resources Institute and the World Business
Council for Sustainable Development, the “Notice on Managing
Greenhouse Gas Emission Reporting for the Power Generation Industry
2023-2025" issued by China’s Ministry of Ecology and Environment,
the global warming potential values from the “Fifth Assessment
Report” published by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change,
and the “"How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

2 As our real estate development projects are outsourced to the
contractors, the contractors’ data on partial construction projects has
not been collected and disclosed. There was no diesel-consuming
vehicle used in 2022.

8.12 tonnes of CO, equivalent
R —F(CiEE
1,237.57 tonnes of CO, equivalent
R —F(CiEE
1,245.69 tonnes of CO, equivalent
R —F(CiEE
8.96 kg of CO, equivalent/m?
DT —R(CREE PR

! AHEERMAERBHRNEE  2RNE
FHEFRE DR R E R TT AT St R A5
BERIBEESTENCOREREREATE
T EEEHERERE)  PEERREY
BHEKEANMY — T =F2 T _RFH
BETXEEREHMREEREHAIE) 5
BERAFEEREE MR INEFNZ B M
BHECE LRFHE IR E )R 2 IRTTE 7T 82
B R 2 P EERE - HERE
RWmE M - REMBRAERIERERE
CIbA

2 BRI E L ER % TR T AGER
HOEB TIRIAE LA R A BB R A2 T LAMR
ERWE T FWESRYHRE
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—FEEEENOET TiH A

Due to the inclusion of electricity consumption at some construction B ®%
ES T —FHELk AEERRERE

i
sites for the 2021 data, compared with 2021, the Group's total &= @ £
=

energy consumption intensity decreased. BmEZEFAD

Energy and gas emissions? 3 2022 2021  Unit

EERREHERRKRER —BCF —E-—F EBy

Energy consumption

BERE#E

Unleaded petrol 25.57 24.79  MWh

|man JK EL B

Liquefied petroleum gas 5.43 3.78 MWh

AL B RR JK EL B

Diesel oil - 0.03 MWh

By JK ELBF

Electricity purchased 622.43 2,028.47 MWh

SNEEE JK LB

Total energy consumption 653.43 2,057.07 MWh

BERBEEEE JK LB

Intensity of energy consumption 3.75 14.80 kwh/m?

BEIRERERE FRE 7K

2 As our real estate development projects are outsourced to the 2 BRREMKEHERZE TIRINA T ARER -
contractors, the contractors’ data on partial construction projects has HER D T2 B AR MEIE R T AU
not been collected and disclosed. There was no diesel-consuming EREE —E-FWEFHALME -

vehicle used in 2022.

3 The calculation of unit conversion refers to the “Energy Statistics  ° BUBMENGEREZN2ZEEERE H#®
Manual” issued by the International Energy Agency. R EERF AT FM) -
Water management AKER

The Group is committed to green and low-carbon practices. AREBEHHEEHZERI - HRIBEEELH
Regarding domestic sewage and construction wastewater generated — FTE AR £ EF/KFZ R iE LK - KME
during project construction, we require contractors to implement KA iE TR EREE K REE - 8
wastewater prevention measures during construction, including  ¥& & & BE /KU b LA U &= & JA & E BE KBS
setting up wastewater sedimentation tanks to collect various types 3G )ZBRINEFA - UHERKFENUYR
of industrial wastewater for dust suppression on site, and require  LEERZKMA B EUH TS RH B E - i
timely removal to prevent groundwater contamination from rainfall, {REEB BB D BRBFELZZEIRFA -
ensuring effective reduction of resource consumption and proper MEMMINREFERHE E THARAKHE
recycling. We also strengthen awareness of water conservation # ' B 7 R#F A= 8L _E&/KIBRSN - JRnsg
among employees through promotional and educational efforts, REMB/KEBESDERBR - W 7AEE
including posting water-saving reminders in offices and enhancing FTBRIF - MR BEEFEKE - XFE -
inspections of all faucets to ensure they are tightly closed,  E 7 SKEE KR 7 B I & (F ] R #E o
with immediate handling of any leaks to reduce overall water

consumption. During the Year, we did not encounter any difficulties

in sourcing suitable water.
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Due to the inclusion of water consumption at some construction HR-ZZE-Z—FHEEFEILO I ThRE
sites for the 2021 data, compared to 2021, the Group's water /K& » BT - —Ft » NEEFEKEZE
consumption intensity decreased. BT -

Data on water use 2022 2021 Unit

AKEE —E-= —E-—-F By

Total water consumption 18,327.00 29,959.00 m?

wiEkE S K

Water consumption intensity 0.11 0.22 m3/m?

FEKEE SRS T K

Waste management EEEYEE

The Group adheres to compliant waste disposal and is committed
to recycling practices. For solid waste generated during project
construction, including domestic and construction waste, sealed
transportation is required. Waste must not only be collected
separately but also stored in waterproof garbage bins to prevent
exposure, scattering, or leakage, with final collection and
disposal handled daily by the municipal environmental sanitation
department. The Group also recycles collected waste based on its
usability; for example, construction waste such as broken bricks and
residue can be reused as foundation filling materials, while other
materials like timber, floor mortar, concrete, metal products, steel,
plastic products, and hardware must be transported to designated
locations for processing. When applicable, waste is sent to recycling
stations or waste collection points for recycling implementation.

For domestic waste from daily office activities, including but not
limited to non-hazardous waste such as office paper waste, proper
classification and disposal are implemented. Our operations do
not generate significant packaging materials or hazardous waste.
To continuously strengthen waste management, we will gradually
enhance paperless office operations, including moving document
processing and expense approval processes online to reduce office
paper usage and consumption, thereby conserving forest resources.

AEERFERREREMU RN ERRER
A BREERIHMEENEREY
BREERNRMBEENREEHBIETER
AEZELRE TEFEDHEKRE  TFE
R BEKRE R TR T RAR BT - BUR
H2RWABEREE - KRBT BEREFES
BREEURERE - AEENTREEZEYA
EREE  KRERETEEMNR  flmE
SEEER - RO REFNERERESEN
EYE - BEMBREOMBOIMA i
Wi RRLT BHEM WM ZBH
o NAEEYR - AREEEEE ARG
2o BEMA - EeENR DD @k sk RE
MR VERTE - BITEREM -

HRRRBEERAEHNETLL  BFEE
TERBAHENEASESTEEY T8
HENBELEE - BFEZFLAEELEAXN
MEBERNIBEEEEY - BREMARERY
EIE BRABELS IR AEN BRI EE
B BREEAXNRENERELFRAES
BERLRE - OB WA AR 6E R ME
R UERRIMARETR
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Due to the decrease in the number of diners in canteen and a
reduction in food waste produced in 2022, compared to 2021, the
Group’s non-hazardous waste intensity decreased considerably.

RSB CEREMEALAL  BHA
L BB —FAAK  AEERBEEY
T TRRS -

Waste* 2022 2021 Unit

EEEY* —E-_—F —E-—F EBy
Non-hazardous waste

BEREY

Office waste paper 0.12 0.33 tonnes
Fi/NE 3 N

Food waste 0.20 4.25 tonnes

5§ N

Total amount of non-hazardous waste 0.32 4.58 tonnes
BEREDEE N
Non-hazardous waste intensity 0.002 0.033  kg/m?
BEEZEMEE YN T SN
4 Since we outsource our real estate development projects to  * A H A 5 55 EE B 3 TAR S Fof iy

contractors, the contractor’'s data on some projects cannot be
collected and disclosed. Since other property companies are
responsible for processing non-hazardous waste including but not
limited to domestic garbage, relevant data cannot be collected.

Environment and resources management

The Group is committed to responding to the nation’s carbon
neutrality goals and aims to utilize resources efficiently and
effectively. We strictly implement current emission reduction
and energy-saving measures, striving to minimize losses during
production processes, achieve sustainable development, and create
long-term value for stakeholders and communities. To minimize
the environmental impact of property development projects,
we engage professional environmental consultants to conduct
environmental impact assessments for approval regarding air
emissions, wastewater, solid waste, environmental risks, noise,
and ecological impacts during construction and after project
completion. If construction sites undergo significant changes in
scale or nature, we must submit updated environmental assessment
reports to government agencies for approval and report to relevant
local government authorities. All projects will only proceed with
development after securing necessary approvals.
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To minimize air pollution, noise pollution, wastewater, and waste
emissions, during the tender process, we require partnering
contractors to comply with China’s relevant environmental
protection and safety laws and regulations, and prioritize
contractors who propose construction plans that incorporate
technologies for reducing environmental pollution. Furthermore, we
make regular inspections to the construction site to verify whether
the performance of the contractor meets our requirements, so as to
ensure that we are able to identify problems in a timely manner and
make rectification immediately. Upon project completion, the Group
will apply to relevant government authority for the acceptance
of environmental inspection to ensure that all requirements are
compliant with national and project standards. The Group is
aware of the inevitable generation of exhaust and noise during
the construction process, so we are committed to requiring the
outsourced contractor to take the following effective measures to
reduce carbon emission generated from projects and reduce the
impact on the environment.

Exhaust processing

o In order to prevent dust pollution during the construction
process, a closed fence shall be built up around the
construction site during construction, and a dust-proof net
shall be installed outside,

o The roads at the construction site shall be paved or mobile
sprinklers, movable fog guns, tower crane sprays and other
equipment shall be in place to spray the ground to reduce
dust;

o Application of airtight storage or fence and use of dust-proof
cloth to cover building materials that are easily to generate
dust;

o A car washing platform shall be set up to clean the transport
vehicles in time to prevent from dusting due to mud and dust.
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Noise management

o Low-noise equipment shall be used as far as possible, the
speed of excavators, loading and unloading vehicles to enter
and leave the site shall be limited;

o Reasonable arrangement and allocation processes shall be
applied to the construction hours to avoid simultaneous
and long-term operation of a large number of high-noise
equipment;

o Temporary sound barriers shall be equipped around the
construction site to reduce the impact of noise on the
surroundings;

o Rational construction hours shall be planned to avoid working
during lunch break, and prohibit construction after ten o'clock
in the evening and during special periods (such as periods
during high school entrance examination and college entrance
examination).

Sewage treatment

o A sedimentation tank shall be set up at the vehicle washing
platform, and sewage may only be discharged or reused after
treatment;

o Oil-repellent pool shall be set up in the canteen, and sundries
and grease shall be cleaned on a regular basis to prevent
waterway blockage and secondary pollution of water sources;

o Toxic or hazardous wastes for earthwork backfilling are not
allowed to avoid contamination of groundwater and soil
quality.

Green office

The Group's main energy emissions come from daily office
operations. To fulfill our commitment to environmental protection,
we are dedicated to reducing operational emissions as our goal,
including but not limited to greenhouse gas emissions, energy
consumption, water consumption, and waste generation, etc. We
actively implement various energy-saving and emission-reduction
measures across our offices in different locations, doing our utmost
to gradually reduce exhaust emissions, greenhouse gas emissions,
waste generation, and water consumption, thereby contributing to
environmental protection. Meanwhile, the Group has established
environmental protection requirements for all suppliers, including
third-party contractors responsible for real estate development
projects, to reduce the carbon footprint of our supply chain.
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Carbon reduction and energy conservation

Employees are encouraged to close electronics and office
equipment not in use and set up automatic turn-off time
for printers and screens in the office in advance to reduce
energy consumption;

Light emitting diode (“LED”) lamps were applied to office
in Hangzhou to improve resources efficiency and reduce
electricity consumption;,

Employees are encouraged to reduce arrangement for
business travel and try to adopt video or phone meetings to
reduce carbon emission;

Signs or notices on the importance of energy conservation
are posted in the office area to improve employees’
environmental awareness;

Water saving notices are posted in restrooms and pantries
to remind employees to turn off the taps after use to avoid
water waste.

Waste reduction and reuse

Employees are encouraged to use electronic tools such
as email and instant messaging software to communicate
internally and externally to reduce paper consumption;

Employees are encouraged to use recyclable cups and
cutlery instead of disposable cutlery;

Employees are encouraged to print or photocopy on both
sides;

Employees are encouraged to reuse stationery such as old
envelops and folders.
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Climate change

The Group deeply understands the urgency of climate change, and
in response to society’'s growing concern about climate change
and related issues, the Group has increased its attention to the
risks brought by climate change and is committed to addressing
these challenges and closely monitoring the potential impacts of
climate change on our business and operations. Following the
recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (“TCFD") framework, the Group identifies and conducts
climate risk assessments and strives to manage potential climate-
related risks that may affect our business activities.

Physical Risks

Extreme weather events such as typhoons, heavy rain, storms,
and extreme cold or hot weather may pose safety risks to the
Group's real estate properties and project works and affect project
development progress. To address the potential impacts of physical
risks, the Group has developed various emergency response plans
according to the Environmental and Safety Civilization Management
System. These plans clearly define the emergency organization
structure and responsibilities of each member, assess potential
risks based on extreme weather conditions, and design emergency
handling procedures and rescue plans to minimize potential impacts
on our operations.

Transition Risks

To actively achieve carbon neutrality goals, governments in project
locations may establish new environmental regulations and stricter
emission requirements. To comply with stricter regulations, we
expect our operational costs for projects will increase. In response,
from local project managers to the board of directors, we regularly
monitor existing and emerging climate-related trends, policies,
and regulations to avoid increased costs, regulatory fines, or
reputational damage due to delayed responses.
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CREATING OPPORTUNITIES FOR OUR
EMPLOYEES

Employment practices

The Group firmly believes that talents are the cornerstone
of maintaining sustainable development, so it attaches great
importance to the contributions of its employees to us. At the
same time, it is committed to providing diversified training
and development opportunities for each employee, striving to
create a healthy and safe working environment for employees,
and promoting the common development of the company and
employees. The Group strictly abides by the relevant employment
laws and regulations, such as Labor Law of the People’s Republic of
China, Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law
of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases, and Social Insurance Law of the People’s
Republic of China. During the Year, the Group was not aware of
any material violation of related laws and regulations relating to
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.

Recruitment, promotion, and dismissal

The Group continuously optimizes its labor management system
and human resources management framework, and it has
established a sound employee rights supervision and protection
system, including HR policies such as the Employee Handbook to
attract and retain talent. To ensure fair and transparent recruitment
and promotion processes, we recruit talent through job fairs,
recruitment websites, internal promotions, or internal referrals.
The Group strictly complies with all laws and regulations, adhering
to equal employment principles to ensure all employees legally
enjoy various rights and fair treatment. The Group values talent
and believes that regular performance evaluations and reviews
provide opportunities for employees to discuss their performance
and career development with supervisors, which helps enhance
employee competitiveness and explore unlimited potential.
Employees who perform exceptionally well in evaluations and meet
promotion criteria will have opportunities for position advancement
and salary increases under fair competition.
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The Group does not tolerate unfair and illegal dismissals, ensuring
dismissal procedures are fair and transparent, with written notice
provided to employees within the legally required notice period.
Employees have the right to freely choose resignation under
legal conditions. Employees must complete work handover and
resignation procedures after providing legally required notice
periods and obtaining department leader approval. We also conduct
exit interviews with departing employees to help management
better understand employee needs and improve the overall work
environment.

Compensation and benefits

To further attract and retain experienced talented professionals,
the Group continuously improves its employee compensation and
benefits system, offering fair and competitive market remuneration
packages that align with employees’ experience, qualifications, and
titles. Additionally, we conduct annual performance evaluations
and salary reviews based on market conditions, company and
individual performance, and provide discretionary year-end
bonuses, directly reflecting employees’ value contributions to the
Group. The Group cares for its employees and has established
a series of benefits including: meal allowances, transportation
allowances, communication allowances, and holiday bonuses on
public holidays. We implement a 5-day work week, and in addition
to statutory annual leave, we provide sick leave, personal leave,
national statutory holiday leave, marriage leave, maternity leave,
bereavement leave, and work injury leave based on individual
needs. We focus on employees’ physical and mental development
and actively promote work-life balance by regularly organizing
birthday celebrations and employee trips to continuously enhance
employee motivation, sense of belonging, and team cohesion,
which helps improve work efficiency in the long run.

Diversity, equal opportunity, and anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to creating a diverse workforce and healthy
work environment, strictly complying with all laws and regulations
while adhering to equal employment principles. We ensure all
employees legally enjoy various rights and fair treatment, protecting
the values, religious beliefs, and privacy of employees of different
nationalities, races, genders, and cultural backgrounds from
infringement.
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RE - dHEREAHREE

As of 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 40 employees,
with all of them working in Mainland China. The breakdowns of
them by different categories are set out as follows:

BE—_ZT—-—

F+-A=+—8 AEEHK

BAOBKET 2HRP RN - 21
MEEHZEINHUT :

Employee were classified 2022 2021  Unit

BInf —ZT—— —T-—F By

By gender

R &5

Male 20 23 Number of individuals
Bk ABL

Female 20 16 Number of individuals
g N

By contract category

RENERLES

Full-time 40 39 Number of individuals
2 N

Part-time - — Number of individuals
SR N

By employment category

REBERNES

Senior management 5 11 Number of individuals
SREEE ANEL

Middle management 9 12 Number of individuals
RRERE AH

General and other personnel 26 16  Number of individuals
—MEHEMET AH

By age®

RERE DS

18-25 1 — Number of individuals
18E255% AH

26-35 20 — Number of individuals
26%E355% AH

36-45 13 — Number of individuals
36Z455% AH

46-55 5 — Number of individuals
465557 AH

Over 56 1 — Number of individuals
56B% A £ AH

5 Due to the enhancement of data collection mechanism, modification 5 R ER U EEIM nss » YERERETT

has been made to the age category. As of 31 December 2021, the
number of individuals by age was: 21-30:5, 31-40:22, 41-50:9,
51-60:3, over 61:0.

TR -BE_T-_—F+=-A=+—8"
REREDMABR  21-305% 5~ 31-40
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For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s employee
turnover rate is 15%° in Mainland China. The breakdowns of them
by different categories are set out as follows:

Employee turnover rate’ 2022

ST RALLZF —E-—=F

B —HF+-_A=+—HILEE  A&EE
R B AE 8 TRAL R A&15% TR
MBSz BT RKLERNAT -

2021  Unit
—g=—% #¥f

By gender

RiER &S

Male 5
B

Female 25
egi

By age?

REREI D

18-25 -
18E255%

26-35 30
26%353%

36-45 -
36F458%

46-55 -
46E 55733

Over 56 -
56E%8 LA £

6 The total employee turnover rate is calculated by dividing the total
number of employees who resigned during the Year by the number of
employees at the end of the Year, and then multiplying by 100%.

/ The employee turnover rate by category is calculated by dividing the
number of employees of that category who resigned during the Year
by the number of employees of that category at the end of the Year,
and then multiplying by 100%.

8 Due to the enhancement of data collection mechanism, modification
has been made to the age category. For the year ended 31 December
2021, the employee turnover rate by age was: 31-40:23%, 41-50:56%.
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Occupational health and safety

The Group places great emphasis on the occupational safety of
its employees and strictly complies with the Production Safety
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Occupational Disease
Prevention Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Regulations
on Work-Related Injury Insurance, and other applicable laws and
regulations with significant impact on the Group. As a property
development company, we mainly hire outsourced construction
contractors for project management, hence we assume limited
potential responsibility for the construction workers on our property
projects.

However, as a responsible property developer, the Group has
established a safety management system, undertaken supervisory
responsibilities, and maintained project safety. In addition to
ensuring that employees involved in projects and requiring site
access participate in mandatory health and safety training, including
the safe use of lifting machinery, working at heights, safety
management, and site management, we also arrange for the Chief
Engineer’s Office to conduct monthly on-site inspections to ensure
that all required safety measures are implemented at our project
sites. The Group also details policies and procedures related to
occupational safety in the Employee Handbook for all employees to
reference, ensuring the effective implementation of safety policies.
The Group takes all appropriate measures to safeguard the health
and safety of employees in the workplace, resulting in no recorded
work-related injuries during the Year. Furthermore, the Group is not
aware of any major safety incidents or work-related fatalities in the
past three years.
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Development and training

The Group firmly believes that cultivating talent promotes
continuous professional development and sustainable corporate
growth. Therefore, it is committed to providing employees with
various training programs to enhance their skills and develop their
careers. At the same time, the Group continuously promotes and
improves training resources to further enhance the quality of talent
development. The Employee Handbook also stipulates regulations
regarding continuous training.

Induction training

The Group provides induction training for all new employees,
helping them quickly understand their job responsibilities and
become familiar with the Group’s background, work model, and
corporate culture. Additionally, during the probation period, the
Group assigns instructors to assist new employees in mastering job-
related skills as soon as possible. The instructors also participates
in the general assessment of new employees and is responsible for
evaluating interns for regular employment.

External training

To encourage employees to actively engage in self-improvement
activities, we offer external training subsidies based on
departmental needs or business requirements. We firmly believe
that external training not only aids employee development but also
brings new cultures and ideas that help continuously enhance the
Group’s competitiveness.
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Percentage of employees trained® 2022 2021 Unit
BIRIEAE e —B-—F B
Percentage of employees trained by gender

EMREINZIED L

Male 83.33 6670 %

ES

Female 16.67 3330 %
o8

Percentage of employees trained by category

BZEESRANESNZIT DL

Senior management 25.00 1852 %
BRERRE

Middle management 75.00 37.04 %
hRERE

General and other personnel - 4444 %
—REEMET

? Due to the enhancement of data collection mechanism, the 2021 data
includes employees who have left the company, while the 2022 data
excludes employees who have left the company.

0 Details of trained employees by category are calculated by dividing
the number of employees in that category by the total number of
employees in training during the Year, and then multiplying by 100%.

’ MR BRI EE N - —F = —FHH
BRERBOEI M_T__FHET
BREBEMET -

v BEPRIE BRBREFRZARNZ
REABBRUERBZIRE A - BRI
100%=TH °

Number of training hours of employees’ 2022 2021  Unit

8 T 15|80 —F=-= —EZ-F B
Employee Training Analysis™

BT 5 42

Total number of training hours 23.00 42.00 hours

MR IR 8L /B

Average number of training hours 0.58 0.86 hours/person
35 5 BB B ANETDN

Number of training hours by gender™

BRI B D PR IEE

Male 1.00
5
Female 0.15
zZ

Number of training hours by employee category™
BRESERE DN FIIZ IR

Senior management 1.60
BRERE

Middle management 1.67
PARERE

General and other personnel -
—REEMET

0.93 hours/person
ANEYON

0.74  hours/person
ANEYON

0.50 hours/person

ANEYON
1.07 hours/person

ANEYON
1.00 hours/person

ANSYON
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? Due to the enhancement of data collection mechanism, the 2021 data
includes employees who have left the company, while the 2022 data
excludes employees who have left the company.

12 The average number of training hours completed per employee is
calculated by dividing the total number of training hours during the
Year by the total number of employees at the end of the Year.

13 The average number of training hours by employee category is
calculated by dividing the number of training hours for that employee
category during the Year by the number of employees in that category
at the end of the Year.

Labor standards

The Group adheres to the principles of reasonable and lawful
recruitment and strictly complies with laws and regulations such as
Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China, the Provisions on the Prohibition
of Child Labor. We are firmly against any form of forced labor or
child labor. The Group has established a comprehensive recruitment
process and employment procedures. During the recruitment
process, the Human Resources Department clearly outlines the job
requirements and qualifications, and verifies the applicant’s valid
identification documents to ensure the applicant meets the legal
employment age and eligibility criteria, and does not violate any
relevant laws. Furthermore, before signing employment contracts,
the Group provides a comprehensive and detailed explanation of the
employment terms to ensure that employees fully understand the
contract and sign it voluntarily, thereby ensuring that all employees
work of their own free will. We strictly prohibit the use of child
labor or forced labor. If any violations of hiring child or forced labor
are discovered, we will immediately terminate the labor contract,
investigate the cause, and hold the responsible parties accountable,
imposing appropriate penalties on violators.

During the Year, the Group did not observe any cases of child labor,
forced labor, or illegal labor in its operations.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

CREATING VALUES FOR OUR CUSTOMERS
Supply chain management and quality control

The Group has established a comprehensive supplier evaluation
system to ensure that major construction contractors and material
suppliers are qualified. Qualified third-party contractors are
responsible for all project construction work, including excavation,
structural construction, equipment installation, and operational
work. By outsourcing construction to professional contractors,
we can mitigate some of the risks related to raw material cost
fluctuations and engineering personnel management. During the
Year, we worked with 49 major suppliers, all operating in China
(2021: 40 major suppliers operating in China).

To ensure that the tendering process is fair, just, transparent,
and in compliance with the Group’s requirements and applicable
Chinese laws and regulations, the Group’s Cost Management
Department has set up tendering documents and established a
series of evaluation criteria to select contractors. Contractors must
provide certifications such as qualification certificates and safety
production licenses. In addition to evaluating the bidding materials,
we also consider factors such as contractor size, qualifications,
reputation, track record, quotation, and environmental and social
considerations. Understanding the increasing importance of
environmental protection, the Group prioritize contractors that offer
pollution reduction solutions. Meanwhile, our tendering documents
require suppliers to sign a Migrant Workers’ Rights Protection
Agreement, ensuring they are aware of and fulfill their social
responsibility regarding labor rights. During the Year, 28 contractors
was engaged in our construction projects (2021: 28 contractors
were engaged in our construction projects).
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RiR  HERERRES

Strict procurement of materials

The Group strictly monitors project quality and cost control. As
for construction materials, since contractors procure most of the
construction materials such as steel and cement for our property
development projects, we require them to purchase materials that
meet standard specifications and are from designated brands and
manufacturers. Where Chinese laws and regulations mandate that
contractors must procure certain materials through tendering, we
require them to include our selected brands or manufacturers in the
tender documents. We also monitor the tender process to ensure
that the selected material suppliers meet the compliance standards.

To ensure the stability, reliability, and compliance of procured
materials with national safety and environmental standards,
we collaborate with supervision companies to conduct random
inspections. We verify material certificates, user manuals,
performance test reports, and quality assurance documents
before including them in our qualified materials list. Furthermore,
the Group only directly procures equipment such as windows, air
conditioning systems, and elevators from qualified suppliers in our
database, prioritizing equipment with less environmental impact or
higher energy efficiency. During the Year, the Group was not aware
of any major suppliers that caused significant impacts in terms of
business ethics, environmental protection, or labor practices.

Monitoring project quality

The Group strictly adheres to Chinese laws and regulations by
hiring construction supervision companies and assigning them to
oversee various project aspects to ensure quality standards are
met. The Cost Management Department sets up a series of control
indicators related to cost, quality, and construction progress during
the preliminary planning stage based on the overall construction
cost budget. The Chief Engineer’s Office, consisting of experienced
and qualified engineers and construction technicians, supervises
the construction quality, progress, and budget control of each
project. Monthly on-site inspections are conducted to check the
progress and quality of construction materials. We also conduct
annual reviews of the overall performance of all ongoing projects
to ensure cost, quality, and progress meet our targets. The Group'’s
management performs performance assessments of projects
every six months. If any subcontractor fails to meet the required
standards, the Group reserves the right to terminate the contract
and replace the contractor to maintain high product quality.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE  HEREARESE

Customer service EFPR¥%

The Group places a high emphasis on brand development and Z#ZA&EESESERMEERNMGBEET  BhH
responsibility, striving to enhance brand value and customer I2F RIEEE  UWIRAZTFREE @ BltT
satisfaction by continuously improving service management at all #iT=&BEERBERGEE -

project stages.

« During the planning stage, we listen to customer feedback and expectations regarding project design and pass this information to the real
estate planning team, who discuss it with designers, architects, and contractol
Phase One: FEEA B  BREFHEBRFOMAMELRNE  BERXTHERBIEN - i MIERRAD - 25 RARPEE -

Project development
FE—PEER :
HE#RE

« To meet local building requirements and customer expectations, a professional team conducts regular inspections to ensure compliance
with predefined control indicators.
REIEHEEEXREFRE  SXERAETRUERETIRER - MRS LAEHIES -

Phase Two:
Quality inspection
of building
BPEE
R

According to the Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction Projects, the Regulations on the Registration and Registration of

Completion Acceptance of Housing Construction Projects and Municipal Infrastructure Projects, and the Interim Provisions on the

Completion Acceptance of Housing Construction Projects and Municipal Infrastructure Projects, real estate developers must report to the

county or county level where the project is located. The real estate development authorities of the above local people's governments submit

applications for completion acceptance and record filing. Therefore, we will only deliver the project after confirming receipt of the

Phase Three: acceptance notice and completion certificate to ensure that the project quality complies with legal and regulatory requirements.
p deli BiE (2R TREEEIREN) (FERETRMTEARRE LR TRIEREENEL) K (FRRETRADRERRHITRET
roperty delivery BRWEITRE) - BHERERARNERESREN b ARBRIOEBERE T SHrIEXEE  RIEEERTRERER - AR
BEER PR ERIKEIR A B R TR B A BIFH RN - RIRAR R A AR AT «

By -

We have a professional customer service team and a complete complaint mechanism to follow up on relevant issues raised by customers
and maintain close contact with customers, which helps deeply understand customer needs and improve service standards. In addition,
appropriate warranty periods are reserved for customers after delivery, which is 1 to 5 years from the date of delivery, and the quality
warranty scope should include foundation engineering, main structure engineering, floor waterproofing engineering, bathrooms with
waterproofing requirements, leakage prevention of rooms and exterior walls, heating and cooling systems, drainage pipes, equipment
installation and decoration works, etc. All complaints will be handled carefully and followed up. We received no complaints about our
Phase Four: property and property sales services during the Year (2021: 8 cases).
. BARAEENTE REEEETE OIS RETSREOMEEAME  BXFPRIFTTHE - AHFRATHRESEZWIRAREK
After-sales service o BH - RHETARFEREENRES MR BHEAM1FESF  MESREBEEZDBMERTE  FRABITE ER
OT kL o kT2 - ARKERE LR - BRMIMEEMHZR - HRERL K  POKEE - RETRMKEIRES - IARFRMSSEZE
%B‘é EQ o BRI IRE - HAIRAFELERIBEARMOMERHERBEORF (ZF=—F :8FR) °
P2
ERIR%
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RiR  HERERRES

Compliant promotion

The Group strictly complies with the Advertising Law of the People’s
Republic of China and the Interim Measures for the Administration
of Internet Advertising of the People’s Republic of China and other
laws and regulations. Instructions must pass internal approval
and obtain approval from relevant government departments
before they can be released. All sales and promotion materials
will be carefully checked by the sales department to confirm that
sufficient and accurate content has been disclosed in compliance
with regulations before they are released and made available to
the public for customer reference to make purchasing decisions.
At the same time, department employees must abide by the Sales
Field Management Manual compiled by the Group and conduct
reasonable sales promotions with customers to maintain business
ethics.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any material violation
of the relevant laws and regulations in relation to the health and
safety, advertising, labeling and privacy of the property and service
provided by the Group. In addition, relevant disclosure requirements
are not applicable to the Group because the nature of the Group’s
businesses does not involve the product recall and the significant
intellectual property right.

Privacy protection

The Group is committed to protecting data privacy and prohibits
any unauthorized disclosure of customer information. When signing
sales contracts with customers, we include confidentiality clauses
to ensure their privacy is safeguarded. Additionally, all employees
must sign confidentiality agreements upon joining the Group,
adhering to strict privacy regulations and managing confidential
information with care to strengthen privacy protection. During the
Year, the Group was not aware of any complaints related to the
disclosure of customer information.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

MAKING CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE SOCIETY
Anti-corruption

The Group upholds a corporate culture of integrity and opposes
any unethical business practices such as corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud, and money laundering, while strictly complying
with local laws and regulations. In accordance with the Law against
Unfair Competition of the People’'s Republic of China, the Criminal
Law of the People’s Republic of China, and the Interim Provisions
on the Prohibition of Commercial Bribery, the Group compiled an
Employee Code of Conduct to specify employees’ responsibilities
and obligations, clarify how to handle conflicts of interest, and raise
awareness of self-discipline and integrity.

The Group continues to establish and improve a sound and honest
internal control and management system. In addition to monitoring
daily management operations and related special projects, it also
regularly organizes anti-corruption education and training for
directors and employees to improve management and employees’
awareness of ethics and corruption issues. In addition, the Group
has established a comprehensive reporting channel to ensure
that all employees report any relevant suspicious behavior in a
safe, reliable and confidential manner. Suspicious incidents will be
prudent and comprehensively investigated. If it is confirmed that it
is an illegal act, we will transfer the relevant person to the judicial
authority in accordance with the law. The Group strictly implements
systems and procedures to ensure that the internal control system
can effectively identify violations and promptly prevent and stop
them. The audit department also regularly reviews relevant anti-
corruption policies. The Group has a sound organizational structure
and policies in place to maintain high standards of corporate
governance and an ethical corporate culture.

During the Year, the Group was not aware of any violations involving
bribery, extortion, fraud, or money laundering by the Group or its
employees, nor was it involved in any corruption lawsuits.

Connecting with the community

The Group highly values social responsibility and is committed to
engaging and contributing to the community as part of our strategic
development. The Group has established relevant policies. By
encouraging employees to participate in social welfare activities
during and outside of work hours, we aim to enhance their sense
of corporate social responsibility, foster positive values, and help
create more value for the community. Meanwhile, we actively
listen to community feedback and incorporate their needs into
our construction projects, maintaining our corporate social
responsibility and working towards creating a sustainable future for
the local people and the communities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dHBREAHREE

INDEX OF THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE OF BEERBREEMERATESGH
HONG KONG EXCHANGES AND CLEARING HiESIRB R
LIMITED
Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
TEHE  BEH - —REBERBAEXERRZ 101! Y
A. Environmental
A REB
Aspect A1: Emissions
BEA1 : BB
General Disclosure Information on: Creating values for 95-103
(@) the policies; the environment
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation
of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
—RIRE BRABEIMREREHR  mKRIHHEES BFER ARRAEEE 95-103
BEEZEVNELSH
(@ BxE: M
(b) BETFTEHBITAFEAXZZNMEBEZZRAMNE
®} o
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. Energy and gas 96-97
emissions
management
B SR A IS EAL R iR R AR B - BEIR MR BN E IR 96-97
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) Energy and gas 96-97
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, where emissions
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production management
volume, per facility).
BREMIEEAL2 BERE(@E) ReRAEZE(HE)AZRBEFHNE(L  EREREBHENRERE 96-97
WEETE) k(@A) B E (WA ESEN - SRR
#)-
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, No significant N/A
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of hazardous waste was
production volume, per facility) generated in 2022
BRENIEZALS FFEEEEEEDEE UETE) R(ER)EE(Wm 2 _FUI8EAL T iE A
NBESEBMN - FHEKRBEE BREEEREY
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) Waste management 98-99
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).
BREMIEEAL.4 FEAEEEEYE E@mm+)&@m%@fﬁ@u FEEMER 98-99
LNEBESBMN FHEKBEE
KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target( s) set and steps taken Green office 101-102
to achieve them.
BRENIEZALS AR E B ERAEIEL B EMERDNE ZKePRA=E 101-102
B o
KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous Waste management, 98-99,
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction Green office 101-102
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
BREMIEEALG HEREEERBEEEZEMN L - REWAEI AR BENER &6 98-99,
BE B IR R AEDE L B RPN 225 - MAE 101-102
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RE - dHEREAHREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.

TEHE  EBEH - —REERBAEXERE 401! E¥

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2 : EREA

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources including Creating values for 95-103
energy, water, and other raw materials. the environment

—RIKE BRERER(BIEER - KREMEME)BIBEER - RIRRAEEE 95-103

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type Energy and gas 96-97
(e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in "000s) and emissions
intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per management
facility).

BRERIERA2.1 BEAEDMEERSREEER(INE « KEUh)@FE REXAEENRERE 96-97
BEUTFEFRSFAE) REE(MAGESEMN - §1B
BEtE) -

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit Water management 97-98
of production volume, per facility).

ARENIERA2.2 BFEKEREE(WAGESEN - BIERMETE) - RKER 97-98

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and  Green office 101-102
steps taken to achieve them.

BRREMIEEA2.3 HFET U REAMGEERAEIELEEMR KERAE 101-102
EXHY B o

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  Water management, 97-98,
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) Green office 101-102
set and steps taken to achieve them.

ARENIEEA2.4 FHMCRKEUE AR L] B EAHRE - URFIETZMMAK AXER ZEeHAE 97-98,
W B R R RBEDE L B IR R - 101-102

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products Our business does not N/A
(in tons) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit involve in using any
produced. packaging materials

BARENIERA2.5 B MATABEMENES (UEE) R(WER) 84 BMOEB RS RE T iEA
EB(hE - FRERIB &R

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BHEA3 : BERXAER

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact  Creating values for 95-103
on the environment and natural resources. the environment

—RIEE WRBEITABRERRAAREREKERZERBUR RIRBAIEEE 95-103

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities Environment 99-101
on the environment and natural resources and the and resources
actions taken to manage them. management

BAREMIERAS. WM EBEHEIRBRRAAERNERATZEREHENE BERELREREE 99-101

BEERTENTY -

FRTERZERERAT T _FFR
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
TEHE BH —REEREREXEES 101! HE¥
Aspect A4: Climate Change
[EEA4 : RIZE1L
General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant  Climate change 103
climate-related issues which have impacted, and
those which may impact, the issuer.
— R E BRAREHEC LA HBEITAEEZENEAREK RIEZ(L 103
HEEEMBE
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues Climate change 103
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer and the actions taken to manage them.
BRENIEFAL T ERRAIREEHBEITAEEXENSTARGHEEE RIxE(L 103
&%ﬂﬁ@
B. Social
B. & &
Employment and Labour Practices
BEREIESR
Aspect B1: Employment
[EMEB1 : {EfE
General Disclosure Information on: Employment practices 104-107
(@) the policies; and
(b)y compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to remuneration and dismissal,
recruitment, and promotion, working hours,
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-
discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
— R E EBRFHEEE  BEREA  ILENE BH - 5 EESR 104-107
e 2l RERAREMAES KRB
(@) BEE: Kk
(b) BEBTFHEHETABEATENHBERLROINE
o
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age Employment practices 104-107
group and geographical region.
BRERIEEB. IR BIRER  FREMNMRESNESRE - EBREESR 104-107
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and Employment practices 104-107
geographical region.
BRENIEEBR.2 BIER - Fiep iR EIDHEEREKLE - EEER 104-107
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
TEHE BH —REEREREXERER =401 HE¥
Aspect B2: Health and Safety
[EHEB2 : EEHELZE
General Disclosure Information on: Occupational health 108
(@) the policies; and and safety
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
—RIKE BRRMHZ2TERERREREEREABELEEN © BEEREZS 108
(@) BEE: Kk
(b) BEBTHETABEAFEMEEEZRBRONE
%t o
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred Occupational health 108
in each of the past three years including the reporting  and safety
year.
BRENEEB2.1 BEZF(BRERFE)SFEAITHNIABKLE « BERREZS 108
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Occupational health 108
and safety
BRENIEEB2.2 EIBEBAIERH - BERERELS 108
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Occupational health 108
measures adopted, how they are implemented and and safety
monitored.
BRENIEEB2.3 FIMFT AN R R 20 - A RMBERITRE BERREZS 108
BIE -
Aspect B3: Development and Training
fBEB3 : BREREI
General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills Development and 109-111
for discharging duties at work. Description of training training
activities.
—RIEE ERRMEERITIIEBEMABRRENEER - it ATIER 109-111
BEIES -
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  Development and 109-111
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle training
management, etc.).
A R B MU EB3.1 BRI REERN(NSRERRE TREBES)EY ASIEE 109-111
WXIMEEBRDL -
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee  Development and 109-111
by gender and employee category. training
B EMIEREB3.2 BRI REEERE S - BEESTKZINTHE AT BB 109-111
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
IEER EH - —REERBREXEER BE B BH

Aspect B4: Labor Standards
FEEB4 : BT #A|
General Disclosure Information on: Labor standards 111
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to preventing child and forced labour.

—RiEE BREAMIEE Teaa s TH & T AR 111
(@ Kk
(b) BTFHBEITABEAFZENHEBEEZRAMINE
Ko
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Labor standards 111
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
BRENIEEB4.1 MR BIZE P EIEAB R E T RRHET - BT AR 1M1
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such non- Labor standards 111
compliance practices when discovered.
R ENIEEB4.2 B IRERBERARERB BB RTREA P - T AR 111

Operating Practices

EEE

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
BB : fEEERE

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks ~ Supply chain 112
of the supply chain. management and
quality control
—REE BIBHEREAIRE Rt G RMRIEGR - HpEgE IR R E 21 112
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply chain 112

management and
quality control

BRENIEEB5.1 mwRE D HEREE - HpEsEE IR K E 21 112

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, Supply chain 112
number of suppliers where the practices are being management and
implemented, how they are implemented and quality control
monitored.

AR EMIEEB5.2 MG EEAHERNED  AERTEBENNHE HEBEERESES 112
R E - ARMEERITRERFE -

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental Supply chain 112
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they management and
are implemented and monitored. quality control

R EMIEEB5.3 A B e B EIR B AV IR IR Rt g R e B HERETRERE S 112
Bl - ARAEBERIT REER X ©

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Supply chain 112
environmentally preferable products and services management and
when selecting suppliers, and how they are quality control
implemented and monitored.

BRENIEREB5.4 B EREEENRECZARRERRRBNES - HERETERESES 112

AR BRAMITRER A
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Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPIs

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dHEREAHREE

IRHEE  EH -  —REERARXEER

Chapter/Statement
8- 1

Page No.

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

[EEB6 : EREE
General Disclosure

—RIRE

KPI B6.1

BRENIEEB6.1

KPI B6.2

R ENIEEB6.2
KPI B6.3

BRENIEEB6.3

KPI B6.4

BRENIEEB6.4

KPI B6.5

BREIEEB6.5

Relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress:

(@) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer.
FHAFMRHEERNMRENERERLS  EE B8R

P LA RO A
(@ EF: &

(b)) BIHETABERZENHBZEREBRINE

¥ o

Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject
to recalls for safety and health reasons.

EEHCEXEMEBTRLR 2R FEHAMADKRD

ANt e

Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt with.
BN ER IR FE B AREE % o
Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

it B4 8 N RIS AR EE S RIED -

Description of quality assurance process and

recall procedures.

ME ST BRENEMBWIRRF °

Description of consumer data protection and
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and

monitored.

U BEERHMRERBALBER - ARBEARTRESR

I °

Creating values for
our customers

REFRIEEE

Our business does not
involve any recall of
the product

BB EBI RS RE
B g

Customer service

5P R%

Intellectual property
rights are not
material for the
purpose of the
operation of the

Group
MBEEOAEE 2

EMEWTERKR
Supply Chain

Management and
Quality Control;
the Group does not
involve any recall of
the product
HEEER RE ST
H o AEE TP RE
CRIEIR
Privacy protection

RETLR

112-115

112-115

N/A

112

112

115

115

e
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RE - dHBREAHREE

Subject Areas, Aspects, General Disclosures and KPls Chapter/Statement Page No.
IEER EH - —REERBREXEER BE B BH

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
[BEB7 : RES
General Disclosure Information on: Anti-corruption 116
(@) the policies; and
(b)y compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer.

—RIRE BRAMTILRRRS - 9% - BGFRERED - DERE 116
@@ BEK: Rk
(b) HETHETABEAZENEBEZLROINE
#} e
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt Anti-corruption 116

practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the

cases.
BRENIEEBT.1 RERBABFTASEHEERDWEELENETHA HERE 116
EHRBE RFRER -
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle- Anti-corruption 116
blowing procedures, how they are implemented and
monitored.
BRENIEREBR7.2 HmPTE I R RMET - UAREERTRERAE . HERE 116
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to The Group did not N/A
directors and staff. provide anti-
corruption training
for the Board or
employees during
the Year
BRENIEEBR7.3 HmEERE ITRENRESEI - REERKFEREILRZHE iE A
MESENE TRE
RESFE

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[ETBS - HERE

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the Connecting with the 116
needs of the communities where the issuer operates community
and to ensure its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

—RIEE BNt RS2 ERTREEMEHEFTENBRAER BELE 116
TEENE E B[R A s AR o
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, No resources N/A
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,  were utilized
sport). as community
investment during
the Year
AR ENIEEBS.1 EIERESB(INHE  REEHE  BIH K @FE - REFIEBBAEIR TEA
ik - BBE) o EitEig &
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the No resources N/A
focus area. were utilized

as community
investment during

the Year
RASR & W IE1ERS.2 EEIHREMDAER (NS ENKEERE) - REBWRBEAEIR TEHA
ERLREE
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INDEPENDENTAUDITORS” REPORT

—

SN\ Global Link
Limited

To the members of Xinming China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements of the Group. Because of the significance of the matter
described in the "Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our
report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements have been properly prepared
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

Multiple material uncertainties relating to going
concern

As set out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group incurred a net loss of approximately RMB2,389,604,000
for the year ended 31 December 2022. As at 31 December 2022,
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
approximately RMB3,342,604,000. In addition, as at 31 December
2023, the Group’s outstanding borrowings of approximately
RMB1,279,755,000 and the convertible bonds issued by the Group
amounting approximately RMB268,848,000 were overdue pursuant
to the borrowing agreements which constituted events of defaults.
These conditions, together with other matters disclosed in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the existence
of material uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

B AR

BHATRERERITRRE
(RESHEZ M FRLA])

THRER

BFEEY EREZEEMBHRRERE
ﬁ ERERBERITERE ﬁﬂ]%ﬁ’%l-
FﬁL%IEFW?EK BFIREMF T RE
EEE’J$¢2 BER%F ?éﬁﬁ%&i’%z%*?ﬁ
RIFHER - EFAAREMTE - HPIRR
ZEFEAVBBREEBEREB(RAED)E
BEMREZSHHE

FTHRERER
EFACEHBNSETRESHE

AR A WIS HRRME2FTE - EEERE
E_E - —HE+ - A=1+—BILEEELE
BIR R A R #2,389,604,0007T - R ==

—ZF+ZA=+—RH - BE5ENKRHEE
HBEHEREEENARES342,604,0007T °
s RZFE_=F+-_A=+—H" &

EEBE M RMEZLHARE279,755000 7T
NE E£EBEEERTIURRELSFOARE
268,848,000 L IR B S K per 8 HE - BAKE
HETE - ZEMRRERLRE T B HRERMF2FT
FENEMERT  RAFENTHEESEA
Y BRBIFELEEBNENTRER
SEF o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS” REPORT
B B &

The Management has been undertaking measures to improve the
Group's liquidity and financial position, which are set out in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements. The validity of the going
concern assumption on which the consolidated financial statements
have been prepared depends on the outcome of these measures,
which are subject to multiple material uncertainties, including (i)
successfully negotiating with the Group’s existing lenders such
that no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to demand
immediate repayment of the borrowings with interest payments in
default; (i) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
on the renewal of or extension for repayment of outstanding
borrowings, including those with overdue principals and interests;
(iii) successfully negotiating with various financial institutions
and potential lenders/investors to identify various options for
additionally financing the Group’s working capital and commitments
in the foreseeable future; (iv) successfully accelerating the pre-sale
and sale of properties under development and completed properties
and speeding up the collection of outstanding sales proceeds,
and controlling costs and capital expenditure so as to generate
adequate net cash inflows; and (v) successfully procuring and
negotiating the preliminary terms with large property development
enterprises for the sale of individual property development project
at a price deemed appropriate.

Accordingly, we were unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence about the appropriateness of the use of going concern
basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Should the Group be unable to operate as a going
concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group's assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to
reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current
assets and current liabilities, respectively. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in the consolidated financial
Statements.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liguidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “"HKICPA") and to issue an auditor’s report.
However, because of the matter described in the “Basis for
Disclaimer of Opinion” section of our report, we are not able to
obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basic for
an audit opinion on the consolidated financial statements.

We report solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code.

Global Link CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 11 March 2025

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is:

Au Yeung Ming Yin Gordon

Practising Certificate number: P08219

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

BZBERE

EREEEMBHRRE - EAREFAER
Al BERERELEMEN  YRERR
BREAMMFER(NER) - BRI BERA
E=6E1 ESEEBR JFLEE %X
Rt 2 SN EE M EER A TROHOE - TRIE
FERRANERE RERNETA -

BBE BT RS M B RREAE
ENEME

BHNEEARERESFMAS([EEE
AEIAE DBMNEEESFENE EXE
MR A MR mFETTRA - LB LR BENR
FoeRM  BARABREEERTERNE
B EIR - RAIRERZFHEE TS
BREZEARBEERSRNREZER

i
REE

BAER BTIESERBRS KRtz
AHERNEEAMB R - LA TSR AN HREHN
ABRRETAEMALTE ESAEEMNEE -

BREBEEEGTMAGROAKEXSTIER
STRD(AT R FRI]) - BAIBYLR B%
CWERTTRTRIFHEMEREREL -

BHEFMARLD A
2 ES -]

BB ZE-_RAF=A+—H
HARBY ZEMRENETFTEEESTL ¢

B #8E
HEFEZHES - P08219

FATEERERAR T FFHKR 129

e



“E

—

\

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT-OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
meEEkEMEER TSR

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

| 2021
T %
Notes O RMB'000
B & R A ARMBFIT
Revenue & 5 35,198 101,833
Cost of sales SHER AR (15,187) (24,214)
Gross profit EH 20,011 77,619
Other income and gains and losses — HAb U A K U 25 A K 518 6 (22,738) 279,894
Selling and distribution costs HE R HKA (13,206) (19,592)
Administrative expenses TR H (55,634) (41,476)
Other expenses HEMA (599,391) (421,367)
Loss on court-ordered sale of S ERFELENER
completed properties held for sale T4 ¥E1#E 18 (280,788) =
Net loss on de-consolidation of a BUBGRA ABR—EHB AR 8
subsidiary [Ei=be 29 - (640,056)
Loss on court-ordered sale of L EIREMENERE
investment properties 14 (686,597) -
Changes in fair value of investment REWEZ AR BEES
properties 14 (1,082,900) (2,000)
Changes in fair value of convertible AR (EH 2 A RBEEE
bonds 26 (24,336) 8,092
Finance costs EhE A 7 (84,044) (83,053)
Loss before income tax BRETEBHATEE 7 (2,829,623) (841,939)
Income tax credit FTiSHiiE % 10 440,019 10,833
Loss for the year and total FABBERFRZEBEAE
comprehensive loss for the year (2,389,604) (831,106)
(Loss) profit for the year and total LU~ A XFEMEER(EE)
comprehensive (loss) profit for BARFANZE(EE)EF
the year attributable to: B
Owners of the Company KARERA (2,250,428) (863,935)
Non-controlling interests FEIERR R A (139,176) 32,829
(2,389,604) (831,106)
Loss per share attributable to ARRFEEAEREERER
owners of the Company 12
Basic and Diluted (RMB) EAMNEE(ARKE) (1.198) (0.460)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e B RR

At 31 December 2022 RA—Z—-—%+—-HA=+—H

| 2021
T —4F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
BT R AREEF T
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB K& 13 698 746
Investment properties wEY 14 936,100 2,988,000
Deferred tax assets BEEFITREE 16 202,268 76,087
1,139,066 3,064,833
Current assets REBEE
Properties under development B R 4 2 17 709,464 850,985
Completed properties held for sale  #H{ELEMD R I WE 18 712,804 1,140,728
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 19 1,245 33,515
Prepayments, other receivables and FE/4 718 « E e U 7k E &
other assets HEmEE 20 56,291 113,068
Restricted deposits S2BR #1758 21 522 326
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEeEEY 21 7,434 20,219
1,487,760 2,158,841
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables B SR RIE 22 340,017 322,213
Other payables and accruals HEMEMAREREREA 23 1,449,765 1,279,694
Contract liabilities GHAaE 24 619,895 432,901
Interest-bearing bank and other FHESRITRHEMER
borrowings 25 1,279,755 1,561,250
Tax payable FERTRRIE 872,084 881,915
Convertible bonds AR EH 26 268,848 244,512
4,830,364 4,722,485
Net current liabilities TR EFE (3,342,604) (2,563,644)
Total assets less current liabilities BAEERAHERE (2,203,538) 501,189
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Deferred tax liabilities BEEIBEE 16 163,347 478,470
NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (88) EEZAE (2,366,885) 22,719
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R

At 31 December 2022 W —E - —F+_-F=+—H

| 2021
—E-—%F
RMB’000 RMB’000
& AREFIT
EQUITY =

Issued capital BEITIRAR 27 14,880 14,880
Reserves {1 (2,244,790) 5,638
(2,229,910) 20,518
Non-controlling interests TR (203,485) 2,201

TOTAL EQUITY (DEFICIT)/ (A BHEE
SURPLUS (2,366,885) 22,719

The consolidated financial statements on pages 130 to 232 were

FROEEF2RNEFAUBHRRN_F -1

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 11
March 2025 and signed on its behalf by

FZA+-HESSSfEREETE U
B TIEEHERRE -

Chen Chengshou
BRASF
Director
BE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERRER

Attributable to owners of the Company

ALRERARE

Reserves

i

Share  Financial

award  assets at Non-

Issued Share Merger Capital ~ scheme FVOCI Accumulated Total controlling Total
capital - premium reserve  reserve  reserve reserve losses ~ reserves Total interests equity
BAAEE
LM

EBRG  2E4E

ELRE 1]
BRRE  RAEE  ANEE  ERRR BE GHEE ZHEE  RESE &t FERER  ERAE
RMBOO0  RMB'O00  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETT ARETR ARETT ARETR ARETn ARETT ARETn ARETR
(Note28) ~ (Note28)  (Note 28)
(Ws2s) (W) (B3E28)

At 1 January 2021 RZE-£-A-0 14880 496,195 81,491 (45,756) 4533 (15000 334650 869573 884,453 (20403) 864,050

Loss and total comprenensiveloss  EREERZASEES
for the year - - - - - - (8393%) (863935 (863,939) 32809 (831,106

De-consoldation of a subsidiary ~ BUAGAAE-RBAR
[Note 29) (Hiz29) - - - - - - - - -0y 102

At31 December 2021 and RZFZ-F+ZA=1-A
1 January 2022 R-E--%-F-H 14880 496155 81491  (45,756) 4533 (15000 (529,265) 5608 20518 200 21,719
Loss and total compreensive loss  EREERZABELE
for the year - - - - - - (Q50428) (2,250,428) (2,250,428)  (139,176) (2,389,604)

At 31 December 2022 RZE-ZE+-A=1-H 14,880 496,155 81,491 (45,756) 4,533 (1,500 (2,779,713)  (2,244,790)  (2,229,910)  (136,975) ~ (2,366,885)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
n'l_\éIﬁrﬁsﬁ%%
Year ended 31 December 2022 E=—FE-—F+-_A=+—HIFE
| 2021
- i —EF
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBTIT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES RETED
Loss before income tax BR ER ST A &S 18 (2,829,623) (841,939)
Adjustments for: B TE|RIEEL R
Bank interest income HRITH S WA (53) (185)
Changes in fair value of convertible AR ESF AREEED
bonds 24,336 (8,092)
Changes in fair value of investment WEMEZ ANEEED
properties 1,082,900 2,000
Depreciation of property, plant and W - BREREETE
equipment 48 92
Finance costs Bh& A AR 84,044 83,053
Loss on disposal of property, HEWE - BEMEFED
plant and equipment E518 - 3,020
Impairment of completed properties held — #H{ELEHE R TWERE
for sale 207,254 8,350
Impairment of properties under FER Y ERE
development 81,844 12,271
Impairment of financial assets, net TREERMETFHE 22,505 2,508
Interest penalties SN 312,124 392,841
Loss on court-ordered sale of investment A< HEREMENEE
properties 686,597 -
Loss on court-ordered sale of completed A< HEREHENE ®
properties held for sale T EiE 280,788 =
Net gain on settlement of overdue HEEBHG B AR R
interest-bearing borrowings - (276,279)
Net loss on de-consolidation of a BUBLR A ABR—REHEB AR
subsidiary B85 - 640,056
Operating cash flows before changes in EELESRDIRERERE
working capital (47,236) 17,696
Changes in working capital: LEECEE
Properties under development and R MERFELED
completed properties held for sale B T 117,993 (111,411)
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 29,422 (9,796)
Prepayments, other receivables and TR FIE - HAbEUGRIE R
other assets Hih&EE 136,664 (548,298)
Restricted deposits PR HIAF 3R (196) 2,247
Trade payables S FIE 17,804 1,203
Other payables and accruals H R IE R ERE A (196,019) 571,655
Contract liabilities BHERE 186,994 244,649
Cash generated from (used in) operations ZEFREB(FFA)RSE 9,440 167,945
Income tax paid BATATER (11,116) (1,069)
Net cash (used in) from operating RETBR(FABRSFHE
activities (1,676) 166,876

134  XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

—



” G
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
REBRERER

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

| 2021
: - —E-—%F
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B & R AR T T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REE
Bank interest income RITH B A 53 185
Purchase of property, plant and BEME  BREKEE
equipment - (20)
Cash outflow arising from BUB%RE AR — M B
de-consolidation of a subsidiary NEmEARS R 29 - (413)
Net cash from (used in) investing BREEBHEELE(FFAM
activities BHEFE 53 (248)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES R EE
Interest paid BERFE - (93,658)
New loan raised EEEREN 23(a) - 6,000
Repayment of interest-bearing bank {&&st B 3R17 R H M E R
and other borrowings (1,162) (64,000)
Repayment of loan EBEX 23(a) (10,000) =
Net cash used in financing activities W& FEFTANERSFE (11,162) (151,658)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERBEHEF/EYCHL ) LM
cash equivalents R (12,785) 14,970
Cash and cash equivalents at FURERRLEEY
beginning of year 20,219 5,249
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FREERRSZEEYW (LR
year, represented by cash and SRIBITHEHZED)
bank balances 21 7,434 20,219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e SRR M E

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Xinming China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 16 January 2014 as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies
Law, Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands. In the opinion of
the directors of the Company, the ultimate holding company
is Xinxing Company Limited and the ultimate controlling
shareholder is Mr. Chen Chengshou (the “Controlling
Shareholder”). The shares of the Company are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the Company's registered
office is located at Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box
1350, Grand Cayman KY1-1108, Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the “Group”) are principally engaged in investment holding,
properties development and properties leasing.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (“IFRSs”) issued by the International Accounting
Standards Board (the “IASB"), which collective term includes
all applicable individual IFRSs, International Accounting
Standards (“IASs") and Interpretations issued by the IASB and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the
“Listing Rules”).

Going concern

The Group incurred a net loss of approximately
RMB2,389,604,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.
At 31 December 2022, the Group incurred an equity
deficit of approximately RMB2,366,885,000, and its current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by approximately
RMB3,342,604,000.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB1,279,755,000 and convertible bonds of
approximately RMB268,848,000 were overdue pursuant to the
relevant borrowing agreements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Going concern (Continued)

All of the above conditions indicate the existence of material
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company
have given careful consideration to the future liquidity and
performance of the Group and its available sources of finance
in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to continue as a going concern. Certain measures
have been taken to mitigate the liquidity pressure and to
improve its financial position which include, but are not limited
to, the following:

(i

continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions on the renewal of or extension for repayment
of outstanding borrowings, including those with overdue
principals and interests. The management has been
continuously negotiating with the Group’s existing
lenders on the renewal of or extension for repayment of
outstanding borrowings such that no action will be taken
by the relevant lenders to demand immediate repayment
of the borrowings with interest payments in default,
including those with cross-default terms and hope to
extend the due date and the repayment schedules of the
outstanding borrowings.

continuously negotiating with various financial
institutions and potential lenders/investors to identify
various opportunities for additionally financing the
Group's working capital and commitments in the
foreseeable future. As of the date of this report, the
Company negotiated with current and other banks and
financial institutions using the lands held by the Group as
guarantees on the additional financing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Going concern (Continued)

(iii)

accelerating the pre-sale and sale of properties under
development and completed properties, such as
Shandong Project and controlling costs and containing
capital expenditure so as to generate adequate net
cash inflows for the Group. The sale of the phase 3 of
Shandong Project was completed. The pre-sale of the
phase 4 of Shandong residential project has commenced
since September 2023. Majority of the net proceeds
from Shandong project has been and will be used for the
repayment of the outstanding borrowing.

actively procuring and formulating the preliminary terms
with large property developer to sale individual property
development project or whole commercial property at
an appropriate price. The Company has been negotiating
with certain potential purchaser regarding the sale of
the whole Shanghai property development project. The
management estimated that most of the net proceeds
from the Shanghai Project will be used for the repayment
of the outstanding borrowing. The sale of the Shanghai
Project might constitute a transaction of the Company
subject to announcement pursuant to Chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules and subject to the relevant requirements
under the Listing Rules.

actively accelerate the de-stocking of its properties.
The Company sells the residential property in Shandong
and the whole or portion of commercial properties in
Taizhou, Hangzhou and Shanghai as a package, with a
view to accelerating the recovery of working capital to
improve its liability and financial gearing conditions.

All amounts have been rounded to the nearest thousand,
unless otherwise indicated.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on a basis consistent with the accounting policies adopted
in the 2021 consolidated financial statements except for the
adoption of the following new/revised IFRSs that are relevant
to the Group's operation and effective from the current year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Adoption of new/revised IFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied the following

amendments to IFRSs issued by the IASB for the first time,

which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual

period beginning on 1 January 2022 for the preparation of the

consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19-related Rent Concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendment to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —

Proceeds before Intended Use

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract

Annual Improvements to IFRSS
2018-2020

Amendments to IAS 37

Amendments to IFRSS

The application of the amendments to IFRSs and the
Committee’s agenda decision(s) in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group is set out below.

Basis of measurement

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is historical cost except
for investment properties and convertible bonds which are
measured at fair value.

2.

ERSFTER(E)

ig?ﬁ?%ﬁﬂ/%éﬁ%ﬂ@[‘%ﬁﬂ%%ﬁ%
|

RAFEE  AEBEBEXRERATHE
e AR BEERMNAERAR_Z
A BHRBANFERERE L

BRI BIBR B IS R 2R 2B AT A DAAR

BURE MTE R ¢

BB MR B SIERARM
BIE3%R 2
[EFIE:N

BRI EREE T —F
BIZE165R 2 NA=1tH%
[EFIE:N Covid-1948R8 &y

HeE=R

REETERE

1655 2 BTN & — el E A
BRI FTBRR

FR e ERE BEAH-EITE

375 ZAERT A LRI AR

BRI ik BRR B RS R R

Bl Z &R A —E-N\FERE
—ETFE
g

RAFEE &R B 5®mE £/ (BET
RIREEERRATHAEERANE
ERBAEFENFBRRARKRER/ &
REFEVBBERMBABRBELBERY

2,
2

AEBRBZERGTBERBMEBLT ©

FTEEE
SAMBREDUE LKA B R L
RE - MRENERTERES AR
BEHE -

N

e

FAREERERAR —TFFHKR 139



"!-‘-‘__4——

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial
statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved
when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns
from its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.,
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented, separately from
owners of the Company, in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income and within
equity in the consolidated statement of financial position. The
non-controlling interests in the acquiree, that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the acquiree’s net assets in event of liquidation,
are measured initially either at fair value or at the present
ownership instruments’ proportionate share in the recognised
amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. This
choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
initially measured at fair value, unless another measurement
basis is required by IFRSS.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control described above.
A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

Business combinations and goodwill

(i)  Acquisition method of accounting for business
combinations not under common control
When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with
the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This
includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
(i)

Acquisition method of accounting for business
combinations not under common control (Continued)
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset
or liability is measured at fair value with changes
in fair value recognised in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for
within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group's previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual
impairment test of goodwill at 31 December each year.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected
to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the
Group are assigned to those units or groups of units.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Acquisition method of accounting for business
combinations not under common control (Continued)
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where
the recoverable amount of the cash- generating
unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than the
carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed
in a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

Merger method of accounting for business combinations
under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the combining entities or
businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if they had been combined from the date when
the combining entities or businesses first came under
the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses
are combined using the existing book values from the
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised
in consideration for goodwill or excess of the acquirer’s
interest in the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost at
the time of common control combination, to the extent
of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income include the results of each of the
combining entities or businesses from the earliest date
presented or since the date when the combining entities
or businesses first came under the common control,
where there is a shorter period, regardless of the date of
the common control combination.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations and goodwill (Continued)
(ii) Merger method of accounting for business combinations
under common control (Continued)

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are presented as if the entities or businesses
had been combined at the end of the previous financial
reporting period or when they first came under common
control, whichever is shorter.

Transaction costs, including professional fees,
registration fees, costs of furnishing information to
shareholders, costs or losses incurred in combining
operations of the previously separate businesses, etc.,
incurred in relation to the common control combination
that is to be accounted for by using the merger
accounting is recognised as an expense in the period in
which it is incurred.

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and convertible
bonds at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date. The fair
value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The
fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing
the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in
their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the consolidated financial statements are
categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described as
follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 (highest level): gquoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets
or liabilities that the Group can
access at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are
observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly;

Level 3 (lowest level): unobservable inputs for the asset
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or liability.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis, the
Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
properties under development, completed properties held
for sale, deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment
properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’'s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets,
in which case the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill) (Continued)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss
is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher
than the carrying amount that would have been determined
(net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period
in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.
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Related parties )yl
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the BB 7 Tig AR S BB EARE
Group. 8 -

(@ A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(il) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or of the holding company of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(iif)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

e P BHRRMEE
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE=F=—F+= A=+ —AILERE
2. EXETBER(E)
EAEE (%)

The entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each holding company,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also
related to the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
holding company of the entity).

The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the holding company of
the Group.

(b)) BRAALR/ERIMNSEMA FHIE

4

(iii)

(iv)

(Vi)

(vii)

(viii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. BERSFBE(E)
(CONTINUED)
Related parties (Continued) EAER TS (&)

Close members of the family of a person are those family EABEREYNREXNESEEENE
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced BETR SR - EE R E% B AL
by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include: EWZEATEORENE - 81 :

(@) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner,

(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;
and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major
inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the asset as
a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group
recognised such parts as individual assets with specific useful
lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The annual rates
of depreciation used for this purpose are as follows:

(@ ZEANFEMEBRRENS

b) EARBHFEHEHTFL K

© =ZEA - ZEABLBRREHER
BHA °

W% - BERRE

WE - BB MREBERANEREAITER
TRERBREIE - W% - BELRE
HEZRABEREBEBREAREE
EHHEGARE RS ERTER R E
BESZKRA -

RYE - BFE REFEERBRAEFERR
EENXE  MBEERREERS  BE
RzEx HESHEG AR - HER
RIFER  TEREEMARBETERN
AAEREENEEREE - WATH
BRAMOME  BELZE - AAE
BefzEMoERREREANERF
HREO 5 & 2 MARE T LA E -

FETIA B SORIRE AT A 8 & B
HEEYME  BEMRENRAEZEF
FREE - LULERNNTEFRET

Plant and machinery 19.0% BB Rt Bs 19.0%
Furniture and office equipment 19.0 t0 49.4% EE WSS NS 19.0%49.4%
Motor vehicles 9.9% t0 32.9% B 9.9%%32.9%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at
the end of each reporting period.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset is
derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds
and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply
of goods or services or for administrative purposes,; or for
sale in the ordinary course of business. Such properties
are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the
end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in the
period of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from properties under development and
completed properties held for sale to investment properties,
any difference between the fair value of the property at that
date and its previous carrying amount is recognised in profit
or loss.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Properties under development

Properties under development are intended to be held for sale
after completion.

Properties under development are stated at the lower of cost
comprising land costs, construction costs, borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable to such
properties incurred during the development period and net
realisable value.

Properties under development are classified as current assets
unless those will not be realised in the normal operating cycle.
On completion, the properties are transferred to completed
properties held for sale.

Completed properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined by
an apportionment of the total costs of land and buildings
attributable to the unsold properties. Net realisable value takes
into account the price ultimately expected to be realised, less
estimated costs to be incurred in selling the properties.

Lease

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, Or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term lease and leases
of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

(@)

(b)

Right of use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of- use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised,
initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated
on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets (if
any).

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated
using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate,
and amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate
are recognised as an expense in the period in which the
event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying
amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a change in
lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a change
in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leases of low-value assets to
leases of buildings or offices that are considered to be of
low value.

The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”), and fair value through
profit or loss (“FVPL").

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in
the case of a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined
under IFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for
“Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or FVOCI, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on
the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash
flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at FVPL,
irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at FVOCI are held within a business model with
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within the
aforementioned business models are classified and measured
at FVPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.

154  XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022

e

2.

EARSFTER(E)
RERHMEHMEE (F)
NprRRTE (&)
FMETREENTEREENRS A (K
AEEAGBERHEZEEZR)
R BHREBRRARERIMGENE
BRENHPERNEENESREEER
ig-i o

wmit R
TRMEENREFTEIRREN TR
Bl :

BB EA A B2 B EE (EFTA)
BREHRAENSREERBCRE
BRI ZERTE I—Iazx»ﬂﬁ =2 -
BERIEER  BEHRER - W

)ESTEE\??E\TE/\&ﬁ@i@W 2%431'@

=7
s °©

THMEERILER

ERMEE(K MEMR - —EHE wﬁﬁ?

E“U-%E%Eﬁ—%ﬂlﬁ%’%ﬁu BEEMN—
)‘IEZ—ETE‘J’%%T%@&TJ&TM(EM@$

SEMREMBARRARFHIER) -

o WEKEEERE
BAEER ;5

SHEMENEN

e AKECREERHENMZBEEMS
RenE8MERN  ARE A
[N | RHEAREET MERER
MBERTRAE=7E2HENHAFHE
EREBEME 2 )$%E$¢E§é
ZIERENBAR D AR B
FO)AEES EEEHRE LR
BERAB I ERNO®R  BEH
EAIARERETIRE -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates, if and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. When
it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset,
the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group's continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at FVPL. ECLs are
based on the difference between the contractual cash flows
due in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at an approximation
of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,
irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group assesses
whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition. When making
the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date
with the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable
and supportable information that is available without undue
cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of
recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets at amortised
cost are subject to impairment under the general approach
and they are classified within the following stages for
measurement of ECLS except for trade receivables which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLS

Stage 1:

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2:

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, or loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at FVPL

Financial liabilities at FVPL include financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial
recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near term.
This category also includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the Group that are not designated as hedging
instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9.
Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held
for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The net fair value gain or loss
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income does not include any interest
charged on these financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at FVPL (Continued)

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at
FVPL are designated at the initial date of recognition, and
only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses
on liabilities designated at FVPL are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, except for the gains
or losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which are
presented in other comprehensive income with no subsequent
reclassification to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss. The net fair value gain or loss recognised in the profit or
loss does not include any interest charged on these financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost,
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i)
the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy as
set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount
initially recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative
amount of income recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in profit or 10ss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position if, and only if, there is a currently enforceable
legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
demand deposits, and short term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and
have a short maturity of generally within three months when
acquired, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in
nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in profit or loss as finance costs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Income tax

The charge for current income tax is based on the results
for the period as adjusted for items that are non-assessable
or disallowed. It is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements.
However, any deferred tax arising from initial recognition of
goodwill; or other asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss is
not recognised.

The deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
recovered or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax
laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, tax losses and
credits can be utilised.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences arising on
investment in subsidiaries, except where the timing of the
reversal of the temporary differences is controlled by the
Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
to match the grant on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the
goods or services to the customer. The variable consideration
is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it
is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the
amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when
the associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the transfer
of the promised goods or services is one year or less, the
transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant
financing component, using the practical expedient in IFRS 15.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Sale of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset
is transferred to the purchaser. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides benefits which are received and consumed
simultaneously by the purchaser; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the purchaser
controls as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the purchaser obtains control of the asset.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on the Group’s
efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of the performance
obligation that best depict the Group’s performance in
satisfying the performance obligation.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the
promised amount of consideration for the effect of a financing
component if it is significant.

For properties development and sales contracts for which
the control of the property is transferred at a point in time,
revenue is recognised when the purchaser obtains the
physical possession, or the legal title of the completed
property and the Group has a present right to payment and
the collection of the consideration is probable.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over
the lease terms.
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Interest income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group fulfills the performance obligations under the contract
(i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Other employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees.

Defined contribution plans

The obligations for contributions to defined contribution
retirement scheme are recognised as expenses in profit or
loss as incurred and are reduced by contributions forfeited
by those employees who leave the scheme prior the
contributions are vested fully in those employees. The assets
of the scheme are held separately from those of the Group in
an independently administered fund.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Defined contribution plans (Continued)

The contributions recognised in respect of pension scheme
are expensed as they fall due. Liabilities and assets may be
recognised if underpayment or prepayment has occurred and
are included in current liabilities or current assets as they are
normally of a short-term nature. The Group participates in the
pension scheme under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (the "“MPF Scheme”) which is
available to its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme by the Group and employees are made based on
a percentage of employees’ basic salaries and are charged to
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate
in the PRC are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain percentage
of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension
scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
Group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment
or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy
by having a detailed formal plan which is without realistic
possibility of withdrawal.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready
for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the
cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing
costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for
their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs are
expensed in the period in which they are incurred. Borrowing
costs consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs
in connection with the borrowing of funds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

2.

e BRI
Year ended 31 December 2022 HZE —ZE -+ —_A=+—HIEFE
BEXRETEHE(E)
Hhig

Foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Renminbi (“RMB"), which is the functional currency of the
Company and the Group because the Group’s principal
operations are carried out in the PRC.

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses
resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from
the translation at period-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or 10ss.

The results and financial position of all the group entities that
have a functional currency different from the presentation
currency (“foreign operations”) are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

° Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate at
the end of the reporting period.

° Income and expenses for each statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rate.

° All resulting exchange differences arising from the
above translation and exchange differences arising
from a monetary item that forms part of the Group's net
investment in a foreign operation are recognised as a
separate component of equity.

° On the disposal of a foreign operation, which includes
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, a disposal involving the loss of control over a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a partial
disposal of an interest in a joint arrangement or an
associate that includes a foreign operation of which the
retained interest is no longer equity-accounted for, the
cumulative amount of the exchange differences relating
to the foreign operation that is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the separate
component of equity is reclassified from equity to profit
or loss when the gain or loss on disposal is recognised.

HRASENEREZRRHBEET - &
FEMBRERARRFRAREENIRE
ERARBETAREDIIR -

SNER S TR Z BB ITERKRE
RNEER - REXHEEARIAINE
AHEMBEBEERABREREXGLE
EERER WS R EE - RBSER -

HENEETRNMEEE
%%J)H’J%iiﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬂ&
Eﬁ%ﬁﬁélm 258 -

s RBUBKRAKRNBEENAEBERESES
R MERBRE -

o XEBEHKHMEEUREROKIR
FHERBS -

s IHMEEAMNMAEREZENE
AR BN G ERHIRE FE—
Moz ERERELNELEREY
R RERNE LD

s HEBINER(BREREEARAEER
BINER 2 - P REAEE
SEINERS 2 B A R RS
HEEE IO HEREELH
S E N (BREEREESTH
EN%E\ PIBRK)GINERS ) MER)

C BELEINERSFERE T \,\ﬁﬁzﬁ
Wﬁ$@ulﬁﬁﬁ$ﬁi n R
FIRER ZRE RS - NERD
EERNHRERENOEEER -

FAREERERAR Z—TFFHK 165

S



"!-‘-‘__4——

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

. On the partial disposal of the Group's interest in a
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation which
does not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiary, the proportionate share of the cumulative
amount of the exchange differences recognised in the
separate component of equity is re-attributed to the non-
controlling interests in that foreign operation and are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

. On all other partial disposals, which includes partial
disposal of associates or joint ventures that do not result
in the Group losing significant influence or joint control,
the proportionate share of the cumulative amount
of exchange differences recognised in the separate
component of equity is reclassified to profit or l0ss.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly to
the Group’s most senior executive management, which is the
Group's chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
allocating resources to, and assessing the performance of, the
Group’s various geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Future changes in IFRSs
At the date of authorisation of the consolidated financial
statements, the IASB has issued the following new/revised
IFRSs that are not yet effective for the current year, which the
Group has not early adopted.

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28

Amendments to IFRS 16
Amendments to IAS 1
Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to 1AS 7 and
[FRS 7

Amendments to 1AS 21
IFRS 17 (including the October

2020 and February 2022
Amendments to IFRS 17)

Amendments to IFRS 10 and
IAS 28
Amendments to IFRS 16

Amendments to IAS 1

Amendments to 1AS 1 and
IFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to IAS 8

Amendments to IAS 12

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture'

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current?
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants?

Supplier Finance Arrangements®

Lack of Exchangeability*

Insurance Contracts?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture!

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)!

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction?

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2023.

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2024.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January

2025.

The directors of the Company do not anticipate that the
adoption of the new/revised IFRSs in future periods will have
any material impact on the financial performance and financial

position of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 = —FE - —&F+-_A=+—RHIFE
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management of the Group has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations, which has
the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Classification between property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and completed properties held for sale
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the
Group considers whether a property generates cash flows
largely independently of the other assets held by the Group.
Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and another portion that is
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. If these portions could be sold
separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the

3.
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Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions MZEBH TR B E - BIfERIHE
could not be sold separately, the property is an investment EESRREE MR K ETEARD
property only if an insignificant portion is held for use in the AW TAEKRE » ZYWEFEHRAEKE

production or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property basis
to determine whether ancillary services are so significant
that a property does not qualify as an investment property.
Completed properties held for sale comprise properties that
are held for sale in the ordinary course of business. Principally,
these are residential properties that the Group develops and
intends to sell before or on completion of construction.

Withholding tax arising from the distribution of dividends
The Group’s determination, as to whether to accrue
withholding taxes arising from the distributions of dividends
by certain subsidiaries according to the relevant tax rules
enacted in the jurisdictions, is subject to judgement on the
plan of the distribution of dividends.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial reporting period, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets at amortised costs

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables and financial assets included in prepayments,
other receivables and other financial assets at amortised
costs. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various debtor segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type and
rating, and coverage by letters of credit and other forms of
credit insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix
to adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., gross domestic product) are expected to
deteriorate over the next financial reporting period which
can lead to an increased number of defaults in the property
development sector, the historical default rates are adjusted.
At the end of each reporting period, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLS is
a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast
of economic conditions may also not be representative of
debtor’s actual default in the future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision of properties under development and completed
properties held for sale

The Group’s properties under development and completed
properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Based on the Group’s historical experience
and the nature of the subject properties, the Group makes
estimates of the selling prices, the costs of completion of
properties under development, and the costs to be incurred in
selling the properties based on prevailing market conditions.

If there is an increase in costs to completion or a decrease in
net sales value, the net realisable value will decrease and this
may result in a provision for properties under development
and completed properties held for sale. Such a provision
requires the use of judgement and estimates. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, the carrying
value and provision for properties in the periods in which the
estimate is changed will be adjusted accordingly.

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Indefinite life intangible assets are tested for
impairment annually and at other times when such an indicator
exists. Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not
be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value
of an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell
and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less
costs to sell is based on available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or
observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows
from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation on the fair value of investment properties
Investment properties, including completed investment
properties and investment properties under construction
carried at fair value, are revalued at the end of each reporting
period based on the appraised market value provided by
independent professional valuers. Such valuations are based
on certain assumptions, which are subject to uncertainty and
might materially differ from the actual results. In making the
estimation, the Group considers information from current
prices in an active market for similar properties and uses
assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions
existing at the end of each reporting period.

The principal assumptions for the Group's estimation of
the fair value include those related to current market rents
for similar properties in the same location and condition,
appropriate discount rates, expected future market rents and
future maintenance costs.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount
of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the
likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies.

PRC land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for LAT
is based on management'’s best estimates according to the
understanding of the requirements set forth in the relevant
PRC tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the tax authorities upon the
completion of the property development projects. The Group
has not finalised its LAT calculation and payments with the
tax authorities for all its property development projects. The
final outcome could be different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, and any differences will impact on the LAT
expenses and the related provision in the period in which the
differences realise.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Convertible bonds

The management uses their judgements in selecting an
appropriate valuation technique for financial instruments not
quoted in an active market. Valuation techniques commonly
used by market practitioners are applied. In determining the
fair value of convertible bonds, assumptions are made based
on quoted market rates adjusted for specific features of the
instrument.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three reportable operating segments as follows:

(@) the properties development segment engages in the
development and sale of properties;

(b) the properties leasing segment engages in leasing out
properties for their rental income potential and/or for
capital appreciation; and

(c) the others segment engages in investment holding.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profits or loss, which is a measure or adjusted profit
or loss before income tax.

No analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by operating
segment is disclosed as it is not regularly provided to the chief
operating decision-maker for review.

Intersegment sales and transfers (if any) are transacted with
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third
parties at the then prevailing market prices.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. DEHER(EH)

Year ended 31 December 2022

BE-_Z-_—_F+-A=+—HLEE

op g O onsolidated
R B’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 R B’000
Segment revenue 2k
Sales to external customers $HE FHNEE P 6,065 29,133 - 35,198
Segment results PP 4 (1,495,795)  (1,205,860) (127,968)  (2,829,623)
Loss before income tax BRETIS TR E 1B (2,829,623)
Other segment information Hfth 5 &R
Bank interest income ERITH WA 1 51 1 53
Changes in fair value of BEMEZANEE
investment properties e - (1,082,900) - (1,082,900)
Changes in fair value of RRESFZ AR
convertible bonds BEEEZS) - - 24,336 24,336
Depreciation of property, VI - BE K&
plant and equipment e 46 1 1 48
Finance costs BB A 76,755 - 7,289 84,044
Impairment of completed BIERENERIY
properties held for sale ERE 207,254 - - 207,254
Impairment of properties FEFYERE
under development 81,844 - - 81,844
Impairment of trade B 5 W GRIA R A
receivables, net FFE - 2,848 - 2,848
Impairment of financial FTATERFRIE - HAtb
assets included in FEMFRIA R H A&
prepayments, other EseREERE
receivables and other HEE
assets, net 19,657 - - 19,657
Interest penalties IS 229,176 - 82,948 312,124
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 &

4.

S

FH-A=+—HILFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

4. DHERE

Year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
Property Property
development leasing Others Consolidated
Lk EHEE EHh 5t
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT ARBTIT AR%®Tr ARETT
Segment revenue 2 &R U i
Sales to external customers $H&E FINBE P 41,589 60,244 - 101,833
Segment results DEREELE (619,342) (257,875) 35,278 (841,939)
Loss before income tax BRET1SFLATE 18 (841,939)
Other segment information H{th 7 ZB & ¥
Additions to property, plant REWE¥ - BE &
and equipment B35 20 - - 20
Bank interest income RITHBUA 34 150 1 185
Changes in fair value of AMRER 2 ARE
convertible bonds (EREEY) - - 8,092 8,092
Changes in fair value of wEME 2 ANEBE
investment properties #9) = (2,000) - (2,000)
Depreciation of property, Yz - BE REE
plant and equipment e 68 22 92
Finance costs AR AR 76,875 - 6,178 83,053
Impairment of completed FERENERTIY
properties held for sale FRE 8,350 - - 8,350
Impairment of properties FERYERE
under development 12,271 - - 12,271
Impairment of trade H 5 W IR E
receivables, net peit-S] - 510 - 510
Impairment of financial FTATERFRIE - HAtb
assets included in FE WK TE K H A &
prepayments, other EZermEERE
receivables and other HEE
assets, net 1,998 - - 1,998
Interest penalties e 312,052 - 80,789 392,841
Net gain on settlement of A EH@mHAH B EFUK
overdue interest-bearing e}
borrowings 276,279 - - 276,279
Net loss on de-consolidation EUE4R& ABR— R
of a subsidiary BRI EEFE 466,296 270,075 (96,315) 640,056
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 4. DHER (&)
Geographical information b 38 &
Since the Group solely operates business in the PRC and HRAEEERPREKLEER - BAE
almost all of the Group’s non-current assets are located in the BATHEFERBDEEMNPRE - I
PRC, geographical segment information in accordance with EIRERRY B mEERERLEED
IFRS 8 Operating Segments is not presented. BRI IE D FER o
Information about major customers FRETERFNEH
None of the customers individually contributed 10% or more 3 = —— —E-—%F+=H8
of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2022 =+—HILFE HMEREFBEEARR
and 2021. EBWZF10%KIA L o
REVENUE 5. W
| 2021
=% z :;ﬁ:—f‘i
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBT T
Revenue from contracts with B PR BTSRRI SE15 R EE A
customers within IFRS 15 ZEEEHHWRE
Sales of properties L EX NS 6,065 41,589
Revenue from other sources kB E M RFRA K
Gross rental income from investment KB E Y ELLHENTHS
property operating leases WA LB RE
- other lease payments, including —HMBEERMNRK  BIEEHE
fixed payments N 29,133 60,244
35,198 101,833
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

5. REVENUE (CONTINUED) 5. Wz (&)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information @ WADIHREHR
In addition to the information shown in segment Br > SR IE BB TR R 2 B RHASN
disclosures, the revenue from contracts with customers BBk EEANEISRERAN
within IFRS 15 is disaggregated as follows: EPEHNB B IT
| 2021
E A :;ﬁ:—ﬁz
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R A ARBTIT
Geographical region: 1t 7B fi7 15, -
- The PRC —H 6,065 41,589
Timing of revenue recognition: WA FERAT R -
- ata pointin time — P — &R Bh 6,065 41,589
Type of transaction price: REEWEES -
— fixed price —EEER 6,065 41,589
The amount of revenue recognised for the year ended REEZZT-__F+=-A=+—H
31 December 2022 that was included in the contract IEFEBRITAFYELHBED
liabilities at the beginning of the year is approximately e B AR 6,065,000 (=
RMB6,065,000 (2021: RMB41,589,000). T-—%F : AR%41,589,0007T) °
(b) Performance obligations (b) BREIE
Information about the Group's performance obligations EEAEEYEHEBRNEANE
in respect of sales of properties is summarised below: BT
The performance obligation is satisfied when customers BHBEEREFISERIMEE
obtain the physical possession or the legal title of the BRHABRNEEER  ~EE#ES
completed properties and the Group has right to payment TR B AT R (B RS ETT o

and the collection of the consideration is probable.

176  XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022
———



M
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR MR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSSES 6. HMWARKZURER

| 2021
- : —FT—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
Other income Hug A
Bank interest income HRITHEMA 53 185
Government grants T 485 B 35 21
Others HAh 88 849
176 1,055
Gains and losses W=k EE
Net gain on settlement of overdue A& @HIAT B E IS F58
interest-bearing borrowings (Note)  (Bf&E) - 276,279
Exchange (loss) gain, net N (EE) =55 (23,138) 2,541
Other gain, net HAth a5 58 224 19
(22,914) 278,839
(22,738) 279,894
Note: During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group and its Mzx: REBEE-ZT=—F+A=+—HIL
borrowers entered into settlement agreements in relation to FE - AEERAERAGLE@E
certain overdue interest-bearing borrowings which resulted TR EERNEERZE - BW
in net increase in principal of approximately RMB9,341,000 FIE A S 4 A R 9,341,000 7T LA
and net decrease of interest and penalty payments of EFRLFMERIRNROARE
approximately RMB285,620,000. 285,620,0007T °
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 7. BRESHAIEE
This is stated after charging (crediting): KENBR (BT A) T FIIE B 12 51I8R -
| 2021
g ] —E—%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AR#ET T
Finance costs BMER A
Interest on interest-bearing bank FTRESRITREMMEFTAFE
and other borrowings 101,368 94,085
Interest expense arising from RBEWEELFERE
revenue contracts - 1,176
Total interest expenses BH B 101,368 95,261
Less: Interest capitalised W BRMEFE (17,324) (12,208)
Total finance costs BE R AAEEE 84,044 83,053
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

7.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 7.
This is stated after charging (crediting):

BRATGBIATE 1R (&)

kR (GEA) TIIEB 2518 -

| 2021
S T —%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R s AREEF T
Staff costs (excluding directors’ ETRA(ESMERM)
emoluments)
Salaries, allowances and benefits-in- & ~ 2B R EYFIZ
kind 14,292 18,160
Contribution to defined contribution 5 7E {70t 28 i 3%
plans 2,154 2,540
16,446 20,700
Other items Hig g
Auditor’'s remuneration Z SN &
— Audit services — 1 Z R 1,638 1,576
— Non-audit services — IR BRT - 207
Cost of properties sold B EYEMNRA 10,416 13,460
Cost of leasing properties THEWEKARN 4,771 10,754
Depreciation of property, plant and % - M= KR ETE
equipment 48 92
Gain on disposal of property, plant  HE&EWZE - BE &R EREFE
and equipment, net - (19)
Impairment of financial assets, net & EVEEREF5E (5T AT £ 53
(included in “other expenses”) 1)
— Impairment of trade receivables, — —& 5 Uk Z I8 R (EF 5
net 2,848 510
— Impairment of financial assets —FTATEFIR - HAbEWEIR
included in prepayments, NMEMEENSREERE
other receivables and other Pt
assets, net 19,657 1,998
22,505 2,508
Loss on court-ordered sale of EhmeHERFELRENESRTY
completed properties held for sale &8 280,788 =
Impairment of properties under AR YEREGIATEMRAS D)
development (included in “other
expenses”) 81,844 12,271
Impairment of completed properties #H{EHERNE % TWERE(GTA
held for sale (included in “other [Efmz )
expenses”) 207,254 8,350
Interest penalties (included in “other 18 (GFAIEMRE 1)
expenses”) 312,124 392,841
Lease payments not included inthe Rt ATEBFEHENHENK
measurement of lease liabilities 410 423
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED IAL STATEMENTS

RE MR RMEE
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE
DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVF’S 8. EBERFTETHAEZHMH
REMUNERATION
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the following ESENTIEEZHHFMOT
directors were as follows:
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-ZE__F+-A=+t—HLEE
0 D 0
0 0 e O
0 d be ) 0 0 putio
ge (l DO Pla 0
% B .
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Executive directors: YTEE.
Mr. Chen Chengshou BEFELE - 983 - - 983
Mr. Feng Cizhao EZAEE - 80 - - 80
Mr. Pu Wei (Note () ER L (M) - - - - -
Non-executive directors: FEHTEE :
Mr. Choi Clifford Wai BEREE
Hong - 224 - - 224
Mr. Zhou Zhencun BT & - 161 - - 161
Ms. Gao Qiaogin BhELL - 180 - - 180
Independent non- BUFHITES:
executive directors:
Mr. Khor Khie Liem, Alex  &FEEEE L4 224 - - - 224
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak HARLE 161 - - - 161
Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred ZIE#25EL4 161 - - - 161
546 1,628 - - 2,174
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e BHmRME
Year ended 31 December 2022 E=—FE-—F+-_A=+—HIFE
8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8. EBERFETHABZHM
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED) (#]&)
For the year ended 31 December 2021 HE-_Z-_—F+-_A=+—HILFE
Salaries, Contribution
allowances to defined
Directors’  and benefits-  Discretionary ~ contribution
fees in-kind bonus plans Total
e - 28 REHRR
EEHS RENF = BEIEAL ARl R et
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTL  ARBTT  AREBTLT  ARETT  ARETL

Executive directors: BTES !

Mr. Chen Chengshou BRASTEE - 983 - 105 1,088
Mr. Feng Cizhao LEBEE = 80 = - 80
Mr. Pu Wei (Note (a)) BRILE(HFEQ) = 299 - - 299
Non-executive directors: FHTES :

Mr. Choi Clifford Wai EREE (M)

Hong (Note (c)) - 114 - - 114
Mr. Zhou Zhencun BT 4 (B RE()

(Note (f)) - 18 - - 18
Ms. Gao Qiaoqin shExL - 180 - = 180
Mr. Chou Chiu Ho BRI LA (HED)

(Notes (b)) - 199 - - 199
Independent non- BUFHITES:

executive directors:

Mr. Khor Khie Liem, Alex  #FBEEESE 4 (B EE(0))

(Note (d) 78 - - - 78
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak HAREAE(HE)

(Note (g)) 25 - - - 25
Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred 21225 4 (KiEE(R)

(Note (f)) 18 - - - 18
Mr. Gu Jiong BmLsE 100 - = = 100
Mr. Chu Kin Wang, Peleus &7 % & (s ()

(Note (c)) 40 - - - 40
Mr. Fong Wo, Felix F A (HEeE)

(Note (g)) 173 - - - 173
Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy BRI (HEE))

(Note (f)) 182 = - - 182

616 1,873 - 105 2,594
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a

On 5 February 2020, Mr. Pu Wei was appointed as an executive
director of the Company. On 21 July 2022, Mr. Pu Wei was
vacated by resolution of the Board and ceased to be executive
director of the Company.

Mr. Chou Chiu Ho was appointed as an executive director of
the Company on 5 February 2020 and was re-designated to a
non-executive director of the Company on 1 May 2020. On 18
November 2021, Mr. Chou Chiu Ho resigned as a non-executive
director of the Company.

On 16 April 2021, Mr. Choi Clifford Wai Hong was appointed as
a non-executive director of the Company and Mr. Chu Kin Wang
Peleus was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of the Company. On 16 August 2021, Mr. Chu Kin Wang Peleus
resigned as an independent non-executive director of the
Company.

On 16 August 2021, Mr. Khor Khie Liem Alex was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company.

On 1 November 2021, Mr. Fong Wo, Felix resigned as an
independent non-executive director of the Company and
Mr. Chiu Kung Chak was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of the Company.

On 18 November 2021, Mr. Lo Wa Kei, Roy resigned as an
independent non-executive director of the Company. On
same date, Mr. Lau Wai Leung, Alfred was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company and Mr.
Zhou Zhencun was appointed as a non-executive director of the
Company.

Mr. Chen Chengshou is the chief executive officer of the
Group, and his emoluments disclosed above included those
for services rendered by him as chief executive officer during
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. No directors waived or agreed
to waive any emoluments in respect of the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

8.

i%&f% TTHRAB ZH M
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e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR R M RE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 9. IEEBEHFMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included five rFEEREEaTMEERERA(Z
(2021: one) directors, details of whose remuneration are set T —F: —R)EE - BEZHWMF
out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration for the year BEHIR EXHFS c REEHRTESR
of the remaining nil (2021: four) highest paid employees who ZE—F - OR)BRFERRREEN
are neither a director nor chief executive of the Company are FEBITHABZZSHEES 2 FH N
as follows: BT :
| 2021
: T
B’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
Salaries, bonus, allowances and e - AL FRIREY A &=
benefits-in-kind - 2,913
Contribution to defined contribution 5 E {71 ET 28 it 3%
schemes - 360
- 3,273
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e N FATEHE :
Number of individuals
AE
| 2021
T
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T - 2
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 75 2 1,500,000 7T - 2
- 4
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no HE-_T-_—_FRr-_FT=-—F+=A
emoluments were paid by the Group to the highest paid =+—HLEFE TEEHEINES
individuals as a payment for loss of office or as an inducement FATEMNNE - (ERBB o HENRE
to join or upon joining the Group. BIIAIR AR EE R 2 42E) o
For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no HE_T-_—_gRr-_FT=-_—F+=A
individuals waived or agreed to waive any emoluments. Z+—HLEFE BMEATHREKRE

BEEAME -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRME
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE T -_—F+-A=+—HILFE
0. INCOME TAX CREDIT 10. FREBiER
| 2021
= q —FT—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBT T
Current tax BN HA B 18
PRC Enterprise Income Tax — FEEMER - AFE
current year _ _
Land appreciation tax (“LAT") T HbIRER ([ T Hb3EEF ) 1,285 3,463
1,285 3,463
Deferred tax EER 18
Origination and reversal of R EREME £ KL
temporary differences (441,304) (14,296)
Total income tax credit for the year RS HIEK R 2% (440,019) (10,833)

The Group is subject to income tax on an entity based on
profits arising in or derived from the tax jurisdictions in
which members of the Group are domiciled and operated.
Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands
and the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI"), the Group's entities
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and the BVI are not
subject to any income tax.

The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong are not
liable for income tax as they did not have any assessable
income arising in Hong Kong during the year ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

The Group's entities established in the PRC are subject to PRC
Enterprise Income Tax at a statutory rate of 25% the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at
the tax rates prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

According to the requirements of the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 1 January 1994, and the
Detailed Implementation Rules on the Provisional Regulations
of the PRC on LAT effective from 27 January 1995, all income
from the sale or transfer of state-owned leasehold interest
on land, buildings and their attached facilities in the PRC
is subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% of the appreciation value, with an exemption provided
for property sales of ordinary residential properties if their
appreciation values do not exceed 20% of the sum of the total
deductible items.

REB A E BN A KB B QR M
KR & PR RA R E A RS H
BRI - RIEFESHELAE
RBRERES([RBEZESDMBRAIRE
Bl "EERNFEERERRBRERES
ARSI BB B ERREM SR

AEBREBBFMA LN E QR DBA
BWMETEE DEBEE-_TS K=
E-—F+-_A=Z=+—HLEFE ER
FRWEEREEETAERBTERA -

BE_T_—_Hh-_F-_—F+-A
=t+—BLFE  AEERPEKIZH
T B8 R 1K TE B R 25% AR B 1k S P
G

s
o

jni i

Hf iMIEZFEE%H}Ef‘JﬁI§EE$%@
REEREERER ZHEFTHE

RER—ANAEFE—A— B ERH(H
FEARKMBE L HIREHR LTGRO R
R—ANEF—AZ+tHBEZNCP
FEARKMBE LI ER L TRO(E
AWM E  hEXEBRTEEA
TiHEERD BEYRENZNME
28U A AR L EIRI0% E60%H) R
ERRGH T HIRER - EMEEL T
HRIB A NTHIE B A ANR20% - Rl EBE
EMROYEHEE R LB HIRER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (CONTINUED) 10.

The Group has estimated and made tax provision for LAT
according to the requirements set forth in the relevant PRC
tax laws and regulations. The actual LAT liabilities are subject
to the determination by the tax authorities upon completion
of the property development projects and the tax authorities
might disagree with the basis on which the provision for LAT is

FrigBiE R (&)

7 5K (818 454 A o B BOA RO A AR AT R
RE i 5 - Mt 35 {54 30 Bk bt 145 1 O
- ER LA A ERMEMRE
BSR T 1% RIS M BREE - T BLAS 14
A 8 5t L IR E R E R E R

=3
B o

ESS

calculated.
Reconciliation of income tax expenses FreBimx Yk
| 2021
E A :;ﬁ:—ﬁz
RMB’000 RMB’'000
R A ARBT T
Loss before income tax BRFT1SFL R ES 18 (2,829,623) (841,939)
Tax at the statutory tax rate of 25%  &ATE R R25% B K Fi 1B
(2021: 25%) T :25%) (707,406) (210,484)
Lower tax rate for specific entities — HE B 2 BEK X 35,186 6,891
Non-deductible expenses AR 326 175,804
Non-taxable income FERERTRA (5,720) (1,779)
Write-down of previously recognised U 5t B #E R B IR T 18 B B
deferred tax assets - -
Unrecognised tax losses and AERBEBERERETE
temporary differences 236,689 16,138
Subtotal INEE (440,925) (13,430)
Provision for LAT T IR E T 1,285 3,288
LAT prepaid for the year FRTE R LI ER - 175
Deferred tax effect of LAT TR ERARER B 2 (379) (822)
Tax effect of prepaid LAT TEfT MR ER R IE T E - (44)
Total income tax credit for the year FRFTSHHIKEEEE (440,019) (10,833)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
fRE MR

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11. DIVIDENDS 11. RE
The directors of the Company do not recommend the payment AARESEITEBREBEE_T__FK
of a dividend for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. TR F+ - A=t+—HILFERN
AR o
12. LOSS PER SHARE 12. BREGE
The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable RABEB ABESREARNREEES
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: RIGTE THER T3 8 -
| 2021
2 g B
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A AR T T
Loss: BiE
Loss attributable to owners of the  FE GRRER R EEEMERA
Company, used in basic and ZARNRER AEGEER
diluted loss per share calculation (2,250,428) (863,935)
| 2021
= H —E——
Number of shares: BREOEHE :
Weighted average number of FRUGTESRERREEEE 2
ordinary shares for the purpose of @M% IHEF 5
calculating basic and dilutive loss
per share 1,878,622,000 1,878,622,000
Diluted loss per share is same as basic loss per share as there BREEEEEGRERNEERR - 7
were no potential ordinary shares outstanding during the year HREE-_E-_—_F+=-A=+—HL
ended 31 December 2022. FEMERTEETLBER -
The computation of diluted loss per share does not assume BREEEENFTELTRE B RITE
the exercise of the outstanding share options since the BREREITE - DHENBRRITEFER
assumed exercise would result in decrease in loss per share BHE-Z - —F+-A=1+—HLFE
for the year ended 31 December 2021. R EREER D
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P B|RMEE
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE—T - —F+ - A=+—HIFE
13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. ¥1% - BMERRZE
Furniture and
Plant and office Motor
machinery equipment vehicles Total
KAR
FE T M 28 b UNEE HE #st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT

Cost RA&
At 1 January 2021 RZE-_—4
—H—H 2,662 5,271 18,680 26,613
Additions RE - 20 - 20
Disposals & - - (10,913) (10,913)
De-consolidation of a BUB&GRA AR—F
subsidiary (Note 29) Pt 8 2 &) (FiT3E29) = (690) (1,803) (2,493)
At 31 December 2021, R-E-—%F
1 January 2022 and +=-A=+—-H"
31 December 2022 —Z--%-H-H
R-TB--F
+ZA=1+—H 2,662 4,601 5,964 13,227
Accumulated depreciation i E
At 1 January 2021 RZE-—%—H—H 2,529 4,729 15,346 22,604
Charge for the year FAMk - 66 26 92
Disposals e - - (7.893) (7.893)
De-consolidation of a BUB&GRA AR—f
subsidiary (Note 29) 8 2 A (FT3E29) = (648) (1,674) (2,322)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZ=—
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—-HBk
“Z-~#—A—H 2,529 4,147 5,805 12,481
Charge for the year ERK - 48 - 48
At 31 December 2022 R-E-ZE
+=A=+-H 2,529 4,195 5,805 12,529
Net carrying amounts REFE
At 31 December 2022 R-ZBE-_-&
+=B=+-H 133 406 159 698
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F
+=A=+—H 133 454 159 746
None of the Group's property, plant and equipment have been RZEZZFR=ZT=—F+=A
pledged to secure borrowings granted to the Group at 31 =+—H AEEMEERDE  HE
December 2022 and 2021. REEAEATREBERNEMERZ

PELR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

A I IRER M EE

14. REWE

RMB’000
ARETIT
Fair value AREE
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE=-—F—H—H 3,296,000
Court-ordered sale of property FEbran S N EYE (306,000)
Changes in fair value RAEBEEE (2,000)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—HEK 2,988,000
T —H—H

Changes in fair value NABEEZE (1,082,900)
Disposal upon court-ordered sale (Note) Ehran < &R E (MEE) (969,000)
At 31 December 2022 R-—ZEBE-_—_+=-A=+—H 936,100
Note: In January 2022, # /T & # & & = & 12 B R 2 A (Zhejiang BI5E - %;%::E*ﬂ T EMEE
Zheshang Asset Management Company Limited*) (“Zhejiang EEEBARAG (I NE]) R

Zheshang”) has filed an enforcement notice applying to #;T%&
BT AR A BRSEBE (Zhejiang Wenzhou Intermediate People’s
Court*) (the “Wenzhou Court”) for an enforcement order to
auction and sell the entire ownership of the investment
property held by Wenshang Times located at Wenshang Times
Red Star Macalline Household Products Market, No. 1990
Donghuan Road, Jiaojiang District, Taizhou City, Zhejiang
Province, The PRC (the “Taizhou Properties”) since Wenshang
Times was unable to repay the overdue borrowings with
principal amount of RMB493,000,000 together with interest
and penalty payments not less than RMB95 million to Zhejiang
Zheshang (the “Total Outstanding Sum”).

On 13 May 2022, the Wenzhou Court proceeded to hold an
initial auction. On 31 May 2022, Wenshang Times received
an auction confirmation (the “Auction Confirmation”) issued
by the Wenzhou Court. Under the Auction Confirmation, the
entire ownership of the Taizhou Properties has been auctioned
off to an independent third party at the auction price of
RMB282,403,000 to repay the Total Outstanding Sum.

At 31 December 2021, the Taizhou Properties were stated
at fair value of RMB969,000,000 and accordingly the loss on
court-ordered sale of approximately RMB686,597,000 was
charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 December

2022.

Details of above are set out in the Company’s announcement

dated 31 May 2022.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.

ZHITEE - [T & RN AR
ARER (DRMER ) BERTT
L LAE R H SR BT
RABEHNTE &M UL R RIRE
19905 R AR AL E XHBERE
EmmsnREME(SMYED
MEEAARE - REZRARAE
EMA I BEERASERARE
493,000,0007T ¥y 361 B fi& 532 [ 78,
REHRMERAREISEE TR
EREE] -

R-ZE-—_FRA+=8 - BMER
HEITVIRHEE NZE-_—_FHA
=+—8 B REER AT R
EHHERRE([HERRE]) - B
BHERRE  aNDENEIME
HERIAEE AR 282,403,0007T
HMETBIE=H  NEBREER
%*E °

R-ZT=——F+=—A=+—08 " &M
Y E RN EBE AR 969,000,000
JTCHIER At BE T - —F+—
A=+—HLLFE  ZhasEEN
B 1B 4 A R 686,597,000 7T 1A 18 25
Rk o

LREERRAATASA=E =
FEA=+—ANRE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

The Group’s investment properties consist of commercial
properties completed in the PRC. The Group’s investment
properties were revalued on 31 December 2022 based
on valuations performed by independent professionally
qualified valuers at approximately RMB936,100,000 (2021:
RMB2,988,000,000). For each financial reporting period,
the Group’s senior management may decide, to appoint
which external valuer to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection criteria
include market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained. The Group’s
senior management have discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results twice a year when
the valuation is performed for interim and annual financial
reporting.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's investment properties with
aggregate values of approximately RMB936,100,000 (2021:
RMB2,988,000,000) were pledged to secure interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings granted to the Group (Note 25).

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

14. REWX(E)

AEBNREVEBENFEERTH
BENE - AKEREVER-_FT_—
FT_RA=1T—BHBIEXSERM
EEEFHE - K8 AR%936,100,000
T(ZT = —%F : AK¥2,988,000,000
TT) c REMBHREHE  AEETE
ERABARATZEAEAEEME
SNRAGE 2 SN SRAGERD - BhEERIBE
M ME 58 - BUMEARFEEL
ELREIFRE - KoL B R FEBH
WETHER  AEESEEEAES
FRiAERR LA ESREGERM®

IR °

R-TBE-_—F+_A=+—H K&£E
BIKIRAEEL B ARK936,100,0007T
(ZZ=——%F : AR¥2,988,000,0007T)
WIREME  UWERAEBERNE
BT R EMER(HFE25) -

AREEER
TERFIAEEREMENALEER
BEER

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—® E-R B=R st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETFTT AREFTT AREFT ARETTT
Recurring fair value HEEYRETRE
measurement for HAREETE:
commercial properties:
At 31 December 2022 R-ZEBE-Z=F+=8
=+-—H - - 936,100 936,100
At 31 December 2021 RZB-_—F+_H
=+—H = = 2,988,000 2,988,000

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers
into or out of Level 3.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMmRHE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 14.

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used
and the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

2022

Valuation techniques

fh B HK 1l

Significant unobservable inputs

EVNGLIE £ PN ¢

BEY=X(H)
ARBEEER(E)

SATR B 3 W S £ L0 T P A i (L K
REEHABHENHEE -

—E-_F

Direct comparison method
HELBA

Unit rate per gross floor area (RMB per square meter)
SREMBEMEB(ARE FHXK)

5,378-6,699

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated unit rate
per gross floor area would result in a significant increase
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment properties.

2021

BREmBEMGTEMBREEMORD)
SEYREMERRBEAEE MO
/J\) °

—E-—%F

Range (weighted

Valuation technigues Significant unobservable inputs average)
fhEF T BRI ARG A BUE EE (hiiEF1g)
Discounted cash flow method Market daily rental rate (RMB per square meter) 1.60-3.30
R MEBARE mis AR (ARE FEFHK)

Term yield (%) 4.75-5.50

F HA G R % (%)

Reversionary yield (%) 5.25-6.00

18 53 B 7R =X (%)

A significant increase (decrease) in the estimated rental value
and the market rent growth rate per annum in isolation would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of
the investment properties. A significant increase (decrease)
in the discount rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment
properties. Generally, a change in the assumption made for
the estimated rental value is accompanied by a directionally
similar change in the rent growth per annum and the discount
rate.

B HEBERTSHSFIERXER
RIEBZEMORD) @EBREMEARE
BEREZMORD) - BE3R X FEFAIRIE
MORD) @EHIREMERAABEKR
BMAOGEM) - —KWME - BLAFTHEHERE
BEHNERRNEHSERHEFER
KRR ERBBUT AES -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

15. LEASES 15.
The Group as lessee

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
lease contracts for various items of buildings or offices used
in its operations with lease terms of 12 months or less and/or
individually low value. Generally, the Group is restricted from
assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group.

(@) The amounts recognised in profit or l0ss in relation to
lease are as follows:

HE

AEBEAEBEA
HE-_T-_—_F#+-_A=+—HILHF
B AEBBBHLCEMANSRIESF
P AEHMHAB A2 B FHIAT K&K
AR EFRBAZEBEREEESY -
—mE  AEBAAAAERRINA
TEEREAREEE -

(@ TEZPHEREEHRENFEN
™

| 2021
= - —E—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 AREF T

Expense relating to leases of HEEEEEHEBEN
low-value assets (included in A (GTAITTBAX )
“administrative expenses”)

410 423

(b)  The total cash outflow for leases (including short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets) for the year ended
31 December 2022 was approximately RMB410,000 (2021:
RMB423,000).
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A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the undiscounted lease
payments receivables by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

15. HE(E)

REBEEREHEA

RBERR  RRAEAEERFEE
BP 2 FAI L = HE M YRR
MERBEWNT

| 2021

Z 2 B

RMB’000 RMB'000

K AR T T

Within one year —FR 3,660 26,140
Over one year —F U+ 124 237
3,784 26,377

Leasing arrangement

The investment properties are leased to a tenant for a term of
two years which is non-cancellable by the tenant. The lease
does not contain any renewal option. Monthly rental charges
consist of fixed payments and variable payments that are
based on a percentage of sales of the tenant. The tenant also
bears the management fees and amounts charged by the
government such as the rates levied on the Group.

The details of the lease income from operating leases are set
out in note 2 to the consolidated financial statements.

MERH
BEMFR LB THES  BHAMF -
BB A S B - R ET S
BEER - ARCEABEETRAR
HNTF W E L PIMA # 5K - FE IR
AREERERBTREMR - i
1A 7 S A M ) 22 A o

REMENHERAFBERNEA M
A2
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

16. DEFERRED TAX 16. IELRH
Deferred tax liabilities EEREEE
Fair value
Accelerated  adjustment of
tax investment Capitalised

depreciation properties interest Total

mE  REMELR
BERE BEERE ERLFE ‘st
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETTT ARETTT ARETTT

At 1 January 2021 R-_Z=-—F—H—H 64,900 464,528 177,386 706,814
De-consolidation of a subsidiary ~ BUM4&A ABE—

(Note 29) BB R (HaE29) (3,920) (18,103) (67,033) (89,056)
Credit to profit or loss REBZPEFA - (500) (12,986) (13,486)
At 31 December 2021 and RZZZ—%

1 January 2022 TZA=+—-HkK

—T-_-_%—A—H 60,980 445,925 97,367 604,272
(Credit) Charge to profit or loss  FMB#EF (GEA) 3% - (445,925) 5,000 (440,925)
At 31 December 2022 R-BE-—&F

+=BA=+-AH 60,980 - 102,367 163,347
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e MBMmRHE

16. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED) 16. IELERIH ()
Deferred tax assets BEEREEE
Loss
available
for offsetting
against future  Accruals and
taxable profit provisions  Accrued LAT Total
AR
RIRFERB FEGt L it
BRI ER BRREERE BED @t
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETTT

At 1 January 2021 W-—E-_—F—H—H 37,715 22,930 159,580 220,225
De-consolidation of a subsidiary ~ BUM&A ABE—H
(Note 29) 3 7 (P EE29) - - (19,146) (19,146)
(Charge) Credit to profitor loss MBS (F0BR )&t A - (12) 822 810
At 31 December 2021 and RZTZ—%
1 January 2022 +TZA=+—R8k
—E-—#—f—H 37,715 22,918 141,256 201,889
Credit to profit or loss REZEFREA - - 379 379
At 31 December 2022 R-B-—&
+=B=+—-H 37,715 22,918 141,635 202,268
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

16. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in the PRC of approximately
RMB1,532,363,000 (2021: RMB581,826,000) that will expire in
one to five years for offsetting against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of
these losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been
loss-making for some time and it is not considered probable
that taxable profits will be available against which the tax
losses can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had
unrecognised deferred tax assets arising from unused
tax losses of approximately RMB6,129,452,000 (2021:
RMB145,457,000) available for set-off against future taxable
profit.

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the consolidated statement of
financial position for the year ended 31 December 2021. The
following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

16.

EREBIE (48)
EEMREEE (&)
AEBRPREEBRBABEROBARE
1,532,363,000C(ZE=—F : AR¥
581,826,0007T) * WK —ERAFAE
o P PR 8 R 2R B ER B i A o

WERZEEERERECHAEE )

AZEBRHCER —REREZHB
NRIFTELE MR A TR R BRBR

AT DR E R -

REREEIR - ANEE IR F AT AR
RRERBOREF MW KRB AR IEBELD
AR#6,129,452,0000( = F = — 4 :
AR #145,457,0007C ) ERIELEFH B E
E °

RERANME ETEEHREER
BECREBE_T_—F+_A=1—
AL FENEAMBARRRPEE - A
TARRMBRS B NELHNARBEELT
IR DT

| 2021
: : —FF
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised i*/\ﬁﬁkﬂﬁ:/ﬁi%ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁ
in the consolidated statement of IRFEFR IR B R 58
financial position 202,268 76,087
Net deferred tax liabilities %Aﬁﬁ%ﬂk MR R
recognised in the consolidated FERIEREFE
statement of financial position (163,347) (478,470)
(38,921) (402,383)
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16. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

17.

N
—
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FREMBEwRME
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE
16. EEHIE(E)
R EFENH

Withholding tax on dividends

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rate is 10%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed
by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect
of earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

As at 31 December 2022, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the subsidiaries of the Group established in the PRC. In
the opinion of the Company’s directors, it is not probable
that these subsidiaries will distribute earnings arising from 1
January 2008 to 31 December 2022 in the foreseeable future.
The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated
with the investments in these subsidiaries in the PRC for
which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled
approximately RMB173,010,000 (2021: RMB217,308,000).

RIBHBEGEMBHE - NP BN
SR ECERIBEREETIRNK
B ARI0%BH TR BURTEMBL © %R
EEBE_ZTNF-HA—BREN  L#E
BR-ZZET+F+_A=1T—HENEA
A o i BESNE R A E R RA R
ERFRBHHE - AT RARENTAEHT
o REBENBERBER10% © Bt -
BE-ZZN\F-HA—HE AEEEAER
FE R B B ST O B B 1 B BT EE A 0 BN T
DR S ETERTAEINRNE -

R-ZE-_—F+—-_A=+—H ' #E}®
AREE B A A LB B A B AR IE
AR (EHMTENBE) MBS HTENT
BRELEHIBEAE - XARESRE
ZEMBRARRATERLB R KA RED
KR —_EENF—A—HBE=-_Z=-_—

+TA=Z+—HEANERN - BFEKE
REZEFENKBEARMNEREEZEE
HARUEBERELEHREAR)AHXOA
AR #173,010,0000c( ZFE=—F : A
FR#217,308,0007T) °

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT 17. FAEPRYE
| 2021
: 1 —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R AREET T
At the beginning of the reporting IR E B )
period 850,985 1,390,487
Additions NE 145,733 132,443
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BUBtRAE ABE—HEWE AR
(Note 29) (FF#E29) - (659,674)
Transfer to completed properties ERERIELED R IYE
held for sale (205,410) -
Impairment VERED (81,844) (12,271)
At the end of the reporting period ~ R¥REHIR 709,464 850,985
FRTEERARAT
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

17. PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

I

17. BEBPWEE)

(CONTINUED)
The movements in impairment of properties under FERWEREEBNOT
development are as follows:
| 2021
i = :g:—f‘i
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
At the beginning of the reporting R B )
period 265,974 319,926
Additions NE 81,844 12,271
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BUB#RE ABR—RHM B A A
(Note 29) (BF5E29) - (66,223)
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREHIR 347,818 265,974

At the end of the reporting period, approximately
RMB366,379,000 (2021: RMB435,922,000) of the properties
under development is expected to be completed after more
than one year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMmRHE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

18. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 18. HIELENECRIYHE

| 2021
: B
RMB’000 RMB'000
R s AREET T
At the beginning of the reporting R & B )
period 1,140,728 1,429,376
Additions NE 205,410 4,636
Transferred to cost of properties EREDEDMEKRR
sold (10,416) (13,460)
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BUB#RE ABR—RHM B A A
(Note 29) (F3E29) - (271,474)
Disposal upon court ordered sales  #E@ZERmSHEN TS
(Note) (BsE) (415,664) =
Impairment VERED (207,254) (8,350)
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREHIR 712,804 1,140,728
At 31 December 2022, certain of the Group's completed RZB-ZF+-A=+—H K&£E

properties held for sale with an aggregate carrying amount
of approximately RMB195,543,000 (2021: RMB609,749,000)
have been pledged to secure interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings granted to the Group (Note 25).

B RE B ELN A ARE195,543,0007T

—T=—%F : AR¥609,749,0007T)
WETHEREERIYE  UERA
SEERMBRITREMMER(HE
25)

The movements in impairment of completed properties held
for sale are as follows:

FIEHECRITMRZIREZEIT

| 2021
< i —F-—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
At the beginning of the reporting R E EA )

period 163,562 173,522
Additions = 207,254 8,350

De-consolidation of a subsidiary BUHLR A ABR—HH B AR
(Note 29) (P 5E29) - (18,310)
At the end of the reporting period  REREHI® 370,816 163,562
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMRME

18. COMPLETED PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

*

(@

In August 2022, Zhejiang Wenzhou Intermediate People’s Court
CHIT & &N A & A REPBT) has enforced an order to auction
and sell the land use right held by Hangzhou Xinming Property
Investment Limited (%1 )1 ¥7 B3 & % 4& & B R 2 7)) ("Hangzhou
Xinming”), in respect of the 20 immovable properties located at
Tower 2, Xinming Commercial Centre, Gongshu District,
Hangzhou City, the PRC and Xiaohe Road, Gongshu District,
Hangzhou City (“Xinming Commercial Centre”), the PRC which
are classified as completed properties held for sale since
Hangzhou Xinming was unable to repay the overdue borrowings
with principal amount of approximately RMB193,250,000 plus
interests and penalty owed to Zhejiang Zheshang Asset
Management Company Limited* G TEEmEEERER A R)
("Zhejiang Zheshang”) (the “Total Outstanding Loan”).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, an auction in respect
of the said land use right of Hangzhou Xinming has taken
place and the said land use right had been sold in the said
auction for an amount of RMB35,332,000 which is same as the
aggregate reserve price to repay the Total Outstanding Loan
and accordingly the loss on court-ordered sale of approximately
RMB5,660,000 was charged to profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2022.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 12 August 2022 and 18 October 2022.

On the application of Huarong Asset Management Co., Ltd.
Shanghai Branch* (h EIZE g & E EIRRINE R AR EETH R F)
("Huarong Asset”), an online auction is ordered to be held on 5
December 2022. The completed properties held for sale located
at Taizhou Property have been marked with an aggregate
reserve price of approximately RMB99,544,000. If the aforesaid
properties were to be sold, the auction proceeds of Taizhou
Property are expected to be used for satisfaction of the Group's
borrowing owed to Huarong Asset. On 8 December 2022, the
578 completed properties held for sale in Taizhou Property have
been sold for an amount of RMB99,544,000 which is same as
the aggregate reserve price and accordingly the loss on court-
ordered sale of approximately RMB275,128,000 was charged to
profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2022. The auction
proceeds are used for the satisfaction of the related company’s
borrowing owed to Huarong Asset.

For the details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 13 June 2022, 18 October 2022, 2 December
2022 and 29 December 2022.

English name is for identification purpose only.
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18. HFIEHENERTYHE(E)

RIS —FNA T &EEMmH
BARZEREw<ABE L EHIMNFTA
EXRERRAB([HMEA D) FTEF
BAARFREMIHEE AR ES
2% N AR B AT N T BF (& /)N R B A
0B THENTERE(HARE
¥h]) c HRMMEFTAEAEER
R IENEEETERR AR
AW 2 BBERREEHARE
193,250,000 C | 8 R E15K - o 48
BEEHEZERTIME(RERE
Hu@gE]) o

BHE-_ZT-_—_F+-A=+—HLEtHF
& MUNFTEREY Eall i RS
THE  mEbd i RED R it
HEHRED - &% A5 ARKS35,332,000
T BRAKEAER - BEEEREER
BR%E - it - Ao HEBE
#) ANR¥5 660,000 EE T - —
FE+-_A=Z+—BULEEEREBZRPA
|3/{F °

BHAFE  #H2HAQABHAEZT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES

19. EZEWFIE

| 2021

2 : B

RMB’000 RMB’000

% AREET T

Trade receivables S WA 28,368 57,790
Less: Allowance for impairment o ORE R (27,123) (24,275)
1,245 33,515

Trade receivables represent rentals receivable from tenants
which are normally payable on demand and sales income
receivables from customers which are payable in accordance
with the terms of the related sales and purchase agreements.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and has a credit control department to minimise
credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by
management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables relate to a large number of
diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of
credit risk.

Trade receivables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.
An ageing analysis of the trade receivables at the end of the

reporting period, based on the invoice date, and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

BHREEFEERKEFPNES (—K
BERIMN) REREPHHERA
Ty AR AR B B i IR - A
I B R 5 5 L R UK (B e MR IR Y R AR
7 WRAEEEHPAREEER
%o MEHEHEEEEHEZ - ER
LA LRt B AR SR B O 5 R MR IR B R
ZZTCEPER  HAKEY EEEE
BEAEHREERR

B RUGRAREERNLE -

RI|BEBR  EREZAHNEHRK
IR (HIRRBREE) Rk T

0 2021
< i —T-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
R A ARBT T
Within 1 year —FR 1,245 33,515

AP EZERARA R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

19. EZEWFIE(E)

B REGERERBEREESHIT ¢

| 2021
E : T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBT T

At the beginning of the reporting R B )
period 24,275 23,864
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BUB#RE ABR—RHM B A A - (99)
Increase in allowance, net BT N F 5 2,848 510
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREEIR 27,123 24,275

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns
(i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer type
and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions. Generally, trade receivables are
written off if past due for more than one year and are not
subject to enforcement activity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

19. TRADE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED) 19. EZEINIE (&)
Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure THER T EBAEEE S RWFIARN
on the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix: HENEERR (FRABEBEREE) -
At 31 December 2022 R=B-=—F+=-A=+—H
3 O O D o
O O y 0
; R H #&1E REE ER1E
% RMB’000 RMB’000
Past due #HA
Within 1 year —FKN 44.49 2,243 998
More than 1 year —FMNUE 100.00 26,125 26,125
95.61 28,368 27,123
At 31 December 2021 RZZE-_—F+=-_A=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
EHEE
EE X BRMAE TEHEEESE
% RMB’'000 RMB’000

% ARBTTT ARETTT

Past due i1 HR
Within 1 year —FR 26.82 45,800 12,285
More than 1 year —FELAE 100.00 11,990 11,990

42.00 57,790 24,275

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 20. ENFKIE - HtbEWFRERE
OTHER ASSETS fhEE

| 2021

: : %

RMB’000 RMB'000

R ¥ ARBTIT

Prepayments TEfRT IR 4,150 5,408
Other tax recoverable E b AT B #18 3,209 3,209
Deposits and other receivables e R H A EWEIA 179,373 215,235
186,732 223,852

Less: Allowance for impairment W ORERE (130,441) (110,784)
56,291 113,068
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

20. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Deposits and other receivables mainly represent deposits with
suppliers. In the situation where no comparable companies
with credit ratings can be identified, expected credit losses
are estimated by applying a loss rate approach with reference
to the historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is
adjusted to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions, as appropriate. The average 10ss
rate applied for where there were no comparable companies
at 31 December 2022 was 72.7% (2021: 51.5%).

zaiiﬁﬂEHiﬂﬁE%ﬁﬁE&E

th & = (48
ReREMBERKFRBETEAHERL
T o WELHBFAEEEFIANATEL
BNR) AIEZERAEENELEBERL
BIRAEBIERA G EHEEEERE - B
BERENEEFHREDFAZRARBRIRE
BERRTBRIARREEER - RZFE =
FH+-_AZ+—AELEAELEQF
BRI ERNFEEIERA72.7% (=T
——% :51.5%) °

The movements in allowance for impairment are as follows: BEREZEENT
| 2021
E : T
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBT T

At the beginning of the reporting R B )

period 110,784 160,493
Increase in impairment BB E N 19,657 1,998
De-consolidation of a subsidiary BUB#RE ABR—RHM B A A - (51,707)
At the end of the reporting period ~ RIREEIR 130,441 110,784

The significant increase in allowance for impairment for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is due to the Group’s delay in
project development, which adversely affect relationship with
the Group’s business partner and suppliers, and the continued
downturn in investment sentiment in the PRC commercial
property market.

The significant decrease in allowance for impairment for
the year ended 31 December 2021 is due to the decrease in
balance of the financial assets (before net of loss allowance
for impairment) as a result of the de-consolidation of a
subsidiary.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

21. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

21. RERBAEEFEY

| 2021
= : T —F
RMB’000 RMB’000
R AREET T
Cash and equivalents RERAESEEY
Cash at bank, unrestricted RITIRE TR 7,434 20,156
Cash at hand FHERE - 63
7,434 20,219
Denominated in RMB UAREEHE 7,434 19,854
Denominated in HK$ A TTRHAE - 363
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE - 2
7,434 20,219
0 2021
2 : T
RMB’000 RMB’000
R AREET T
Restricted deposits ZREFR
Represented by restricted pre-sales VAR #IFEEFriS s E 27
proceeds 522 326

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies,
however, under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control
Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and
Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through
banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business. Cash
at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates.

In accordance with relevant documents issued by the PRC
State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau, certain property
development companies of the Group are required to place
in designated bank accounts certain amounts of pre-sale
proceeds of properties as deposits for constructions of related
properties. The deposits can only be used for purchases of
construction materials and the payments of construction fees
of the relevant property projects when approval from the PRC
State-Owned Land and Resource Bureau is obtained.

ARBAAEHERSEMER - A
o RE T BISNE B Rk P) R B E - &
ELNEETERTE AKEEEERE
RAEEITINEXEFNRITIHARK R
REMER - RITRESREREF AR
T3 SR 2 89 )5 B ) R BRERA B, o

RETBEEELHWEREERELNE
X AKREETETYERERF
VARBENEMBRENE TSERF
BRIEERITRPAERERBRAME
WER - ZFFERIAANEESHEEE
THEREEBIER BB EREN
HMEXEENERENZEER -
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

22. TRADE PAYABLES

23.

An aging analysis of the outstanding trade payables the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

22. EZENFIE

RBERRENEZAROKRERES

RS FRIER BRI DTN T

—FRQ
—FUE

Less than one year
Over one year

17,804
322,213

2021
T
RMB'000
AREFIT

239
321,974

340,017

322,213

The trade payables are unsecured and non-interest-bearing.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

ESRNREABERREE -
23. HttENRBARETEHA

————

| 2021

T —%F

RMB’000 RMB'000

S ARBT T

Other payables and accruals Hi N RN R IETEA 205,105 188,899

Interest penalties e 795,159 504,274

Other tax payables Hfth pE 1818 82,054 100,868

BE City Loan (Note (a)) IR E R (FisE@)) 39,000 49,000

Deposits related to sales of HIHEMEBBNIRE

properties 3,214 52,874

Interest payables FERT TS 235,901 254,633

Deposits related to construction HZERNBEUENILS 1,324 20,902

Payroll and welfare payables e TE K@ 6,721 5,894

Rental payables FERTIE S 79 305

Others Hth 41,208 62,045
Provision for litigations and claims & 7A K B8 = B 5 (K aE (b))

(Note (b)) 40,000 40,000

1,449,765 1,279,694

Except for interest payables and interest penalties which
are repayable on demand and BE City Loan set out below,
other payables and accruals are unsecured and non-interest-
bearing.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(CONTINUED)

Notes:

*

(a

Included in other payables and accruals at 1 January 2022 was a
loan of RMB43,000,000 from JbiZE#%1Z AR E B F R A F] (BE City
Investment Holding Group Limited*) (“BE City Investment”)
which carries interest rate of 15% per annum and is repayable
after one year from date of drawdown (“BE Investment Loan").
The BE Investment Loan was secured by a charge on 75% equity
interest in a subsidiary of the Company and a corporate
guarantee of a subsidiary of the Company (collectively the
“Charges”).

During the year ended 31 December 2022, BE City Investment,
1t T F % A R A & (BE City Development Limited) (“BE City
Development”) and the Group entered into a loan transfer
agreement pursuant to which BE City Development has
provided a loan of RMB33,000,000 in cash to the Group for
partial settlement of BE Investment Loan and the Charges
were transferred to loan from BE City Development upon full
settlement of BE Investment Loan. The remaining balance of BE
Investment Loan of RMB10,000,000 was also settled during year
ended 31 December 2022.

At 31 December 2022, the loan from BE City Development
of RMB39,000,000 (“BE Development Loan”) carries interest
rate of 24% per annum and is repayable within one year.
The BE Development Loan was secured by charge on 75%
equity interest in a subsidiary of the Company and corporate
guarantee of a subsidiary of the Company. The full balance of
BE Development Loan was settled during the year ended 31
December 2023.

Accordingly, the Group has charged RMB40,000,000 to profit
or loss in relation to the above litigation for the year ended 31
December 2020. Up to the date of this report, there is no further
update of the above litigation.

English name is for identification purpose only.

23. HttENREARETER (&)

R-ZT__—F—A—Hat ARMEN
ARG E R 2 AR ks
EARLE([dbEmk]) REZER
AR#43,000,0007T © EHEF15%
ARNRR AR —FRER([1LE
WARER]) o LB EFRIUAAR QA
—REMB AR 275% R Az 2 HAE &
AR —HE AR A EER(GHE
[ DIEIER -

REBEE—_T-_—F+=-_A=+—H1
FE AL THEBEER AR (b
W) BAEEIIEREER
OB bEEmAEUIBERA
£ BB E AR K33,000,0007T © M
BB IEHIEEDR - MR 2 &HE
BIEBEERE  ZERLEEA
b TR R 2 B o IR E R
2 #4258 AR ¥10,000,0007 T RE REE
R —F+-_A=+—BLLEEE

f& -

R-_E-_—_F+-_A=+—8 - it#F
¥ T B % B 7 A R #539,000,0007T (4
RRBER ) ZFFEE24%  WER
—FREE - EHEERULART
— R B A Rl 2 75% A A Mg 2k M AN A &
— A B AR 2 REEREERR - 1t
THE BRI 2B EHREREBEE T
—=F+-A=+—HLFEEE-

At - AEBEH EMFAREE=
E_TFF+_AZ=ZF+—HLFENIE
= 1k A R #540,000,0007T © & ZE A
WEBE  baisRAYEE — S FH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

«:'_‘_______—__-_-______——

ARE B IRAR I EE

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

During the year ended 31 December 2020, a service provider (the
“Plaintiff”) of the Company’s subsidiary #/HEHEAE £ IREBR A
Al (Hangzhou Xinming Property Investment Limited*)
("Hangzhou Xinming") initiated proceedings in the People’s
Court of Gongshu District, Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province
against Hangzhou Xinming to demand outstanding entrusted
management service fee, employee salary and benefit and
penalty in the sum of approximately RMB68,652,000, together
with penalty which shall accrue up to the date of actual payment
and all litigation costs relating to the case shall be borne by
Hangzhou Xinming.

In September 2020, the Court handed down the first-instance
judgement that, among others, Hangzhou Xinming shall pay
outstanding entrusted management service, employee salary
and benefit in the sum of approximately RMB24,688,000 and
penalty of approximately RMB13,188,000 to the Plaintiff together
with penalty calculated at 0.03% per day from 1 April 2020 to
the date of repayment of amount aforementioned.

In November 2020, Hangzhou Xinming did not accept the
civil judgment of the Court, and appealed to the Intermediate
People’s Court of Hangzhou City, Zhejiang Province (“Court
B"). After accepting the case on 19 January 2021, Court B had
formed a collegial panel for the hearing. During the year ended
31 December 2021, the Court B handed down the second-
instance judgement that, among others, Hangzhou Xinming
shall pay outstanding entrusted management service, employee
salary and benefit in the sum of approximately RMB24,688,000
and penalty of approximately RMB2,443,417 to the Plaintiff
together with penalty calculated at 0.03% per day from 1 April
2020 to the date of repayment of amount aforementioned.

Accordingly, the Group has charged RMB40,000,000 to profit
or loss in relation to the above litigation for the year ended 31
December 2020. Up to the date of this report, there is no further
update of the above litigation.

*  English name is for identification purpose only.
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B ARBZHBARMIMFBAEE
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REMBRRME
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE T -_—F+-A=+—HILFE
24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 24, EHNEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: EHBEFBEINOT -
| 2021
: T —%F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ¥ ARBT T
Short-term advances received from REZRFWIEHIBE
customers
Over one year —FEPE 619,895 432,901
Contract liabilities represent the sales proceeds received from BRBEERMEHAREAEETEED
buyers in connection with the Group’s pre-sale of properties ¥BEHWERIHETSHKIE o
at the end of the reporting period.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, there is an increase in HE_ZT-_—_F+-_A=1+—HI%F
pre-sales of properties to customers, thereby increasing the B AEEREPEEMENBREM
amount arising from the receipt of advances or recognition of N - AT (R TE U SRIE Sk SR R W SRR
receivables. EAERFRIEE N -
25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 25. FFE4R Hh &
BORROWINGS
2021
5%
Effective Effective
interest rate  Maturity CWGHINIE  interest rate  Maturity RMB'000
ERFE  HHA ARBTR ERFE A ARBTR
% %
% %
Current b
Current portion of STEERNEEE D 6.90-12.00  On demand 1,279,755 6.80-1150  On demand or 1,561,250
interest-bearing -BEA or within within one
horrowings, one year year
secured EERZR JEE R
—FR —5”
| 2021
= —E-—%
RMB’000 RMB'000
R ARBT T
Analysed into: Pk
Interest-bearing borrowings AR —FRNEENGT EMER
repayable within one year 1,279,755 1,561,250
$RRERRERAT
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s borrowings amounting
approximately RMB1,279,755,000 (2021: RMB1,561,250,000)
were overdue pursuant to the relevant agreements which
constituted events of defaults.

In connection with the default and cross-default (if applicable),
the Group was subject to penalties of approximately
RMB860,901,000 (2021: RMB535,499,000) which were included
in the other payables and accruals at 31 December 2022.

The Group's borrowings are secured by the pledges of the
following assets 31 December 2022 and 2021 as follows:

(i) At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB239,897,000 (2021: RMB493,000,000)
were secured by the 100% equity interest in & M & & B
K E ¥ & R 2 7 (Taizhou Wenshang Times Property
Limited*) (“Wenshang Times”), a subsidiary of the
company.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB875,000,000 (2021: RMB1,368,000,000)
were secured by the Group's investment properties
with aggregate carrying values of approximately
RMB936,100,000 (2021: RMB2,988,000,000).

The completed properties held for sale held by 1l &
B E ¥ B[R 2 A (Shandong Xingmeng Property Limited)
(“Shangdong Xingmeng”) with carrying amount of
approximately RMB107,243,000 (2021: RMB323,000,000)
was pledged for the Group’s borrowing of approximately
RMB239,897,000 (31 December 2021: RMB493,000,000)
as an additional collateral during the year ended 31
December 2022.

(il At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB164,858,000 (2021: RMB193,250,000)
were secured by completed properties held for sale of
INFTER B 2 & B BR A A (Hangzhou Xinming Property
Investment Limited) (“Hangzhou Xinming"), a subsidiary
of the Company with carrying amount of approximately
RMB8&8,300,000 (2021: RMB229,000,000).

* English name is for identification purpose only.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

(iii)

At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB239,897,009 (2021: RMB493,000,000)
were jointly guaranteed by (i) the Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Chen Chengshou, (i) the non-executive director, Ms.
Gao Qiaoqin, (iii) a subsidiary of the Company and (iv)
Xinming Group Limited, a related party of the Group.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB584,858,000 (2021: RMB913,000,000)
were jointly guaranteed by (i) the Controlling Shareholder,
Mr. Chen Chengshou, (i) the non-executive director, Ms.
Gao Qiaogin, and (iii) a subsidiary of the Company.

At 31 December 2022, the Group's borrowings of
approximately RMB455,000,000 (2021: RMB455,000,000)
were jointly guaranteed by (i) the Controlling
Shareholder, Mr. Chen Chengshou, (ii) the non-executive
director, Ms. Gao Qiaoqin, (iii) Xinming Group Limited, a
related party of the Group, and (iv) Miss Chen Xi and Mr.
Chen Junshi, the daughter and the son of the Controlling
Shareholder, Mr. Chen Chengshou and (v) a subsidiary of
the Company.

25.

(iif)

STERITREMER(E)

RZEBEZZF+ZZAH=+—
H ZAEBEHNERHDARE
239,897,009TC( B - —%F : AR
& 493,000,0007T ) FA ()28 A% A% 3 PR
AEFEE (NERTEESTHE
Zx - (iA2a—HEB AR &
((VASEBEB T FAEEERA
AIMEH HEER -

R—ZEBE_—_F+=_RA=+—
H AEBEHNERHDARE
584,858,000 C(—FE=-—% : AR
#913,000,0007T ) FA (i) 128 A% A% 3R B
AFEE (NERTEERTHE
Z xR (i) A2 R —RE M B R R {E
o FHELR o

RZBE_Z—_F+=A=+—
B A"&EBAOEIRHDARE
455,000,0007C(— B =——4%F : AR
#& 455,000,0007T ) FA () 128 A% A% 3R B
ATFEE (NERTEEEHE
ZL o (iVANEE S AER
BRRARRIVBEAZ T REELT
Fo i (PR R BR AT LA L 5
R 7T ) RVAR R —REHE A A
YEH HERIER -
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26. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 26. TGS
On 1 June 2018, the Company issued convertible bonds in the RZZE—-—NFARA—HB ' ARAK
aggregate principal amount of HK$300,000,000 (equivalent to BEARESFEI0%HBEBRETARHERE
approximately RMB252,604,000) (the “Convertible Bonds”) at /300,000,000 7T (FHE R AR
the price of 100% of their principal amount. The Convertible 252,604,000t ) By ] #2 A% & 2 ([ A] # i%
Bonds were redeemable at the option of the bondholders at ﬁ%‘éj) o EHﬁ‘ REHFTHESFFEA
a price of HK$1.39 per bond on 1 June 2020. The convertible BERZZZTF A —HRERES
bonds bore interest at the rate of 6.5% plus 1% handling fee 1398 THERER - JRRESFNF
per annum (the “Coupon Rate”) and were payable in arrears FIZEE6E5%  SMBFEE([ZEF
every six months. EDNREENEAZAF—IK -
The convertible bonds were jointly guaranteed by the Al (B 5 AT HQHQ?@EK#S‘EE&#
Controlling Shareholder, Mr. Chen Chengshou, and the non- WITEERIERIREBERRER
executive director, Ms. Gao Qiaogin, pursuant to a deed BR - RBRASEEE HxEl’Jmemg
of guarantee, and secured by Xinxing Company Limited by Company Limited:BBHFENA R
940,000,000 shares of the Company held by Xinxing Company 940,000,0000% Bz 15 1EH# o
Limited, a company controlled by Mr. Chen Chengshou.
The Convertible Bonds were matured on 31 May 2020 and ABREFEN S -_SFRA=1+—
the outstanding principal amount was not yet settled up to 31 BEHS BEZE-_ZT-__F+=-A8
December 2022. =+—H RKEBXSHRLES -
The Convertible Bonds were recognised as financial liabilities AR ESHER AR VIGERKIETE
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through BUAREEFABENSREE -
profit or loss.
Convertible
bonds
AR E S
RMB’000
ARBTTT
At 1 January 2021 R-—ZFE=——F—H—H 252,604
Changes in fair value NABEEE (8,092)
At 31 December 2021 R_E_—F+-A=+—H 244,512
Changes in fair value NABEEZE 24,336
At 31 December 2022 NR-—EBE-_—_+=-HA=+—8H 268,848
At 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Group's Convertible Bonds RZEBEZZFR-ZZF-Z—F+=A
were valued by management of the Group by using discounted =t+—H AEBEEERARERE
cash flow method with the following key assumptions: IRERA T E B2 RBE RSB 8RR
EHEITHE
Discount rate Coupon Rate BhIR & EEA =
The fair value of the Convertible Bonds was categorised into ABmREFNRAREBED B RBEYG
level 3 fair value hierarchy as defined in IFRS 13, Fair Value i/‘iﬁ'J%Bﬁ’Aﬁf B EMATH
Measurement. The significant unobservable input into this FE=RMAAEEER - WHERENE
valuation approach is the discount rate. An increase in the KT\T&E%@W\E%EE%% o B
discount rate used in isolation would result in a decrease in RRE IR RIS A RRESFH AR
the fair value measurement of the Convertible Bonds. BEFTERD -
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7. ISSUED CAPITAL
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMmRHE

27. EBITER

Number of
shares Nominal value Nominal value
RGEE HE HE
Equivalent to
HKS$ RMB

BT MEARET

Authorised: EIE
At 31 December 2022 and RZEZ—_FR_FT_—F

2021 +=-—A=+—H 1,880,000,000 18,800,000 14,891,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR:
At 31 December 2022 and NIBE_—_FR-IE_—F

2021 +=-—RA=+—H 1,878,622,000 18,786,220 14,880,000
RESERVES 28. f#E
Share premium gyl

Share premium represents the excess of the net proceeds or
consideration from issuance of the Company’s shares over
their par value.

Merger reserves

The merger reserve represents the aggregate amount of the
paid-up capital of those companies comprising the Group
prior to the incorporation of the Company and the application
of merger method of accounting for business combinations
under common control. Details of the movements in the
merger reserve are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity.

Capital reserves

Capital reserve comprises the difference arising from changes
in ownership interests in subsidiaries which do not result in
change of control.

it mEREAR ﬂ%?ﬁ%fﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁfﬁ%
BRREBOERNEENHD

EOtHRE

B AR IE R AN A A A 32 LA K 8 FA
HEZESTHOEBE NG GTHER

$%@ﬁTQTW@E§$m$ & Bt

REZDFBFENGERRETE -

EXR@EE
EXNREERLTEERITHEEEN
RMBRRIMAEEERESHEL ZE
LA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

«:'_‘_______—__-_-______——

ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

29. LOSS ON LIQUIDATION OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 27 December 2021, the Chongging No.5 Intermediate
People’s Court made a judgement pursuant to a liquidation
petition dated 20 October 2021 (the “Judgement”) filed by a
creditor of EE # A & 2 & 19 B R A & (Chongging Xinming
Property Company Limited) (“Chongging Xinming”) against
Chongging Xinming, an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company for the appointment of a liquidator. As a result
of the Judgement, Chongging Xinming ceased to be controlled
by the Company with effect from 27 December 2021.
Accordingly, a net loss on de-consolidation of a subsidiary of
approximately RMB640,056,000 was charged to profit or loss

29.

BE—ENBARNER

W_ZE-_—F+-_A=-++H EEHD
FRTRHRARZERBIEEENHEER
MAERIB(EEFHP]) MERZ AL
HANREEZEIIEZEWNBRREEFH
RETBEARBEBHA-_T - —F
TAZ+HEHMBEZFBEDHRH
R o BRIBHR  ERFBETIHEHRAL
AlEE - B2 —F+-_A=-++H
BER At HE-_FT-_—F+_-A
=+—HIEFE  BUBLGRE AR
BARMNEEFELAREK640,056,000

during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Details of net loss on de-consolidation of a subsidiary are

TR B AR e

BUHGR A AR— BB A RNER TR

summarised as follows: ZEBBmaT
RMB’000
ARBT T
Property, plant and equipment VI - BE KRR 171
Investment properties AW 306,000
Properties under development FAEE Y 659,674
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEMND BRI Y 271,474
Trade receivables B 5 e GRIA 312
Prepayments, other receivables and other TEfTFRIE - HEIRGRIE R At & E
assets 80,790
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 413
Trade payables g SR FRIE (53,603)
Other payables and accruals HE e RE R ETER (626,006)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings &+ 83R1T R E &5 (315,000)
Tax payable FE IR (25,999)
Contract liabilities AHAaE (23,820)
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIAEE (69,910)
Net assets at date of de-consolidation REUB# A& ABRBEEFE 204,496
Non-controlling interests AR R (10,225)
194,271
Amount due from Chongging Xinming FEUW E B TR SR IE 536,239
Amount due to Chongging Xinming FEEE A RIA (90,454)
Net loss on de-consolidation of Chongqing BUEGEANREEHANEEFEE
Xinming 640,056
Net cash outflow arising from EEHGE A AREEFAMEERSRE
de-consolidation of Chongging Xinming FE (413)
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A I IRER M EE

30. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 30. R B & REBRM
OF CASH FLOWS
(@) Major non-cash transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated

financial statements, the Group has no major non-cash

transactions during the year ended 31 December 2022

(b)

and 2021.

Changes in liabilities arising from financing

(@ EXFBRERS

BE TR T —F+_

A=Z+T—HLEFE  BRE&
WEREAMA D AREEI -
BERIZFRAERS

B
AEE

by REEFHELENEEEH

activities
Interest-
bearing  Included in
bank “Other
and other payables and
borrowings accruals” Total
ST E A
AERTR EARER
H it ER EitE A st
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTT ARETT
At 1 January 2021 R-ZZE-_—F—H—H 1,873,909 100,000 1,973,909
Changes from financing BERSREED)
cash flows (7,000) (51,000) (58,000)
Termination of lease BIEHE - - -
Net gain on settlement of EE @ EET B AN EF R
overdue interest-bearing (KzE6)
borrowings (Note 6) 9,341 - 9,341
De-consolidation of a BUB#RE ABR—HK B AR
subsidiary (Note 29) (PfF5E29) (315,000) = (315,000)
At 31 December 2021 and R-ZZE=——%F
1 January 2022 +TZA=+—HBXK
—E-_—_%—H—H 1,561,250 49,000 1,610,250
Changes from financing MmEReRES
cash flows (1,162) (10,000) (11,162)
Change in fair value NAEEE (280,333) - (280,333)
At 31 December 2022 R-EBE-—F
+=A=+—8 1,279,755 39,000 1,318,755
FARARERAERAT
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

31.

32.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the consolidated financial statements were as
follows:

. RAREE

R|ERR - WBNERA M ERKRAE

Guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted to purchasers of
the Group's properties

BERHEMNER

IARENEERERNLRIS

BENABEDT ¢
| 2021
= : —ET—F
B’00( RMB’000
B 5 AREFIT
237,023 103,270

The Group provided guarantees in respect of mortgage
facilities granted by certain banks to the purchasers of the
Group's completed properties held for sale. Pursuant to
the terms of the guarantee agreements, in case of default
on mortgage payments by the purchasers, the Group is
responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage loans
together with any accrued interest and penalty owed by the
defaulted to banks. The Group is then entitled to take over the
legal titles of the related properties. The Group’s guarantee
period commences from the date of grant of the relevant
mortgage loan and ends after the execution of individual
purchaser’s collateral agreement.

The Group did not incur any material losses during the year
in respect of the guarantees provided for mortgage facilities
granted to purchasers of the Group’s completed properties
held for sale. The directors considered that in case of default
on payments, the net realisable value of the related properties
would be sufficient to repay the outstanding mortgage
loans together with any accrued interest and penalty, and
therefore no provision has been made in connection with the
guarantees.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

AEEGBETRITAXAKERELED
RTIMENBERERNIRBERE RHEE
R - RBERBZEOER - HERBR
BEBRAR - AEEAREERERLZR
B BUERIZ K77 /& RERTTH) (0] FEET A
EREIR - AEEANBEEERBEYE
VRIREE - AREMERPBREA
MIRBERE REZHNITELE HKE
iR S -

AEEYENFARAKRERFLED
BRTIYMENERBRNORBRERHE
RMELERNEREE - EFRS -
BAEBRNR - HEYENAERFE
5 R AMBE B R BRI B B FUE R T &
B REIR - A BB A BER IR
ESEEE S

32. EREE

| 2021
z : T
B’000 RMB’000
5 AREFIT

Contracted, but not provided for
properties under development

ERIOERBRAZRTYE

5,445 431,390
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33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Name and relationship

Name of related party

BB AR A

A I IRER M EE

33. BB AR S
28 HEREER

Relationship with the Group
SRR B K B 1R

Mr. Chen Chengshou
BRAESPSEE

Ms. Gao Qiaogin
[SESE- S n

Xinming Group Limited
RS EER AR

Yuanyang Holdings Group Share Limited Company

RBEEREEGRAF]

Hangzhou Taoyuan Shanzhuang Property Development
Limited (“Hangzhou Taoyuan”)

FNBER LS EFRZE AR QR (TN BEIR])

Qi'an Insurance Brokers Limited (“Qi'an Insurance”)
WBLREELEERAT ([HBLRE])

Hangzhou Kaijie Decoration Co., Ltd.

Zhejiang Tianmao Landscape Engineering Co., Ltd.

HIREKBEMNRIRBR AR

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the
consolidated financial statements, the Group had no significant
transactions with related parties during the years ended 31

December 2022 and 2021.

Controlling Shareholder
IR AR R

Wife of the Controlling Shareholder
ERRR 2 EF

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
FR 128 IR AR ER 42 )

Significantly influenced by Mr. Zheng Xiangtian,
brother of the Controlling Shareholder
REARTE(ERBRROM L) ERATE

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
FR 128 IR AR BR 42 )

Controlled by the Controlling Shareholder
FR 1% IR AR BR 45 )

Significantly influenced by Mr. Zheng Xiangtian,
brother of the Controlling Shareholder
REAREEERRROM L) ERTE

Controlled by Mr. Zheng Xiangtian, brother of the
Controlling Shareholder
B B0 AR e A (PR AR AR 3R A9 AR e ) %2

BRZEETBHRRPEMIT DI ED
BRI BE—E - —FER - —F
TZA=+—HLEFE  FAEBWESR
REHEITEARS °

HAFEZERARAR

B
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e HRRMET
Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE
33. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 33. B AR5 (&)
(CONTINUED)
Compensation of key management personnel of AEEFEEEABNHMH
the Group
| 2021
E z :;E:_ﬁz
RMB’000 RMB’000
R AREF T
Salaries, bonus, allowances and e TEA - R REYA R
benefits-in-kind 2,174 2,489
Contribution to defined contribution SREMFEETEl 2 3k
schemes - 105
Total compensation paid to key MEZEEABINOENRE
management personnel 2,174 2,594
34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 34. BERIEIS-WERMITA
The table below is an analysis of the carrying amounts of TERANRBESHRZENS > SR T
financial instruments by category at the end of the reporting BEREEREES T
period:
0 2021
: : —F-—F
RMB’000 RMB’000
=k AREFIT
Financial assets at amortised cost BREBHERAGTENEREE
Trade receivables B 5 R IE 1,245 33,515
Financial assets included in FTATEN A « B EBGRIE R
prepayments, other receivables HEMEENSREE
and other assets 48,932 104,938
Restricted deposits SR #I7FEK 522 326
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEY 7,434 20,219
58,133 158,998
Financial liabilities at amortised REBHERATENERERE
cost
Trade payables E 5 e I8 340,017 322,213
Financial liabilities included in other st AE b FERT 0 IE & AT B Y
payables and accruals Ca =N 1,323,173 1,065,054
Interest-bearing bank and other T EIRIT R EAMBE R
borrowings 1,279,755 1,561,250
2,942,945 2,948,517
Financial liabilities at FVPL BARBENFAEBENERHERS
Convertible bonds Al AR E S 268,848 244,512
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35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

A I IRER M EE

35. s T EZARE

OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS EER
The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group's financial AEESRMIA(REEEAABES
instruments, other than those with carrying amounts that BREAEERINNEABERAAEEBED
reasonably approximate to fair values, are as follows: N
Carrying amounts Fair values
IRMEE AREHE
| 2021 | 2021
2 —E-—F E = B —4F
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R ARBTIT R A AR T T
Financial liabilities SRAE
Convertible bonds ATRRES 268,848 244,512 268,848 244,512
Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and MI@EEHE fﬁ%&iﬁﬁgﬁ% - B
cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade payables, financial %FEHAZ - B ENRIE - 5t ATER
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other Ei\{@ﬁ’féH&, IE&%T@QEEZ@EE
assets, financial liabilities included in other payables and EF EJr)\/HJMEHEAIE&FE?r%FHZ
accruals, approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to PRABECZANBEEAEREAENRSE

the short-term maturities of these instruments.

The Group's finance department headed by the finance
manager is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The finance manager reports directly to the
chief financial officer and the audit committee. At the end
of each reporting period, the finance department analyses
the movements in the values of financial instruments and
determines the major inputs applied in the valuation. The
valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with
the audit committee twice a year for interim and annual
financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The convertible bonds were recognised as financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through
profit or loss.

TEHREFETARERAE -

AEEMBRENHRELEERE A
AEFTEMTARARBEFEZHER
B RECEERANBRENER
ZEEWmE  NEBEHMKR  MBERE
Mo TAZEBEZSRETER
WEEZ T BB ARE - HEXBAME
mEERZLAME - HEBRRERTF
MREEZZ B & wmAETHHREF
BB RE

TREERAGRNALBEEZARES
EENRS (MR HBREE)FH
ﬁﬁ%IELTTx%E’JéﬁﬁJ\Eﬁ AT
ERBERARG AREE :

AMBREFERSTREE  XRNF
EREIEER/RAABETARR -
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

35. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 35. EMT A AREBERAAE
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) BERE)
Fair value hierarchy NREERR
Liabilities measured at fair value BRARBETENERS
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& B E=& et
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARSTIT AREFTT ARETT
Convertible bonds R ES
At 31 December 2022 R-ZB-Z-F
+=-—B=+—H - - 268,848 268,848
At 31 December 2021 R-ZT—_—%F
+=ZR=+—8 = = 244,512 244,512

At 31 December 2022 and 2021 RoFE-—FR—F——F+—F

=+—H
Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Unobservable unobservable inputs
Liability hierarchy technique input to fair value
RS PN e
=R AREBEEER i {BL 5 1l TUBEERAERE AAEENBER
Convertible bonds  Level 3 Discounted cash flow  Discount rate The higher the discount
method rate, the lower the fair
value
AR E 5 B=4 REeMmEAEE BRIR X BRIRRME - AAEE
fiRliy
Save as disclosed above, during the years ended 31 December R EXHIBBEN  BE_T__FK
2022 and 2021, there were no transfers of fair value —F_—FFT_A=+—RALEFE &
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers TREERTBBEMS - ANBEER
into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial EES QAT _QENEH® - MES
liabilities. Accordingly, the Group assessed the fair value of the =RMEAKEL o Fit - ARERZ
Convertible Bonds using discounted cash flow method at 31 R A A E R B H & A B E AR E
December 2022 and 2021 since the valuation using binomial AR EFHARER  BR-F=Z
model was no longer applicable to assess fair value of the FRZF-_—FF+ZA=F+—H &K

EERREREMBAN B AT RKRES
MAREE -

Convertible Bonds upon maturity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Liabilities measured at fair value (Continued)

The details of the movements of the recurring fair value
measurements categorised as Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy are as follows:

5. TR R ARBERR

]

\

ERER(E)

AREEER(E)
EAREETENAEH)
BEMEAREBEFABIEALABEE
BE=JNBHFHEDT -

Convertible

bonds

AR AR & %

RMB’000

ARBTIT

At 1 January 2021 R-_EBE=-—F—A—H 252,604

Changes in fair value NAEEE (8,092)
At 31 December 2021 and 1 January 2022 RZE-_—F+-_A=+—HEK

—E-—4—H—H 244,512

Changes in fair value DAEBEEE 24,336

At 31 December 2022 N-—EBE-_—_+=-A=+—8H 268,848

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly include cash
and cash equivalents, restricted deposits, trade receivables
and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The Group has other financial assets and liabilities such as
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, convertible
bonds, deposits and other receivables, and other payables
and accruals. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk and
liguidity risk. The Group does not hold or issue derivative
financial instruments either for hedging or for trading
purposes. The board of directors reviews and agrees policies
for managing each of the risks which are summarised below:

Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to market risk for changes in interest
rates relates primarily to its interest- bearing bank and other
borrowings with a floating interest rate. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate
risk.

36. cRIEMEEAEZERBEK

AEENTIECRIATERREERB
HEEELNREMRSFEY XR
HER - B HRYGRIEIARE S RN K
He AEEEERMERMEERAE
ET BERTT R EMER - ATRBRES
BE REAM YRR - AR H 3R
HEREFER - ZEERTANTER

AAEESmTAELANTZARABT
Rk - NERR FERRERREE
TRE  AEBVEFERBETITES
MTANEHTIKEEC A -EFER
M EREESRROBE - Tyt
I

FEER
AEBRDOZEF R M ERITR
H th {8 505 B 7 B 2= B & i T BR T % R
B2 o AREEWEFERITESER T AL
HA=mE R o

FETEZRERAT —T-—FF% 219
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix
of fixed and floating rate debts. At 31 December 2022 and
2021, 100% of the Group's interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings bore interest at fixed rates. The Group’s exposure
to interest rate risk is not significant.

Foreign currency risk

The Group's businesses are located in the PRC and all
transactions are conducted in RMB. Most of the Group’s assets
and liabilities are denominated in RMB. The Group has not
hedged its foreign exchange rate risk. At 31 December 2022
and 2021, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk is not
significant.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish
to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification
procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on
an ongoing basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not
significant. For transactions that are not denominated in the
functional currency of the relevant operating unit, the Group
does not offer credit terms without the specific approval of
the Head of Credit Control.
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REBZBR BT B RIFEFREE
BEMAREZNEREK RZZT—_—
ER-_TE-_—F+-fA=+—H K&
B 230 2 5t BIR1T R H At {8 SRIRE T F)
REH B o REEFAT ZFERRR LT
BKo

S R B

REBRPREEER  FIBERZHI
AREHEIT - REBABLEERAER
IAREEE - AEBWRE PHER
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FERR
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Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. €REMEEAERBK(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued) FERK(E)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging EERBRRFRERDE

The tables below shows the credit quality and the maximum TREINTZA=+—8  EXLXE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, EEERRMNEEEZRRERNESE
which is mainly based on past due information unless other BERB(ZEERBEINHER - BRIE
information is available without undue cost or effort, and EEMBAELEBTVERARENHA
period end staging classification as at 31 December. RER) RERPEE DS -

The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for 2N AsREENREAEBER
financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial CRIEREANEHERNEERR -

guarantee contracts.

At 31 December 2022 R-ZE-_—H+=-HA=+—H
12-month
ECL Lifetime ECL
128 AR
RERSE 2HEHNEEFE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E-Eg 15 E=RE L rE @t
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTT AR¥TR AR¥Tr ARETn AR¥Tn
Trade receivables (Note (i) B 5 g (RisE()) - - - 28,368 28,368
Financial assets included in STABAFIE - K EKTE
prepayments, other receivables and REMEENRREE
other assets
- Normal (Note (ii) — IE (FisE(i) 53,000 - - - 53,000
- Doubtful (Note (ii) —TERE (M=) - 20,786 105,587 - 126,373
Restricted deposits RREER
- Not yet past due Nk 522 - - - 522
Cash and cash equivalents B RALEED
- Not yet past due — K 7,434 - - - 7,434
60,956 20,786 105,587 28,368 215,697

FHATEZERERAT T FFER 221
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)
At 31 December 2021

36. TRMEMREEEERBE(E)

FERk (&)
BERBEERKERSE(E)
R-E-_—F+-A=+—8H

12-month
ECL Lifetime ECL
1208 A B
REER 2HRMEERE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
FRe& FRE F=RE BlLrt Bt
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT  ARETT ARETr ARETT ARET:
Trade receivables (Note (i) B SR IE (R3E() - - - 57,790 57,790
Financial assets included in STABAFIE - Hit KR
prepayments, other receivables and REHEENSHEE
other assets
- Normal (Note (ii)) A 70,439 = = - 70,439
- Doubtful (Note (ii) — TR (M=) - 31,460 113,336 - 144,796
Restricted deposits RREER
- Not yet past due — K 326 - - - 326
Cash and cash equivalents B RALEEN
- Not yet past due vl 20,219 - - - 20,219
90,984 31,460 113,336 57,790 293,570
Notes: MiaE -
(i) For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified i HMAKEEERGCHEERENE S

approach for impairment, information based on the provision
matrix is disclosed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial
statements.

(i) The credit quality of the financial assets included in
prepayments, other receivables and other assets is considered
to be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets had a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise,
the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be
"doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure
to credit risk arising from trade receivables and the financial
assets included in prepayments, other receivables and other
assets are disclosed in notes 19 and 20 to the consolidated
financial statements respectively.
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Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. €REMEEAERBK(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of the
financial assets included in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets are as follows:

EERR(E)

= ERERFERE RS E(E)
FEATRN IR - B EUEFIA R EME
ENSREERERBEEEZSHNT

12-month
ECL Lifetime ECL
1218 A &
FEEE 2HEHEEEFER
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
E—& -~ E=& st
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AREBTRT ARETIT AR®TT
At 1 January 2021 RZE—_—%F
—H—H 1,101 2,115 157,277 160,493
De-consolidation of a BUHESRE ABR—ME
subsidiary oy PN (611) (1,724) (49,372) (51,707)
(Decrease) Increase in R Rt ) 1 A0
allowance, net HRE (147) 747 1,398 1,998
At 31 December 2021and R-_ZT——
1 January 2022 +-A=+—8
P G ——
—A—H 343 1,138 109,303 110,784
Increase (Decrease) in B mORL)
allowance, net FER 3,725 19,648 (3,716) 19,657
At 31 December 2022 R-E-—F
+=—A=+—H 4,068 20,786 105,587 130,441

The significant decrease in allowance for impairment for the
year ended 31 December 2021 is due to decrease in balance
of the financial assets (before net of loss allowance for
impairment) as a result de-consolidation of a subsidiary.

The significant increase in allowance for impairment for the
year ended 31 December 2022 is due to the prolonged weak
investment sentiments in the commercial property market in
the PRC, which adversely affect relationship with the Group’s
business partner and suppliers.

HE_ZT-_—F+-_A=+—HLFE
WABERNERL TDHREUESRE AR
—EHB AR ER DA E S (kK
RABES IR BB AT ) Bl BTER

BE-_ZTZ-_—F#+-_R=+—BILEE
BAEREBERBENDEPREEDED
BHREBEREER  HASEHEH
XBBHERBEENBERERDF
2B,
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ARE B IRAR I EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

36.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial assets
(e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows from
operations.

The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-
bearing bank and other borrowings. Cash flows are being
closely monitored on an ongoing basis.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, was as follows:

At 31 December 2022

36.

TREAREEAERBE(E)

RBESER

AEERAAPERBESH A TA
BHASRBRZAR - WTAEERS
MIARSEAE(WEHEUHE) Z
FHANRREEE RS R ZEA -

AEENBERABBEREBRITRE
MEREFESBEERBE L ZMH

T ReREFBEX DT -

RBERR  AEEER G HRBBAN
RSB EIRERWT

R=B==%t=A=t+—H

On d 0 . ota
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Trade payables B SN RIE - 340,017 340,017
Other payables and accruals HmEsE R ERTE A 1,284,173 39,000 1,323,173
Interest-bearing bank and other FTERITREMIERK
borrowings 1,279,755 - 1,279,755
Convertible bonds AR E ZF 268,848 - 268,848
2,832,776 379,017 3,211,793
At 31 December 2021 RZEZ—F+HA=+—H
Within
On demand 1 year Total
REX 1F R 5T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTT ARBTT AREFTIT
Trade payables B S 3RIE - 322,213 322,213
Other payables and accruals HEmEA B R ERTE A 1,016,050 49,000 1,065,050
Interest-bearing bank and other FHEERITREMIEK
borrowings 1,561,250 223,408 1,784,658
Convertible bonds ARRES 244,512 18,490 263,002
2,821,812 613,111 3,434,923
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Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

36. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 36. €REMEEAERBK(E)
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Capital management EXREHE

The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is AEEEXREENFTEBERARRESL
to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and a healthy BROEATERBRENER L ERAL
capital ratio in order to support its business and maximise BEXBRERREBERAL

shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes AEBERHEERNERWRELE MR
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions. MEBHEIELFARE - BEFIFAEE
To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may ARBEFE - AEE T #HE R ER AR
adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital B AREREERRBEITIR - HE
to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made TR N TE—F+-_/A=1+—
in the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital HIEFE UEHNEEEANEEZE K
during the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021. RHIRFIEL A o

FRRAERARAT —B--FEH 225
FR P



—\g;-—_________

———

\ —
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV BEmRMET
Year ended 31 December 2022 E=—FE-—F+-_A=+—HIFE
37. SUBSIDIARIES 37. B 2F
Details of the subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period R EHARMTB R RMEEBOT ¢
are as follows:
Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
registration and registered share to the Company
business capital RRAREERAS L
Narme of subsidiary HMEY/ CRALER/ Directly Indirectly ~Principal activities
HEAREH HMREESY MR Ei % IEEH
Xinming Capital Limited The British Virgin Islands - US$50,000 100% - Investment holding
(the "BVI") (2021: 100%)
Xinming Capital Limited RERAEE 50,000% T 100% - REZR
((ZBRaEE]) (ZZZ—%:100%)
Xinming China Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
(2021: 100%)
MRRERERRAA 5 1,000,007 - 00% REEKR
(ZZ=—%:100%)
MBI EEERAER A The PRC RMB30,000,000 = 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Times Enterprise (2021:100%)
Management Consulting Limited)
MNEALSEREAFRAR el ARH30,000,0007 - 00% REER
(ZZ=—F 1 100%)
FREERRERAR (Xinming Group  The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Investment holding
Holding Limited) (2021:100%)
HREEERARAR i AR 50,000,007 - 00% REER
(ZZ=—%:100%)
BNTHRRNERRERAT The PRC RMB10,000,000 = 100%  Property development
(Taizhou City Xinming Real Estate (2021:100%)
Development Company Limited)
aMmHREREREERAR # AR10,000,0007 - 100% MERE
(ZF=—%:100%)
Taizhou Xinming The PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2021:100%) property investment
AMEHA el AR30,000,0007 - 100% WERERMFRE
(ZFZ—%:100%)
Wenshang Times The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
(2021: 100%) property investment
BEER i AR 50,000,007 = 100% WERERDERE

(225 :100%)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMmRHE

37. SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 December 2022 &% —

37. B AR (&)

= —

=

F+-A=+—HILFE

Place of Percentage of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ equity attributable
registration and registered share to the Company
business capital NG S S
Name of subsidiary AR/ BRILER/ Directly Indirectly  Principal activities
WEARER HRREELE ERBRE E# Mg FEEE
Shanghai Xinming The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 79%  Property development and
(2021: 79%) property investment
LEE% # AR 50,000,007 - 1%  NERERMERE
(ZE=—%:79%)
Shandong Xingmeng The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 75%  Property development and
(2021:75%)  property management
e Gl AR #50,000,0007 - 5%  NERERMERE
(ZB=-5:75%)
Hangzhou Xinming The PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Property development and
2021:100%)  property management
100%
MR el AR 50,000,007 - (ZEZ-F:100%) MERERDERE
FMZEEEEBAA (formerly known  The PRC RMB100,000,000 - 100%  Industrial investment
as BN B2 % AR A7) (Hangzhou 2021 100%)
Zhiyao Commercial Limited)
MBS REEERAA HE AR#100,000,0007 = 0% EXR
(R%: BMNERAXERAT) (ZFZ—% 1 100%)
MIBMREEERRAE (Zhejiang  The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 79%  Investment management
Jinhang Investment Management (2021: 79%)
Limited)
ISR EAERARAR f AR 5,000,007 - 7% RAEE

(ZBZ—5:79%)

PEGE - PR BRI A B A B Ty IR IR BDA
REMASBERAR -

Note: The subsidiaries established in the PRC are registered as limited
liability companies under PRC law.

ERINHEBEERRTEFEFERAR
BRAEBARY FEENKRAMNE
NAE - BERL  RHECHBARN
HERERFBEBNITER °

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

BLEM B A RN R E AL REHRE
BEAARER 2 EBES

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
during the reporting period or at the end of the reporting
period.

e
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Year ended 31 December 2022 &,

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

S

FET—HEt—RLEE

38. QT BB AR R 3R

| 2021
: : —EB—F
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 R 8 AREFIT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R B AR MIRE - =
Current assets RBEE
Due from subsidiaries JiE U BT 8 R B) FRTE - 490,451
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEEEY - 1
- 490,452
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables H e 5118 341,532 -
Due to subsidiaries FEAHBT B R B R TE - 223,940
Convertible bonds AR E S 268,848 244,512
610,380 468,452
Net current assets REEEFEE 610,380 22,000
Total assets less current BWEERRBERS
liabilities (610,380) 22,000
NET (LIABILITIES) ASSETS EE(BR)BE (610,380) 22,000
Capital and reserves BEEXRHE
Issued capital BEITRA 14,880 14,880
Reserves s 38(a) (625,260) 7,120
TOTAL EQUITY (B4 BHREE
(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS (610,380) 22,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

38(a) Movement of the reserves

A I IRER M EE

38. A AWM= (F)

38) REBEEH
(Accumulated
losses)
Share Retained Total
premium earnings reserves
(R5HE#E)
[ gvipns = REZF CRECEC
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARETT AR®TT

At 1 January 2021
Profit and total other

R-ZE-_—F—H—H
FREF R E M2 E RS

496,155 6,056 502,211

comprehensive income for R
the year - (495,091) (495,091)
At 31 December 2021 and R_T——%
1 January 2022 +ZA=+—HK
—E--F—H—H 496,155 (489,035) 7,120
Loss and total other FHNEBBERAMEEEIR
comprehensive loss for the 4azE
year - (632,380) (632,380)
At 31 December 2022 N-EBE_-—F
+=—A=+—8 496,155  (1,121,415) (625,260)

39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
Details of the Group's subsidiaries that have material

noncontrolling interests are set out below:

39. BEEARFERERAVID B

BB A
REEEREAIERERNOHEAA
FERIMT

| 2021
d :;ﬁ:_

Percentage of equity interest held  JE3% IR B 5 T i IR A

by non-controlling interests: AL :
Shandong Xingmeng 1Ly B8 R AR 25% 25%
Shanghai Xinming 5% 21% 21%
EEFAEEROHERAA EEFMABERNHER AT

(Chongging Xinming Property (TEEFHHA])

Company Limited*) (“Chongging (= mHIEE29FT i 2

Xinming") (up to the date of de- BUE4RA ABRAE)

consolidation as set out in Note 29) N/ATRE A 5%

* English name is for identification purpose only.

FHATERZERERAT —T-_FFH 229
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e BHmRME
Year ended 31 December 2022 E=—FE-—F+-_A=+—HIFE
39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 39. BEBAFEZERBEmNVIDHE
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BB AR (&)
(CONTINUED)
| 2021
—E-—4F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A ARBT T
(Loss) Profit for the year allocated 2 EFIFZEREZNER
to non-controlling interests: (B518) %R
Shandong Xingmeng LR E R (74,982) (3,158)
Shanghai Xinming g (120,062) 31,959
Chongging Xinming BEHHA N/ATiE A 4,030
| 2021
- ] —E—F
RMB’000 RMB'000
R A AR®ET T
Accumulated balances of FEREZINEEAHN
non-controlling interests at R
the reporting date:
Shandong Xingmeng LR E R (81,096) (6,113)
Shanghai Xinming g (88,103) 31,959
Chongging Xinming BEHHA N/ATiE =
The following tables illustrate the summarised financial TRBM EMREE AR ZHSE S
information of the above subsidiaries. The amounts disclosed ZoMERSEHATMAFMEHEA
are before any inter-company eliminations: 2B
2022 —E-—F
00
e £l 5 =
RMB’000 RMB’000
Revenue and income Yo zk KA - -
Total expenses gt (299,931) (571,726)
Loss for the year and total FRBERFAZARIBAEE
comprehensive loss for the year (299,931) (571,726)
Current assets MENE 962,526 357,586
Non-current assets EMEBEE 54 462,458
Current liabilities mENBE (941,059) (940,854)
Non-current liabilities EmeaE (39,446) (7,524)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBMmRHE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 39. BEEAFER BT
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS EHB AR (&)
(CONTINUED)

2021 —E-—F
Shandong Shanghai Chongqing
Xingmeng Xinming Xinming
1Ly 5 RS EEFHA EEFH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETFRT ARETFT
Revenue and income & PN 689 238,445 100,840
Total expenses Fi 4258 (13,321) (86,260) (82,280)
Loss for the year and total FREBBERFAZAEEIE
comprehensive loss for the year BEE (12,632) 152,185 18,560
Current assets MBNVEE 1,069,736 326,043 1,249,068
Non-current assets EMBEE 17,531 1,157,729 244,681
Current liabilities mEaE (1,011,675) (1,167,789  (1,420,379)
Non-current liabilities EREEE (100,044) (163,798) =
Net cash flows from (used in) L EBFTE(FTA)
operating activities RemEFE 58,925 (10,104) (297)
Net cash flows used in (from) "EEBFAAE)
investing activities REemEFHE 1,028 (8) 130
Net cash flows used in financing BEEBFAReREFE
activities (51,000) 9,183 -
Net increase (decrease) in cash He MR EEYIEN
and cash equivalents CRLD ) F8R 8,953 (929) (167)
FRTEERARAT
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e RIMEE
Year ended 31 December 2022 & Z - - —F+ - A=+—HILFE
39. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 39. %ﬁij@wﬂﬂﬁgéﬁ’ﬂﬁﬁ’ﬁ%
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS BB AT (&)

(CONTINUED)

Details of net loss on de-consolidation of a subsidiary are BUEG A AR—EWEB AR EEFE

232  XINMING CHINA HOLDINGS LIMITED  Annual Report 2022
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summarised as follows: ZEBBmaT
RMB’000
AREEF T
Property, plant and equipment VI - BRE KRS 171
Investment properties AW 306,000
Properties under development FEE Y 659,674
Completed properties held for sale BIEHEMD R T 271,474
Trade receivables B 5 e GRIA 312
Prepayments, other receivables and other TEFIA - HEWRIEREMmEE
assets 80,790
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBREEEY 413
Trade payables g S FRIE (53,603)
Other payables and accruals HE I RE R ETER (626,006)
Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 83817 R E &5 (315,000)
Tax payable FEIEETE (25,999)
Contract liabilities AHAaE (23,820)
Deferred tax liabilities BELERIAEE (69,910)
Net assets at date of de-consolidation REUHZRAE AR BHNEEFE 204,496
Non-controlling interests IR (10,225)
194,271
Amount due from Chongging Xinming FEW E B TR R IE 536,239
Amount due to Chongging Xinming FEEE A KRIA (90,454)
Net loss on de-consolidation of BUEGEANREEHANEEFEE
Chongqing Xinming 640,056
Net cash outflow arising from EEUBtR A ABREENPMmMESE
de-consolidation of Chongging Xinming REemLFE (413)




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A I IRER M EE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by
Mr. Lai Kar Yan (Derek) and Mr. Ho Kwok Leung Glen
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu whom were appointed
by Chance Talent Management Limited as joint and
several receivers over the Placing Shares and the Sale
Shares (“the Receivers”) that on 8 January 2025 (after
trading hours), the Xinxing Company Limited (acting by
the Receivers as its attorney without personal liability
pursuant to the powers granted under the Share
Charge), the Receivers and Innovax Securities Limited
("Placing Agent”) entered into the Placing Agreement,
pursuant to which the Placing Agent place an aggregate
of 752,137,800 Placing Shares held by the Vendor
(representing approximately 40.04% of the entire issued
share capital of the Company as of 8 January 2025) to the
Placees at the Placing Price.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the
Receivers that on 13 January 2025, the Placing Agent
successfully placed all the 752,137,800 Placing Shares
at the Placing Price of HK$0.011 per Placing Share to
the respective Placees. The 752,137,800 Placing Shares
placed under the Placing represents approximately
40.04% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
as at 16 January 2025.

Details of the placing of existing shares by controlling
shareholder were set out in the Company’'s
announcements dated 16 January 2025 and 21 January
2025.

40. EL

(@)

H®ER
RZZEZAF—A+XB XA
AIEEH B EMR A ETRIIT 2 B
RREAERMBERLEESH KBS
£ 7 Chance Talent Management
LimtedZERESERH RIEE
BOBMERRENEEA(ZE

A RZZE-AF—ANB(R
5 B B 1% ) » Xinxing Company
Limited (B B ABRIERR (5 2 1%

FTrRENMEEESEAITTEME
BAEBAAET)  BEEARAR
FHEARAR([BEERE]) AT
e it > BBERBIEE
EEMARAREEFFAEHL
752,137,8000X FL & I 10 (M E R A
AREE-_T-_AF—ANBZE
BB B 1TRRA#140.04%) °

%:g:ﬁi—ﬂ+ﬁﬁ $
RIEEEAEN R aF
—B+=8" @BEREE&HB%
EEREERM0.01E TR
M & & Al A B & 2 30752,137,800
PREERD - BEETHEE 2
752,137,800 i% Bid & A% {9 #9146 AN~
AR -_ZE-_RE—A+NHZEZ
B3I TARANEY40.04% ©

ERERERRESHRERN 2+
B @RARRAHP/A-FT A
F-AtRAR-Z_A%—A
“t+—BZRER-

HAFEZERARAR
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Year ended 31 December 2022 B2 —Z——F+-A=+—HIFE

40. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(CONTINUED)

(b)

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by the
Receivers that on 8 January 2025 (after trading hours),
the Vendor (acting by the Receivers as its attorney
without personal liability pursuant to the powers granted
under the Share Charge), the Receivers and the Share
Purchaser entered into the Share Sale Agreement
pursuant to which, the Vendor (acting by the Receivers
as its attorney without personal liability pursuant to
the powers granted under the Share Charge) agreed
to sell and the Share Purchaser agreed to purchase
an aggregate of 187,862,200 Sale Shares (representing
10.00% of the entire issued share capital of the Company
as of 8 January 2025) at the total consideration of
HK$1,983,700.

The Company was further informed by the Receivers that
completion of the Share Sale took place on 16 January
2025.

After the Share Sale, the Share Purchaser, Motivational
Mathematics, held an aggregate of 187,862,200 Shares,
representing 10.00% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company and has become a substantial
shareholder of the Company.

On 16 January 2025, the Company was informed by
Chance Talent that on 15 January 2025, Advance Day and
Chance Talent (“CB Sellers”) transferred the convertible
bonds, free from all encumbrances, together with all
rights and entitlements attaching to them, to the CB
Purchaser, Motivational Mathematics Limited, at the total
consideration of HK$31.5 million. After the Share Sale and
the CB Sale and as at the date of this report, Motivational
Mathematics Limited held an aggregate of 187,862,200
Shares, representing 10.00% of the existing issued share
capital of the Company and upon full exercise of the
conversion rights attaching to the convertible bonds,
Motivational Mathematics Limited will be interested in
403,689,538 Shares, representing approximately 19.27%
of the enlarged issued share capital of the Company.
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The five-year financial summary is as follows:
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

hFMBHE

Year ended 31 December 2022 HE=—ZFE—_—F+_-_A=+—HIFE

TEMBHMEMOT

For the year ended 31 December

BET-A=t-HLEE

| 2021 2020 2019 2018
4 —E-—F —E-%F —T-NF —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R ARETT AREFT ARETFT AR®TFT
(Restated)
(BE5)
CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREER
REVENUE g 35,198 101,833 128,537 163,349 624,711
Cost of sales SEERK (15,187) (24,214) (66,977) (110,357) (344,117)
Gross profit EH 20,011 77,619 61,560 52,992 280,654
Other income and gains Hip A R (22,738) 279,894 3,435 1,076 3,187
Selling and distribution costs & R R A (13,206) (19,592) (18,533) (6,457) (44,023)
Administrative expenses SGE (55,634) (41,476) (48,134) (63,811) (87.,372)
Other expenses HiFx (599,391) (421,367) (1,051,238) (186,823) (45,428)
Net loss on de-consolidation  EUH4RA ABR—FINE
of a subsidiary ARMBERFE - (640,056) = = =
Loss on court-ordered sale of AR S HERHELE
completed property held HERTIWMESE
for sale (280,788) - - - -
Loss on court-ordered sale of AR S HERENE
investment properties #EE (686,597) - = = =
Changes in fair value of RENEABEESY
investment properties (1,082,900) (2,000) (22,900) 146,823 67,785
Changes in fair value of EREHFANER
convertible bonds 25 (24,336) 8,092 20,363 11,946 (39,897)
Finance costs BAKA (84,044) (83,053) (973) (2,594) (6,856)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE BRETER A ()
INCOME TAX B (2,829,623) (841,939) (1,056,420) (46,848) 128,050
Income tax credit/(expenses)  Fii5EER,/(F%) 440,019 10,833 (59,484) (65,670) (106,596)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR &R (E1#8) /%5 (2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904) (112,518) 21,454
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hEHBHE

For the year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t-HLEE

| 2021 2020 2019 2018
B a3 —TCEE a3 —T-N\F
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARETT
(Restated)
(& E51)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2mE(&8)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income  RERESRE AL EHR
that will not to be reclassified 2 EZEBEMEA
to profit or loss in subsequent 2K :
periods:
Equity investments designated 38R ARLEERA
at fair value through other Hitt2EdaE 2 s
comprehensive income: RE -
Changes in fair value ARBEZSY - - - - (1,245)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE Hit2EEE (MRHE)
LOSS, NET OF TAX - - - - (1,245)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE 2E(E8)RELEHE
(LOSS) INCOME (2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904) (112,518) 20,209
ATTRIBUTABLE TO: T AL :
Owners of the parent company  &AGIHB A (2,194,558) (863,935) (1,000,756) (116,976) 41,666
Non-controlling interests RS (195,046) 32,829 (115,148) 4,458 (21,457)
(2,389,604) (831,106) (1,115,904) (112,518) 20,219
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERERE
Non-current assets FEREEE 1,139,066 3,064,833 3,386,208 3,422,084 3,227,497
Current assets mEBEE 1,487,760 2,158,841 3,036,023 3,321,400 3,609,062
Current liabilities R 4,830,364 4,722,485 4,977,168 4,234,015 3,296,009
Non-current liabilities FREEE 163,347 478,470 581,013 529,515 1,448,043
Non-controlling interests R (192,845) 2,201 (20,403) 94,745 90,287
Total equity gt k] (2,366,885) 22,719 864,050 1,979,954 2,092,507
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